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Under the Guaranteed Euro Medium Term Note Programme described in this Prospectus (the “Programme”), Tele2 AB (publ) (the “Issuer”), subject to compliance with all relevant 

laws, regulations and directives, may from time to time issue Guaranteed Euro Medium Term Notes guaranteed by Tele2 Sverige AB (the “Guarantee” and the “Guarantor”, 

respectively) (the “Notes”). The Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due payment of all sums expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the Notes and the 

Coupons relating to them as further described in “Terms and Conditions – Guarantee and Status”. The aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding will not at any time exceed 

€5,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). 

Application has been made to the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the “CSSF”) in its capacity as competent authority under the Luxembourg Act dated 10 July 

2005 relating to prospectuses for securities (the “Luxembourg Act”), for the approval of this Prospectus as a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5.4 of Directive 2003/71/EC, 

as amended, including by Directive 2010/73/EU (the “Prospectus Directive”). Pursuant to Article 7(7) of the Luxembourg Act, by approving this Prospectus the CSSF assumes no 

responsibility as to the economic and financial soundness of the Notes to be issued hereunder or the quality or solvency of the Issuer. Application has also been made to the Luxembourg 

Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the “Official List”) and to be admitted to trading on the 

Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market. References in this Prospectus to Notes being “listed” (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes have been admitted to 

the Official List and admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market. The Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market is a regulated market for the 

purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID II”) of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments. However, unlisted Notes may be 

issued pursuant to the Programme. The relevant Final Terms in respect of the issue of any Notes will specify whether or not such Notes will be listed on the Official List and admitted 

to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market (or any other stock exchange). 

The Notes may be issued in bearer form or in registered form. Each Series (as defined in “General Description of the Programme – Method of Issue”) of Notes in bearer form will be 

represented on issue by a temporary global note in bearer form (each a “temporary Global Note”) or a permanent global note in bearer form (each a “permanent Global Note”). If 

the Global Notes are stated in the applicable Final Terms to be issued in new global note (“NGN”) form, the Global Notes will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of 

the relevant Tranche to a common safekeeper (the “Common Safekeeper”) for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking, S.A. (“Clearstream, 

Luxembourg”). Notes in registered form will be represented by registered certificates (each a “Certificate”), one Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder’s entire 

holding of Registered Notes of one Series. Registered Notes issued in global form will be represented by registered global certificates (“Global Certificates”). If a Global Certificate 

is held under the New Safekeeping Structure (the “NSS”) the Global Certificate will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the relevant Tranche to a Common Safekeeper 

for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.  

Global Notes which are not issued in NGN form (“Classic Global Notes” or “CGNs”) and Global Certificates which are not held under the NSS will be deposited on the issue date 

of the relevant Tranche with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (the “Common Depositary”). 

The provisions governing the exchange of interests in Global Notes for other Global Notes and definitive Notes are described in “Overview of Provisions Relating to the Notes while 

in Global Form”. 

Tranches of Notes (as defined in “General Description of the Programme – Method of Issue”) to be issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes 

issued under the Programme is to be rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the relevant rating assigned to the Notes already issued. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, 

the applicable rating(s) will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. Whether or not a rating in relation to any Tranche of Notes will be treated as having been issued by a credit rating 

agency established in the European Union and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 on credit rating agencies (the “CRA Regulation”) will be disclosed in the relevant 

Final Terms. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating 

agency. Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section headed “Risk Factors” in this Prospectus. 
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This Prospectus comprises a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5.4 of Directive 2003/71/EC, as 

amended, to the extent that such amendments have been implemented in the Relevant Member State (as defined 

herein) of the European Economic Area (the “Prospectus Directive”) and for the purpose of giving information 

with regard to the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Issuer and its subsidiaries and affiliates taken as a whole (the 

“Group”) and the Notes which, according to the particular nature of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Notes, 

is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, 

profit and losses and prospects of the Issuer and the Guarantor and the rights attaching to the Notes.  

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor accept responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. To 

the best of the knowledge of each of the Issuer and the Guarantor (having taken all reasonable care to ensure 

that such is the case) the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not 

omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.  

This Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that any offer of Notes in any Member State of the European 

Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”) will be 

made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, 

from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly any person making or intending 

to make an offer in that Relevant Member State of Notes which are the subject of an offering contemplated in 

this Prospectus as completed by final terms in relation to the offer of those Notes may only do so in 

circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any Dealer (as 

defined in “General Description of the Programme”) to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the 

Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each 

case, in relation to such offer. This Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are 

incorporated herein by reference (see “Documents Incorporated by Reference”).  

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those 

contained in this Prospectus in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such 

information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, the 

Guarantor or any of the Dealers or the Arranger (as defined in “General Description of the Programme”). 

Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any 

circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer or the 

Guarantor since the date hereof or the date upon which this Prospectus has been most recently amended 

or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer or the 

Guarantor since the date hereof or the date upon which this Prospectus has been most recently amended 

or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as 

of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the 

document containing the same. 

In the case of any Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market within the European 

Economic Area or offered to the public in a Member State of the European Economic Area in 

circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive, the 

minimum specified denomination shall be €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date 

of issue of the Notes). 

The distribution of this Prospectus and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be 

restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes are required by the Issuer, the 

Guarantor, the Dealers and the Arranger to inform themselves about and to observe any such restriction. 

The Notes and the Guarantee have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities 

Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) and include Notes in bearer form that are subject to U.S. tax law 

requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United 
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States or to U.S. persons. For a description of certain restrictions on offers and sales of Notes and on 

distribution of this Prospectus, see “Subscription and Sale”. 

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the 

Guarantor, the Dealers or the Arranger to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes. 

Amounts payable under the Notes may be calculated by reference to the Euro Interbank Offered Rate 

(EURIBOR), the Stockholm Interbank Offered Rate (STIBOR) or the Norwegian Interbank Offered 

Rate (NIBOR) which are provided by the European Money Markets Institute (EMMI), the Swedish 

Bankers’ Association and the Norske Finansielle Referanser AS (NoRe) respectively. As at the date of this 

Prospectus, none of the above benchmark providers appear on the register of administrators and 

benchmarks established and maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) 

pursuant to Article 36 of the Benchmark Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011) (the BMR).  

As far as the Issuer is aware, the transitional provisions in Article 51 of the BMR apply such that the 

above benchmark providers are not currently required to obtain authorisation or registration. 

Amounts payable under the Notes may be calculated by reference to the London Interbank Offered Rate 

(LIBOR), which is provided by the ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (ICE). As at the date of this 

Prospectus, ICE appears on the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained 

by the European Securities and Markets Authority (“ESMA”) pursuant to article 36 of the Benchmark 

Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011) (the “BMR”). 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Dealers or the Arranger accepts any responsibility for 

the contents of this Prospectus or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the Arranger 

or a Dealer or on its behalf in connection with the Issuer, the Guarantor, or the issue and offering of the 

Notes. Each Arranger and Dealer accordingly disclaims all and any liability whether arising in tort or 

contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which it might otherwise have in respect of this 

Prospectus or any such statement. Neither this Prospectus nor any other financial statements are 

intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a 

recommendation by any of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient of 

this Prospectus or any other financial statements should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of 

Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Prospectus and its 

purchase of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Dealers or 

the Arranger undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer or the Guarantor during 

the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Prospectus nor to advise any investor or potential 

investor in the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Dealers or the Arranger. 

MIFID II product governance / target market – The Final Terms in respect of any Notes and any 

drawdown prospectus may include a legend entitled “MiFID II Product Governance” which will outline 

the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are 

appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a “distributor”) 

should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II 

is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either 

adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.  

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID 

Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the “MiFID Product Governance 

Rules”), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise 

neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the 

purpose of the MIFID Product Governance Rules. 

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes 

includes a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors", the Notes are not intended to 
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be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made 

available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). For these purposes, a retail 

investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) 

of MiFID II; (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC (as amended, the "Insurance 

Mediation Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point 

(10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Directive 2003/71/EC (as 

amended, the "Prospectus Directive"). Consequently, no key information document required by 

Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes 

or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore 

offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be 

unlawful under the PRIIPS Regulation. 

The selected financial data set forth in this Base Prospectus includes, in addition to the conventional 

financial performance measures established by the International Accounting Standards Board ( “IFRS”), 

certain alternative performance measures (such as Adjusted EBIDTA and Adjusted EBITDA margin) 

that are presented for the purpose of providing further information as to the Group’s business, financial 

condition and results of operations. Such measures should, however, not be considered as a substitute for 

those required by IFRS. 

In connection with the issue of any Tranche (as defined in “General Description of the Programme – 

Method of Issue”), the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the stabilising manager(s) (the “Stabilising 

Manager(s)”) (or any person acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in the applicable Final 

Terms may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes 

at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily 

occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the 

terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end 

no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche and 60 days after the date 

of the allotment of the relevant Tranche. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted 

by the relevant Stabilising Manager(s) (or any person acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in 

accordance with all applicable laws and rules. 

In this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to “U.S. 

dollars”, “U.S.$” and “$” are to United States dollars, to “Sterling” and “£” are to pounds sterling, the 

lawful currency of the United Kingdom (the “UK”), to “euro” and “€” are to the currency introduced at 

the start of the third stage of European Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to the Treaty 

establishing the European Community, as amended, to “Swedish Kronor” and “SEK” are to the currency 

of the Kingdom of Sweden and to “Norwegian Kroner” are to the currency of the Kingdom of Norway. 
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RISK FACTORS  

 

The Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the following factors may affect their ability to fulfil their obligations 

under or in connection with the Notes issued under the Programme. All of these factors are contingencies which 

may or may not occur and neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor is in a position to express a view on the 

likelihood of any such contingency occurring. 

Factors which the Issuer and the Guarantor believe may be material for the purpose of assessing the market 

risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.  

The Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in 

investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the Issuer or the Guarantor may be unable to pay interest, 

principal or other amounts under or in connection with any Notes for other reasons. Prospective investors 

should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus (including any documents 

incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.  

Factors that may affect the Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s ability to fulfil their obligations under or in 

connection with Notes issued under the Programme  

The Group operates in a broad range of geographic product and service markets in the highly competitive and 

regulated telecommunications industry. As a result, the Group is subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties. 

For the purpose of discussing the factors that may affect the Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s ability to fulfil their 

obligations under or in connection with Notes issued under the Programme, the Issuer and the Guarantor have 

identified relevant risks as those which could have a material adverse effect on the achievement of the Group’s 

goals. Risks may be threats, uncertainties or lost opportunities relating to the Group’s current or future 

operations or activities. Set forth below is a description of certain of the factors that the Issuer and the Guarantor 

believe may affect the business, financial position and results of operations of the Group. 

Risks related to the industry and market conditions  

Risk of extended weak macroeconomic development  

Factors relating to general economic conditions, such as consumer spending, business investment, government 

spending, and the volatility and strength of both debt and equity markets and inflation, all affect the profitability 

of the Group’s business. In a sustained period of low growth and high public debt, characterised by higher 

unemployment, lower household income and lower corporate production, services could be adversely affected 

and could lead to customers switching to lower-cost alternatives offered by the Group’s competitors. The 

following may significantly impact the Group’s earnings and financial position: (i) a deterioration and continued 

volatility in the global economy, the equity and bonds markets, and the telecommunications sector; (ii) a 

deterioration in business and consumer confidence, employment trends, the liquidity of global financial 

markets, and the availability and cost of credit; and (iii) volatility in inflation and market interest rates. 

Depending on future developments, the changed geopolitical situation following the Crimea crisis, where 

Russia annexed the Crimean peninsula in 2014, could potentially also affect some of the Group’s operations, 

particularly in the countries bordering Russia, such as Kazakhstan and the Baltic countries. The exact nature of 

all the risks and uncertainties the Group faces as a result of the current global economic outlook cannot be 

predicted and many of these risks are beyond the Group’s control.  

The impact of these risks and conditions could be detrimental to the Group and could adversely affect its 

business, operations and profitability; its solvency and the solvency of its customers; the value and liquidity of 

its assets and liabilities; the value and liquidity of the Notes; and/or the ability of the Group to refinance its 

current financial obligations and meet its obligations under the Notes and/or its debt obligations more generally. 
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Risks related to spectrum auctions 

It is vital for the Group to win spectrum auctions (which is an auction system to obtain a time-limited right to 

use a specific frequency band) in order for the Group to conduct its business. A failure to obtain a spectrum 

licence, as well as the award of such licence to one of the Group’s competitors would increase the competition 

the Group faces in the provision of mobile services in the specific country where the spectrum auction took 

place, and may have significant consequences for the Group’s business and results of operations. It is possible 

that existing operators are prevented from acquiring licences in specific auctions due to spectrum caps. Granting 

of licences to, or amending or revoking of licences of, the Group or other parties, could adversely affect the 

Group’s business and results of operations.  

The preparations for a spectrum auction may be time consuming and extended. The timing and terms of 

spectrum auctions in different countries may vary and impact the number of participants and winning bidders. 

Also, a spectrum auction may result in burdensome conditions for the winning bidder. Examples of burdensome 

conditions are comprehensive coverage obligations, short time limits and excessive technical conditions. If any 

of these risks were to materialise, it could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial 

condition or results of operations. 

Competition and price pressure 

The Group is subject to substantial and historically increasing competition and price pressure. Competition 

from a variety of sources, including current market participants, new entrants and new products and services, 

may adversely affect the Group’s results of operations. Competition has led to an increased customer outflow 

and a decrease in customer growth rates as well as to decreases in the prices the Group charges for its products 

and services and may have similar effects in the future.  

Additionally, the Group operates in markets characterised by rapidly changing technology. This results in 

continuous price erosion and increased price competition for the Group’s products and services. If the Group’s 

response to this competitive environment, such as enhanced products and business models or cost reductions, 

is unsuccessful or does not occur in a timely manner, there could be an adverse impact on its business, operating 

results, financial condition and market share.  

The introduction of new business models in the telecommunications sector may lead to structural changes and 

different competitive dynamics within the industry. Failure to anticipate and respond to industry dynamics, and 

to ensure the operations of the Group meet both mature and developing demands in the marketplace, has the 

potential to impact the Group’s position in the market. This may adversely impact the Group’s business, 

financial condition and results of operations. 

Regulatory risk  

The Group operates in a highly regulated industry. The regulations the Group is subject to impose significant 

limits on its flexibility to manage its business. Changes in legislation, regulation or government policy affecting 

the Group’s business activities, as well as decisions by regulatory authorities or courts, including granting of 

licences to, or amending or revoking of licences of, the Group or other parties, could adversely affect the 

Group’s business and results of operations. It is also possible that new regulations could bar existing operators 

from acquiring these licences. Additionally, other changes in the regulatory environment concerning the use of 

mobile phones may lead to a reduction in the usage of mobile phones or otherwise adversely affect the Group.  

Access regulation, which ensures market competition by giving access to dominant incumbents’ copper and 

fibre networks, may be relaxed with the review of the European Telecoms Regulatory Framework, as a result 

of which the competitive pressure on the Group will increase. The industry is also expected to experience 

continued downward revenue pressure because of the roaming regulation, Regulation (EU) 2015/2120, “Roam 

Like At Home” (“RLAH”), meaning the removal of roaming surcharges within EU/the EEA, which entered 

into force on 15 June 2017. Access and price regulations have a significant impact on the Group’s business and 

operations. Additionally, various governments and regulators have taken an increased interest in regulating 
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cross-border data transfer, which could negatively impact the Group’s operations. Similarly, increased 

consumer and regulatory interest in privacy and data retention could negatively impact the Group’s business 

and operations.  

Moreover, in January 2018, the Swedish Post and Telecom Authority (Sw. Post- och telestyrelsen) submitted a 

proposal to the Swedish Government which, if implemented, would give said authority powers to impose fines 

for infringements of the Swedish Electronic Communications Act (Sw. lag om elektronisk kommunikation) 

amounting to 10 per cent. of the entity’s annual revenue. 

The regulatory framework in which the Group operates may change and could impair the Group’s ability to 

compete effectively in its existing or new markets, and may adversely affect its ability to operate its business.  

Emerging markets  

The Group has made significant investments in telecom operators in Kazakhstan. The Group’s exposure related 

to emerging markets may increase in the future. Weakening of the economies or currencies or other negative 

developments in these markets could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s results of operations.  

Historically the political, economic, legal and regulatory systems in these countries have been less predictable 

than in countries with more mature institutional structures. The future political situation in each of these 

emerging market countries may remain unpredictable and markets in which the Group operates may also 

become unstable. 

In countries with large and complicated governmental and administration structures, such as Kazakhstan, 

national, regional, local and other governmental bodies may issue inconsistent decisions relating to the same 

matter. As a result, in these emerging markets the Group is exposed to regulatory and legal uncertainty, which 

is likely to have negative impact on the Group’s business prospects as well as its regulatory compliance costs. 

The Group also enjoys less protection for certain of its legal rights in such jurisdictions. 

Other risks associated with operating in emerging market countries include foreign exchange restrictions, which 

could effectively prevent the Group from receiving dividends or selling its investments if they were introduced 

in countries where the Group has significant operations. Another risk is the potential establishment of foreign 

ownership restrictions or other potential actions against entities with foreign ownership, formally or informally.  

Actual or perceived health risks relating to mobile handsets or base stations 

Concerns have been expressed that the electromagnetic signals from mobile handsets and base stations, which 

serve as the platform for transmitting radio signals, may pose health risks and interfere with the operation of 

electronic equipment. These concerns may intensify as new technology and products are introduced. Actual or 

perceived risks of mobile handsets or base stations and related publicity or litigation could reduce the growth 

rate, customer base or average usage per customer of the Group’s mobile communications services, may result 

in significant restrictions on the location and operation of base stations and/or could subject the Group to claims 

for damages, any of which could have a negative impact on its business, financial position and results of 

operations. 

Network integrity and data security 

The Group manages significant network and data volumes and therefore aims to ensure network integrity and 

data security and to protect customers’ personal data. The Group will only allow interception of customer 

communication or otherwise provide personal data to authorities to the extent required by law or decisions from 

competent authorities or with the customer’s permission. To ensure privacy, the Group protects assets such as 

personnel, customers, information, IT infrastructure, internal and public networks as well as office buildings 

and technical facilities. The Group implements measures to prevent and detect the disclosure of sensitive 

information to unauthorised parties. External or internal factors, including human errors, may negatively impact 

security and have a material adverse effect on customers’ perception on how the Group handles these matters, 

which in turn may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business and results of operations. 
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The general data protection regulation (the “Data Protection Regulation”) came into force on 25 May 2018 

and applies throughout the European Union. The Data Protection Regulation contains stringent sanctions for 

failure to comply with the rules. Among other things, the relevant supervisory authority (in the case of the 

Issuer, the Swedish Data Inspection Board (Sw. Datainspektionen)) is given the right to impose administrative 

fines of up to EUR 20 million, or four per cent. of a group’s annual global turnover, if certain rules are breached. 

Any failure by the Group to comply with the Data Protection Regulation may subject it to litigation, civil or 

criminal penalties, and adverse publicity that could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s reputation, 

financial condition and results of operations. 

Risks related to the Group’s operations and strategic activities  

Structural subordination 

Most of the Issuer’s operations are conducted through its subsidiaries and to a large extent the Issuer depends 

on the earnings, cash flows, dividends and distributions of these subsidiaries to meet its debt obligations, 

including its obligations under the Notes. In addition, its subsidiaries’ assets constitute a significant part of its 

operating assets.  

The Group’s subsidiaries occasionally incur financial obligations. In addition, in the future, the Group may 

finance investments by incurring debt in an appropriate subsidiary.  

With the exception of the obligations of the Guarantor pursuant to the Guarantee, the Issuer’s subsidiaries have 

no obligation in respect of any amounts due under the Notes and neither the Issuer nor the Noteholders will 

have any direct or indirect claim against any of the Issuer’s subsidiaries (other than the Guarantor) other than 

by virtue of the Issuer’s shareholding in any such subsidiary. In the event of an insolvency or liquidation of 

such a subsidiary, creditors of any such subsidiary will have a claim to the assets of that subsidiary that ranks 

ahead of the Issuer’s interest in those assets.  

The Guarantee will be subject to certain limitations on enforcement and may be limited by applicable law or 

subject to certain defences that may limit its validity and enforceability. 

The Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due payment of all sums expressed to be 

payable by the Issuer under the Notes and the Coupons relating to them. However, the Deed of Guarantee will 

provide that the Guarantee will be limited if required by an application of the provisions of the Swedish 

Companies Act (Sw. aktiebolagslagen) regulating transfers of values (Sw. värdeöverföringar). The liability of 

the Guarantor in respect of such obligations will only apply to the extent permitted by the mentioned provisions 

of the Swedish Companies Act. Further, enforcement of the Guarantee would be subject to certain generally 

available defences. These laws and defences include those that relate to corporate benefit, fraudulent 

conveyance or transfer, voidable preference, financial assistance, corporate purpose, capital maintenance or 

similar laws, regulations or defences affecting the rights of creditors generally. For a brief description of 

Swedish laws on certain of these provisions, see ‘‘Terms and Conditions – Guarantee and Status’’. 

Impairment losses and restructuring charges  

Factors generally affecting the telecom markets, and changes in the economic, regulatory, business or political 

environment, as well as the Group’s on-going review and refinement of its business plans, could adversely 

affect its financial position and results of operations. The Group could be required to recognise impairment 

losses with respect to assets if expectations of the management of the Issuer (the “Management”) of future 

cash flows attributable to these assets change, including but not limited to goodwill, fair value adjustments and 

restructuring charges that the Group has recorded in connection with acquisitions that it has already made or 

may make in the future. 

Investments in networks, licences, new technology and start-up operations 

In recent years, the Group has made substantial investments in telecom networks and licences and also expects 

to invest substantial amounts over the coming years in the upgrading, maintaining and expansion of networks. 
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The Group also has had to and may in the future have to pay fees to acquire new licences or to renew or maintain 

its existing licences. The success of these investments will depend on a variety of factors some of which will 

be beyond the Group’s control, including the cost of acquiring, renewing or maintaining licences, the cost of 

new technology, availability of new and attractive services, the costs associated with providing these services, 

the timing of their introduction, the market demand and prices for such services, and competition. Any failure 

to realise in full the benefits expected by the Group from these investments may adversely affect the Group’s 

results of operations and financial position.  

Further, if the Group fails to develop, or obtain timely access to, new technologies or equipment, or if the Group 

fails to obtain the necessary licences or spectrum to provide services using these new technologies, the Group 

may lose customers and market share and become less profitable, which could have a material adverse effect 

on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Risks related to strategy implementation 

The Group’s markets are in different phases of maturity when it comes to mobile usage and demand for mobile 

services, and have cultural, economic and competitive differences. Successful implementation of strategic 

initiatives by the Issuer is, inter alia, dependent on the Group’s ability to foresee the development of, and meet 

customer needs in the markets where the Issuer operates, as well as transform the organisation and its processes 

(as needed). The Issuer may not be able to implement new or announced strategic initiatives and realise benefits 

of strategic initiatives already carried out, such as the existing Challenger programme which is a Group-wide 

programme focused on increasing productivity. Should the Issuer be unable to execute its business strategy it 

could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and result of operations. 

Acquisitions, divestments, strategic alliances and business combinations 

The Group is constantly reviewing its asset portfolio. In recent years, the Group has made a number of targeted 

acquisitions and divestments. The Group may also continue to expand and grow its business through business 

combinations, strategic alliances, etc. For example, in January 2018, the Issuer and Com Hem Holding AB 

(publ) (“Com Hem”), one of Sweden’s largest fixed communication operators, announced their intention to 

combine operations through a merger which will be undertaken by way of absorption with the Issuer as 

absorbing company and Com Hem as the transferring company (the “Merger”). 

The efficient integration of any acquisitions and the Merger, the realisation of related cost and revenue synergies 

and the positive development of the acquired or combined operations, are expected to enhance the Group’s 

results of operations both in the long and short term. If, however, the Group encounters unexpected difficulties 

in integrating or managing any acquired company, strategic alliance or business combination (including the 

Merger) there is a risk that Management’s attention will be diverted away from other on-going business 

concerns and also that the expected benefits will not be realised either in the expected timeframe or at all. If 

any of the risks related to integration and managing growth were to materialise, it could have an adverse effect 

on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Moreover, the execution of transactions associated with acquisitions and divestments exposes the Issuer to other 

risks such as the potential impairment of acquired intangible assets, including goodwill, as well as the incurrence 

of liabilities or other claims from acquired businesses. There is a risk that the Group may not successfully 

identify appropriate targets or consummate transactions on satisfactory terms. Further, there is a material risk 

in the telecom market that acquisitions, divestments or mergers, such as the the announced combination between 

Tele2 Netherlands and T-Mobile Netherlands, may not receive competition clearance from the relevant 

authorities. Moreover, the completion of any acquisition, divestment or merger, such as the Merger, may be 

hindered due to reasons other than a failure to obtain competition clearance from relevant authorities, entailing 

a risk that time devoted from Management and employees to matters related to a transaction (such as the 

Merger) could have been devoted to other opportunities beneficial for the Group and that certain costs relating 

to such transaction (such as the Merger) are payable whether such transaction is completed or not. In addition, 

any acquisition could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position. 
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Furthermore, past and future divestments of a business may expose the Group to risks, including risks pertaining 

to terms and conditions for the divestment of a business, such as warranties, indemnifications and undertakings 

in favour of the purchaser with respect to the business divested. If any of these risks related to past or future 

divestments were to materialise, it could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial 

condition and results of operations. 

Shareholder matters in relation to associated companies 

The Group conducts certain of its activities through associated companies in which the Group does not have a 

controlling interest. Such companies include Svenska UMTS-nät AB and Net4Mobility HB in the Nordic 

region. The Group may enter into further similar arrangements in the future. As a result of these activities being 

conducted through such associated companies, the Group has limited influence over the conduct of these 

businesses. In these jointly controlled ventures, there is a risk that the partners may disagree on important 

matters, including the funding of the venture. This risk may be greater where the parties are competitors. A 

disagreement or deadlock regarding the venture or a breach by one of the parties of the material provisions of 

the cooperation arrangements could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business. 

Under the documents which govern the ownership rights in relation to certain associated companies, the parties 

may have protected rights in relation to certain matters such as approval of business plans, budgets, dividends 

or other cash distributions, changes in the ownership structure and other shareholder-related matters. As a result, 

actions outside the Group’s control and adverse to its interests may affect the Group’s strategy and actions in 

relation to any of these associated companies. 

In Kazakhstan, the business activities of the Group are conducted through a joint venture in which the Group 

holds 51 per cent. of the voting rights and 49 per cent. of the economic interest. The Group holds a controlling 

interest in the joint venture as it has operational control over the joint venture and the majority of the voting 

rights of the board of directors and the management board. 

Despite the Group maintaining a controlling interest in the joint venture, the operating results of the joint venture 

could be adversely affected by any conflict between the partners, which could have an indirect negative impact 

on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Customer service and network quality 

In addition to its focus on cost efficiency in all its operations, the Group’s strategy is, inter alia, to focus on 

delivering high quality service to its customers and on the high quality of its networks. Management believes 

that the high quality of its networks and services is also fundamental to customers’ perception and the Group’s 

success going forward. Any failure to reach or maintain the relevant high standard could have a material adverse 

effect on the Group’s business and results of operations. 

Limited number of suppliers 

The Group is reliant upon a limited number of suppliers to manufacture and supply network equipment and 

related software, as well as handsets, to allow the Group to develop its networks and to offer its services on a 

commercial basis. The Group cannot be certain that it will be able to obtain network equipment or handsets 

from alternative suppliers on a timely basis if its existing suppliers are unable to satisfy the Group’s 

requirements. In addition, like its competitors, the Group currently outsources many of its key support services, 

including network construction and maintenance of most of its operations. The limited number of suppliers of 

these services, and the terms of the Group’s arrangements with current and future suppliers, could adversely 

affect the Group’s business, including by restricting its operational flexibility. 

Ability to recruit and retain skilled personnel 

To remain competitive and implement its strategy, and to adapt to changing technologies, the Group will need 

to recruit, retain and, where necessary, retrain highly skilled employees with the relevant expertise. In particular, 

competition is intense for qualified telecommunications and information technology personnel. To a large 
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extent, the Group’s ability to recruit and retain skilled personnel for growth business areas and new technologies 

will depend on its ability to offer them competitive remuneration packages. If the Group fails to recruit, retain 

or retrain necessary highly-skilled employees, its ability to develop its business in high growth and new areas 

or remain competitive in the traditional business areas may be limited. 

Insurable risk 

Operating telecommunications assets involves many risks and hazards including breakdown, failure or 

substandard performance of network and other equipment, improper installation or operation of network 

equipment, labour disturbances, environmental hazards, organised crime, industrial accidents and terrorist 

activities. The Group believes that it maintains the types and amounts of insurance customary in the industry 

and countries in which it operates. However, the Group’s insurance may not provide adequate coverage in 

certain circumstances and is subject to certain deductibles, exclusions, local insurance lack of capacity, no or 

inadequate local insurance-related estimated maximum loss reporting and limits on coverage. As a result, the 

Group may have to bear the full or partial amount of losses, damages and liabilities because of insufficient or 

deficient insurance coverage, which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 

financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group is involved in legal proceedings that may disrupt its operations and its reporting of financial 

results 

The Group and its affiliated companies are involved in a number of litigation and arbitration proceedings under 

industry-specific and general laws and regulations, including with customers, competitors and regulatory 

authorities. 

The Group has made determinations regarding accounting provisions for these proceedings based on the advice 

of the Group’s legal counsel; however, actual decisions of courts and arbitration tribunals may not match the 

Group’s expectations and could result in large damages awards and/or other remedies against the Group that 

affect the Group’s interests. Any future governmental, legal or other similar proceedings can be costly, divert 

management attention and may result in reputational damage for the Group. Any unsuccessful litigation or 

arbitration proceedings (whether based on a judgment or a settlement agreement) or adverse publicity may have 

a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, reputation, financial condition and results of operations. 

Financial risk management 

The Group is exposed to financial risks such as credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk and interest rate risk. 

Financial risk management is centralised to the group treasury function. 

The Group’s credit risk is mainly associated with accounts receivables, receivables related to sold equipment 

(handsets) and cash and cash equivalents. The Group regularly assesses its credit risk arising from accounts 

receivables and receivables related to sold equipment. As the Group’s customer base is highly diversified and 

includes individuals and companies, the exposure and associated overall credit risk is limited. The Group makes 

provisions for expected credit losses.  

The Group manages its liquidity risk by ensuring that it has access to sufficient liquidity reserves. Excess 

liquidity is invested on a short-term basis, or used for loan repayments. Liquidity reserves consist of available 

cash, undrawn committed revolving credit facilities and committed overdraft facilities. At the end of 2017, the 

Group had a credit facility with a syndicate of ten banks. The Group also issues debt in the domestic and 

international capital markets in the form of commercial paper and bonds. The Group uses a domestic Swedish 

Commercial Paper Programme and Bond Programmes to raise funds in various capital markets. 

Currency risk is the risk of changes in exchange rates having a negative impact on the Group’s performance 

and equity value. Currency exposure is associated with payment flows in foreign currency (transaction 

exposure) and the translation of foreign subsidiaries’ balance sheets and income statements to SEK (translation 

exposure). The Group does not generally hedge transaction exposure. When considered appropriate, the Group 
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hedges its translation exposure related to some investments in foreign operations by issuing debt or entering 

into derivative transactions in the currencies involved. 

Fluctuations in interest rates have a direct impact on the Group’s interest expense. The Group’s interest expense 

is also impacted by the size of the Group’s net debt and its currency composition. The Group manages its 

exposure to changes in interest rate through a mix of fixed rate debt and variable rate debt in its debt portfolio. 

In addition, various interest rate derivatives are used to adjust interest rate sensitivity. Management expects that 

the cash flows related to outstanding interest rate derivatives will affect the Issuer’s consolidated income 

statement during the remaining duration of the relevant interest rate swaps. 

The Group’s policy is that average interest duration of the debt portfolio should be between six months and 4.5 

years. 

Risks related to the Issuer´s past or current tax position being challenged or changed 

The Issuer operates through a number of subsidiaries in several countries. The Group’s tax position rests on its 

interpretations of the current tax laws, treaties and regulations in the countries where the Group operates and 

the requirements of the relevant tax authorities. The Issuer regularly obtains advice regarding these 

requirements from independent tax professionals. The Issuer and its subsidiaries are from time to time subject 

to tax reviews. There is a risk that tax audits or reviews may result in the reduction of tax loss carry forwards 

or the imposition of additional tax, in particular due to the Issuer’s acquisitions and sales of shares, financing, 

intra-group reorganisations, application of transfer pricing and the structure of the Group. In 2017, the 

Administrative Court in Stockholm rejected Tele2 Sweden AB’s claims for a deduction of interest expenses on 

intra-group loans related to the years 2013 and 2014 according to interest limitation rules introduced in 2013. 

The Group has appealed the Administrative Court’s rulings. The Swedish Tax Agency has also challenged 

deduction for interest expenses for 2015. The decision has been appealed to the Administrative Court in 

Stockholm. On 31 December 2017, the Group had furthermore a provision in relation to Russian tax disputes. 

Total provisions in relation to the tax disputes as of 31 December 2017 amounted to SEK 441 million.   

In the event that the Issuer’s interpretation of tax laws, treaties and regulations or their applicability is incorrect, 

or if one or more governmental authorities successfully make negative tax adjustments with regard to an entity 

of the Group, the Group’s past or current tax position may be challenged. In the event tax authorities were to 

succeed with such claims, this could result in an increased tax cost, including tax surcharges and interest which 

could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Risks related to changes in tax regimes that are expected and may increase the Group’s tax burden 

Laws, tax treaties and other regulations on taxation and other fiscal charges are subject to frequent changes. 

Any such changes could have a significant impact on the Group’s tax burden, possibly with a retroactive effect, 

as well as a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.  

On 14 June 2018, the Swedish parliament enacted new and additional interest deduction limitation rules. The 

law contains, inter alia, a general limitation of interest deductions in the corporate sector where the cap for a 

deduction of net interest expenses is calculated as 30 per cent. of tax EBITDA, with certain exceptions. The 

rules will come into force on 1 January 2019 and are to be applied for the first time in the financial year 

beginning after 31 December 2018. Under Swedish tax laws and regulations, interest deductibility is calculated 

for each legal entity separately and, accordingly, the new law will apply to Swedish entities within the Group. 

If the Group's net interest expenses, following the application of the legislation, represent a substantial portion 

in relation to its tax EBITDA, or if any other additional restriction on the deductibility of interest expenses is 

introduced in Sweden, the Group's tax burden could increase and this could have a negative impact on the 

Group's business, results of operations and financial position. 

The Group is subject to the covenants in relation to its financing arrangements 
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Under the terms of its financing arrangements the Group must comply with certain covenants. If the Group 

breaches any covenant and fails to receive a waiver regarding such breach from its lenders or sign an amendment 

modifying any such covenant, the Group’s debt obligations under its financing arrangements may be accelerated 

or further credit may be withheld.  

The restrictions under its financing arrangements could make it more difficult for the Group to expand, finance 

its operations or engage in business activities that may be of interest to it, any of which could have an adverse 

effect on the Group’s operations, result, financial position and its ability to make payments under its financing 

arrangements and the Notes.  

Financial reporting risks 

The reporting of the Issuer’s consolidated results of business operations and financial condition is based on 

internal and external financial reporting. Internal control over this reporting is an integral part of the Issuer’s 

corporate governance. It includes methods and procedures to safeguard the Group’s assets, ensure and control 

the reliability and correctness of financial reporting in accordance with applicable legislation and guidelines, 

improve operational efficiency, and control the level of risk in the Group’s business operations. The 

management of financial reporting risks is described in more detail in the Group’s corporate governance report. 

The corporate governance report, including the description of internal controls, forms part of the Issuer’s annual 

report and is audited.   

Additionally, the preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards requires the Management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosures of contingent liabilities, at 

the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 

outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected within the 

next financial year. Any such material adjustment may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 

reputation, financial condition and/or operating results. 

Risks related to material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting 

The Issuer’s internal controls over financial reporting was for the first time subject to examination under 

auditing standards applicable in the United States in connection with the audit of its financial statements to be 

included in the registration statement on Form F-4 filed with the US Securities and Exchange Commission in 

connection with the Merger. Due to legal requirements, the financial statements that are included in the 

registration statement are required to be audited in accordance with the auditing standards applicable in the 

United States. As a result of the work undertaken, certain material weaknesses were identified. Generally, a 

“material weakness” is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial 

reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement in financial statements will not 

be prevented or detected on a timely basis.  

The material weaknesses the Issuer identified relate to its financial statements for the three years ended 31 

December 2015, 2016 and 2017, and more specifically to (i) the lack of review and supporting documentation 

of manual journal entries and (ii) accounting for significant and complex transactions and judgements, particular 

in the areas of deferred tax, leases, business combinations and hedge accounting.  

The Issuer is working to remediate the material weaknesses described as quickly and efficiently as possible. 

The remediation measures that the Issuer has taken and is taking are to implement a formalised process to 

review and approve journal entries at an appropriate level of authorisation.  

Furthermore, the Issuer will implement an appropriate process around identifying, documenting and reviewing 

complex transactions and whether or not the level of complexity of the issue should require involvement of 

external experts in order to conclude on the accounting treatment and to support the judgements made. 
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Whilst the board of directors of the Issuer is satisfied that the Group has been, and will continue to be, in 

compliance with the internal control and related financial reporting requirements under the Swedish Corporate 

Governance Code and the Listing Rules of Nasdaq Stockholm, the requirements from the Public Company 

Accounting Oversight Board are more detailed and evidence based than those requirements and the Issuer 

cannot assure you that the measures that it has taken to remediate, and that will be taken to remediate, these 

material weaknesses will be sufficient to prevent future material weaknesses from occurring. 

The Issuer is not nor was required to perform an evaluation of internal control over financial reporting in 

accordance with the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 applicable in the United States or any similar 

law applicable in other jurisdictions. Had such an evaluation been performed, additional control deficiencies 

may have been identified, and those control deficiencies could have also represented one or more material 

weaknesses. As such, the Issuer cannot assure you that it has identified all of its existing material weaknesses. 

If the Issuer is unable to successfully remediate material weaknesses or if the Issuer identifies additional 

material weaknesses, and if the Issuer or the combined company that is the result of the Merger (“Enlarged 

Tele2”) are unable to produce accurate and timely financial statements, its financial statements could contain 

material misstatements that, when discovered in the future, could cause them to fail to meet their future 

reporting obligations. 

Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued 

under the Programme 

Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors 

Each potential investor in any Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own 

circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should: 

(i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant Notes, the 

merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained or incorporated by 

reference in this Prospectus or any applicable supplement; 

(ii) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular 

financial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact such investment will have on its 

overall investment portfolio; 

(iii) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the relevant 

Notes, including where principal or interest is payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency 

for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency; 

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant 

indices and financial markets; and 

(v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, 

interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks. 

Some Notes are complex financial instruments and such instruments may be purchased as a way to reduce risk 

or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A 

potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise 

(either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing 

conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Notes and the impact this investment will have on the 

potential investor's overall investment portfolio. 

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes 

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which 

contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of certain such features: 
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Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer 

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when the Issuer 

may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price 

at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period. 

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the 

Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective 

interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a 

significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments 

available at that time. 

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes 

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from a fixed rate to a 

floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The Issuer's ability to convert the interest rate will affect the 

secondary market and the market value of such Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when 

it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating 

rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on 

comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time 

may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed 

rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes. 

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium 

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium to their nominal amount tend to 

fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing 

securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared 

to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities. 

Risks related to potential conflicts of interest on the part of the Calculation Agent 

The Issuer may appoint a Dealer as Calculation Agent in respect of an issuance of Notes under the Programme. 

In such a case the Calculation Agent is likely to be a member of an international financial group that is involved, 

in the ordinary course of its business, in a wide range of banking activities out of which conflicting interests 

may arise. Whilst such a Calculation Agent will, where relevant, have information barriers and procedures in 

place to manage conflicts of interest, it may in its other banking activities from time to time be engaged in 

transactions involving an index or related derivatives which may affect amounts receivable by Noteholders 

during the term and on the maturity of the Notes or the market price, liquidity or value of the Notes and which 

could be deemed to be adverse to the interests of the Noteholders. 

 

Risks related to Notes generally 

Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally: 

Modification and waivers  

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes (the “Conditions”) contain provisions for calling meetings of 

Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities 

to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and 

Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. 

The regulation and reform of benchmarks may adversely affect the value of Notes referencing such benchmarks 

Interest rates and indices which are deemed to be “benchmarks” such as the London Interbank Offered Rate 

(“LIBOR”) and the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) are the subject of recent national and 

international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst 

others are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in the 
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past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could 

have a material adverse effect on any Notes referencing such a benchmark. 

Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the “Benchmarks Regulation”) was published in the Official Journal of the EU 

on 29 June 2016 and has applied since 1 January 2018. The Benchmarks Regulation applies to the provision of 

benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the EU. It will, 

among other things, (i) require benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non-EU-based, 

to be subject to an equivalent regime or otherwise recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevent certain uses by EU 

supervised entities of benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised or registered (or, if non-EU based, 

not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed).  

The Benchmarks Regulation could have a material impact on any Notes referencing a benchmark, in particular, 

if the methodology or other terms of the relevant benchmark are changed in order to comply with the 

requirements of the Benchmarks Regulation. Such changes could, among other things, have the effect of 

reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the relevant benchmark. 

On 27 July 2017, the UK Financial Conduct Authority announced that it will no longer persuade or compel 

banks to submit rates for the calculation of the LIBOR benchmark after 2021 (the “FCA Announcement”). 

The FCA Announcement indicates that the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis cannot and will not be 

guaranteed after 2021. The potential elimination of  LIBOR or any other benchmark, or changes in the manner 

of administration of any benchmark may have the effect, amongst other things, of: (i) discouraging market 

participants from continuing to administer or contribute to a benchmark; (ii) triggering changes in the rules or 

methodologies used in the benchmark or (iii) leading to the disappearance of the benchmark. Any of the above 

changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international or national reforms or other initiatives 

or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any Notes referencing a 

benchmark. 

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a published 

benchmark, including an inter-bank offered rate such as LIBOR, EURIBOR or other relevant reference rates, 

(including any page on which such benchmark may be published (or any successor service)) becomes 

unavailable or a Benchmark Event otherwise occurs, including the possibility that the rate of interest or other 

amounts payable under the Notes could be set by reference to a successor rate or an alternative reference rate 

and that such successor rate or alternative reference rate may be adjusted (if required) in order to reduce or 

eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as 

applicable) to investors arising out of the replacement of the relevant benchmark. In certain circumstances, the 

fallback for the purposes of calculation of interest or other amounts payable under the Notes may be based upon 

a determination to be made by an Independent Adviser appointed by the Issuer. In addition, due to the 

uncertainty concerning the availability of successor rates and alternative reference rates and the involvement of 

an Independent Adviser, the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as intended at the relevant time and 

in the event of a permanent discontinuation of LIBOR or any other benchmark, the Issuer may be unable to 

appoint an Independent Adviser or the Independent Adviser may be unable to determine a successor rate or 

alternative reference rate. In these circumstances, where LIBOR or any other benchmark has been discontinued, 

the Rate of Interest will revert to the Rate of Interest applicable as at the immediately preceding Interest 

Determination Date. 

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential 

risks imposed by the Benchmarks Regulation reforms in making any investment decision with respect to any 

Notes referencing a benchmark. 

The Proposed Financial Transactions Tax (“FTT”) 

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the “Commission’s Proposal”) for a 

Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, 
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Slovenia and Slovakia (the “participating Member States”). However, Estonia has since stated that it will not 

participate. 

The Commission’s Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced in its current form, apply to certain 

dealings in Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances.  

Under the Commission’s Proposal, the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to person both within and 

outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in Notes where at least 

one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member State. A 

financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, “established” in a participating Member State in a broad range 

of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating Member State or (b) 

where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member State. 

However, the FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between the participating Member States. It may 

therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional EU Member 

States may decide to participate. 

Prospective holders of Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT. 

Change of law 

The Conditions are based on English law in effect as at the date of issue of the relevant Notes. No assurance 

can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative 

practice after the date of issue of the relevant Notes. 

Bearer Notes where denominations involve integral multiples 

In relation to any issue of Notes in bearer form which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified 

Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that the Notes 

may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denominations (as defined 

in the Conditions). In such a case a Noteholder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds a principal 

amount of less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at 

the relevant time will not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed) 

and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that it holds an amount equal to one or more 

Specified Denominations. 

If definitive Notes are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have a denomination that is 

not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade. 

Risks related to the market generally 

Set out below is a brief description of certain market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest 

rate risk and credit risk: 

The secondary market generally 

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does 

develop, it may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that 

will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This 

is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are 

designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment 

requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited 

secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a severely 

adverse effect on the market value of Notes. 

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls 

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks 

relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency 
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or currency unit (the “Investor's Currency”) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that 

exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or 

revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency 

may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to 

the Specified Currency would decrease (1) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the 

Investor's Currency equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor's Currency 

equivalent market value of the Notes. 

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could 

adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than 

expected, or no interest or principal. 

Interest rate risks 

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely 

affect the value of Fixed Rate Notes. 

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks 

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to an issue of Notes. The ratings may 

not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and 

other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold 

securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time. 

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments 

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or 

regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether 

and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of 

borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should 

consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under 

any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules. 
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

This Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with: 

(i) The section entitled “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” on pages 24 to 49 of the Prospectus dated 13 

April 2012 and on pages 25 to 48 of the Prospectus dated 29 April 2016; 

(ii) the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the financial years ended 2016 and 2017, 

respectively, which have each been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as adopted by the European Union and restated in compliance with Public Company 

Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAOB”) standards on the Issuer’s previously issued audited 

consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended 2016 and 2017, respectively, to comply 

with the US Securities and Exchange Commission’s (the “SEC”) requirements to effect the Merger, 

together in each case with the auditor’s report thereon, as set out in the Information to the Shareholders 

of Tele2 AB (publ) and Com Hem Holding AB (publ) regarding merger of the companies (the “Issuer’s 

Merger Document”);  

(iii) the audited pro forma financial information of the Issuer comprised of (i) the pro forma condensed 

consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2017, after giving effect to the Merger 

as if it had occurred on 1 January 2017,  (ii) the pro forma condensed consolidated income statement for 

the six months ended 30 June 2018, after giving effect to the Merger as if it had occurred on 1 January 

2017 and (iii) the pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheet as of 30 June 2018, as if the Merger 

had occurred on 30 June 2018 (together, the “Pro Forma Financial Information”) together with the 

auditor’s report thereon, as set out in the Issuer’s Merger Document; 

(iv) the translations of the audited non-consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor for the financial 

years ended 2016 and 2017, respectively, together in each case with the auditor’s report thereon, as set 

out in the Guarantor’s Annual Report 2016 and the Guarantor’s Annual Report 2017, respectively (the 

“2016 and 2017 Guarantor’s Annual Reports”); and 

(v) the translation of the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the nine 

months ended 30 September 2018, as set out in the Issuer’s Interim Report Third Quarter 2018 (the “Q3 

2018 Issuer Interim Report”), 

which have been previously published or are published simultaneously with this Prospectus and which have 

been filed with the CSSF. The Issuer’s Merger Document, the 2016 and 2017 Guarantor’s Annual Reports and 

the Q3 2018 Issuer Interim Report are incorporated by reference in and form part of this Prospectus, save that 

any statement contained in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be modified or 

superseded for the purpose of this Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein modifies or 

supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified 

or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Prospectus. Each of the 

Issuer and the Guarantor takes responsibility for the correctness of the translations of the documents 

incorporated by reference.  

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Prospectus may be obtained (without charge) from the 

registered office of the Issuer, the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) or the website 

of the Issuer (www.tele2.com). The tables below sets out the relevant page references for (i) the audited 

consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the financial years ended 2016 and 2017, respectively, as set 

out in the Issuer’s Merger Document, (ii) the audited Pro Forma Financial Information of the Issuer, as set out 

in the Issuer’s Merger Document, and (iii) for the audited non-consolidated financial statements of the 

Guarantor for the financial years ended 2016 and 2017, respectively, as set out in the Guarantor’s Annual Report 

2016, and the Guarantor’s Annual Report 2017, respectively, and (iv) the unaudited interim consolidated 

financial statements of the Issuer for the nine months ended 30 September 2018, as set out in the Q3 2018 Issuer 

Interim Report. The information incorporated by reference that is not included in the tables below is considered 
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additional information, and is not required by the relevant schedules of Commission Regulation (EC) No 

809/2004. 

Audited (restated) consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the financial years ended 2016 and 

2017, respectively 

 

Issuer’s Merger Document  

Consolidated Income Statement ...................................................................................  Page F-2 

Consolidated Comprehensive Income ..........................................................................  Page F-3 

Consolidated Balance Sheet .........................................................................................  Pages F-4 to F-5 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement………………………………………………….. Page F-6 

Change in Consolidated Equity……………………………………………………… Page F-7 

Accounting Principles ..................................................................................................  Pages F-8 to F-15 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ..........................................................  Pages F-8 to F-51 

Auditor’s Report ...........................................................................................................  Page F-52 

Definitions ……………………………………………………………………………. Pages A1 to A3 

 

Audited Pro Forma Financial Information of the Issuer 

 

Issuer’s Merger Document  

Accounting Principles and Other Information ..............................................................  Page 72 

Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Income Statement for the Year Ended 31 

December 2017 ............................................................................................................  

Page 73 

Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Income Statement for the Six Months Ended 30 

June 2018 .....................................................................................................................  

Page 73 

Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet for the Six Months Ended 30 

June 2018 .....................................................................................................................  

Pages 74 

Notes to the Pro Forma Condensed Financial Statements ............................................  Pages 75 to 77 

Auditor’s Report on the Pro Forma Financial Information ..........................................  Page 78 

 

Audited non-consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor for the financial years ended 2016 and 

2017, respectively  

 

Tele2 Sverige AB Annual Report 2016   

Profit and Loss Statement.............................................................................................  Page 5 

Balance Statement ........................................................................................................  Pages 6 to 7   

Report on Changes in Equity........................................................................................  Page 8 

Cash-Flow Analysis......................................................................................................  Page 9   

Additional Information………………………………………………………………... Pages 10 to 11 
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Notes ............................................................................................................................  Pages 12 to 17 

Auditor’s Report ...........................................................................................................  Pages 18 to 19 

 

Tele2 Sverige AB Annual Report 2017  

Profit and Loss Statement.............................................................................................  Page 6 

Balance Statement ........................................................................................................  Pages 7 to 8   

Report on Changes in Equity........................................................................................  Page 9 

Cash-Flow Analysis......................................................................................................  Page 10 

Additional Information .................................................................................................  Pages 11 to 12   

Notes ............................................................................................................................  Pages 13 to 18 

Auditor’s Report ...........................................................................................................  Pages 19 to 20 

  

 

Unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the nine months ended 30 

September 2018 

Income Statement .........................................................................................................  Page 19 

Comprehensive Income ................................................................................................  Page 20 

Balance Sheet ...............................................................................................................  Page 21 

Cash Flow Statement ....................................................................................................  Page 22 

Change in Equity ..........................................................................................................  Page 23 

Notes ............................................................................................................................  Pages 24 to 31 
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PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT 

If at any time the Issuer shall be required to prepare a prospectus supplement pursuant to Article 13 of the 

Luxembourg Act dated 10 July 2005 relating to prospectuses for securities, the Issuer will prepare and make 

available an appropriate supplement to this Prospectus which, in respect of any subsequent issue of Notes to be 

listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market, shall 

constitute a prospectus supplement as required by Article 13 of the Luxembourg Act dated 10 July 2005 relating 

to prospectuses for securities. 

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has given an undertaking to the Dealers that if at any time during the 

duration of the Programme there is a significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to 

information contained in this Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes and whose 

inclusion in or removal from this Prospectus is necessary for the purpose of allowing an investor to make an 

informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and prospects of the Issuer 

and/or the Guarantor (as applicable) and the rights attaching to the Notes, the Issuer and/or the Guarantor shall 

prepare a supplement to this Prospectus or publish a replacement Prospectus for use in connection with any 

subsequent offering of the Notes and shall supply to each Dealer such number of copies of such supplement or 

replacement Prospectus as such Dealer may reasonably request. 
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME 

The following general description is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Prospectus. 

Issuer: Tele2 AB (publ) 

Guarantor: Tele2 Sverige AB 

Description: 

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) 

Guaranteed Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

213800EKD193RVI9HL76 

Programme Limit: Up to €5,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies at the 

date of issue) aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding at 

any one time. 

Arranger: Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) 

Dealers: Banca IMI S.p.A.  

Citigroup Global Markets Limited 

Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft 

Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank 

Danske Bank A/S 

DNB Bank ASA 

ING Bank N.V. 

Nordea Bank Abp 

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) 

Svenska Handelsbanken AB (publ) 

Swedbank AB (publ)  

The Issuer may from time to time terminate the appointment of 

any dealer under the Programme or appoint additional dealers 

either in respect of one or more Tranches or in respect of the 

whole Programme. References in this Prospectus to “Permanent 

Dealers” are to the persons listed above as Dealers and to such 

additional persons that are appointed as dealers in respect of the 

whole Programme (and whose appointment has not been 

terminated) and references to “Dealers” are to all Permanent 

Dealers and all persons appointed as a dealer in respect of one or 

more Tranches. 

Fiscal Agent: BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch 

Method of Issue: The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. 

The Notes will be issued in series (each a “Series”) having one 

or more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical 

other than in respect of the first payment of interest), the Notes 

of each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other 

Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each 

a “Tranche”) on the same or different issue dates. The specific 

terms of each Tranche (which will be completed, where 

necessary, with the relevant terms and conditions and, save in 

respect of the issue date, issue price, first payment of interest and 

nominal amount of the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of 

other Tranches of the same Series) will be completed in the final 

terms (the “Final Terms”). 
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Issue Price: Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount or 

premium to their nominal amount, as specified in the Final 

Terms.  

Form of Notes: The Notes may be issued in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”) or in 

registered form (“Registered Notes”). Each Tranche of Bearer 

Notes will be represented on issue by a temporary Global Note if 

(i) definitive Notes are to be made available to Noteholders 

following the expiry of 40 days after their issue date or (ii) such 

Notes have an initial maturity of more than one year and are 

being issued in compliance with TEFRA D (as defined in “ – 

Selling Restrictions” below), otherwise such Tranche will be 

represented by a permanent Global Note. Registered Notes will 

be represented by Certificates, one Certificate being issued in 

respect of each Noteholder’s entire holding of Registered Notes 

of one Series. Certificates representing Registered Notes that are 

registered in the name of a nominee for one or more clearing 

systems are referred to as “Global Certificates”. 

Clearing Systems: Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear and such other clearing 

system as may be agreed between the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and 

the relevant Dealer. 

Initial Delivery of Notes: On or before the issue date for each Tranche, if the relevant 

Global Note is an NGN or the relevant Global Certificate is held 

under the NSS, the Global Note or Global Certificate will be 

delivered to a Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and 

Clearstream, Luxembourg. On or before the issue date for each 

Tranche, if the relevant Global Note is a CGN or the relevant 

Global Certificate is not held under the NSS, the Global Note 

representing Bearer Notes or the Global Certificate representing 

Registered Notes may (or, in the case of Notes listed on the 

Luxembourg Stock Exchange, shall) be deposited with a 

common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. 

Global Notes or Global Certificates relating to Notes that are not 

listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange may also be deposited 

with any other clearing system or may be delivered outside any 

clearing system provided that the method of such delivery has 

been agreed in advance by the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the 

relevant Dealer. Registered Notes that are to be credited to one or 

more clearing systems on issue will be registered in the name of 

nominees or a common nominee for such clearing systems.  

Currencies: Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and 

directives, Notes may be issued in any currency agreed between 

the Issuer, the Guarantor and the relevant Dealer. 

Maturities: Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and 

directives, the Notes will have a minimum maturity of one 

month.  

Specified Denomination: Definitive Notes will be in such denominations as may be 

specified in the relevant Final Terms save that (i) in the case of 

any Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated 
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market within the European Economic Area or offered to the 

public in an EEA State in circumstances which require the 

publication of a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive, the 

minimum specified denomination shall be €100,000 (or its 

equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the 

Notes); and (ii) unless otherwise permitted by then current laws 

and regulations, Notes (including Notes denominated in sterling) 

which have a maturity of less than one year and in respect of 

which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the Issuer in the 

United Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a 

contravention of Section 19 of the FSMA will have a minimum 

denomination of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies).  

Fixed Rate Notes: Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in 

each year specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

Floating Rate Notes: Floating Rate Notes will bear interest determined separately for 

each Series as follows:  

(i) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional 

interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified 

Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the 

2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by the International 

Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or 

 (ii) by reference to LIBOR, EURIBOR, STIBOR or NIBOR 

as adjusted for any applicable margin.  

Interest periods will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

Zero Coupon Notes: Zero Coupon Notes (as defined in “Terms and Conditions of the 

Notes”) may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount 

to it and will not bear interest. 

Interest Periods and Interest Rates: The length of the interest periods for the Notes and the applicable 

interest rate or its method of calculation may differ from time to 

time or be constant for any Series. Notes may have a maximum 

interest rate, a minimum interest rate, or both. The use of interest 

accrual periods permits the Notes to bear interest at different rates 

in the same interest period. All such information will be set out 

in the relevant Final Terms. 

Redemption: The relevant Final Terms will specify the basis for calculating the 

redemption amounts payable. Unless permitted by then current 

laws and regulations, Notes (including Notes denominated in 

sterling) which have a maturity of less than one year and in 

respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the 

Issuer in the United Kingdom or whose issue otherwise 

constitutes a contravention of Section 19 of the FSMA must have 

a minimum redemption amount of £100,000 (or its equivalent in 

other currencies). 

Optional Redemption: The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes will state 

whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated 

maturity at the option of the Issuer (either in whole or in part) 
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and/or the holders, and if so the terms applicable to such 

redemption. 

Redemption upon a Change of 

Control: 

The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes will state 

whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity 

at the option of the holders upon the occurrence of a Change of 

Control Put Event as further described in “Terms and Conditions – 

Redemption at the Option of Noteholders on a Change of Control”. 

Status of Notes and Guarantee: The Notes and the Guarantee will constitute unsubordinated and 

(save to the extent specified in “Terms and Conditions – Negative 

Pledge”) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantor, 

respectively, all as described in “Terms and Conditions of the 

Notes – Guarantee and Status”.  

The Guarantee will be limited if required by application of the 

provisions of the Swedish Companies Act 

(Sw. aktiebolagslagen) regulating transfers of value (Sw. 

värdeöverföringar). For a description of the Guarantee see “The 

Deed of Guarantee”. 

Negative Pledge: Applicable. See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Negative 

Pledge”. 

Cross Default: Applicable. See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Events of 

Default”. 

Ratings: Tranches of Notes to be issued under the Programme may be 

rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes issued under the 

Programme is to be rated, such rating will not necessarily be the 

same as the relevant rating assigned to the Notes already issued. 

Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, the applicable rating(s) will 

be specified in the Final Terms. Whether or not a rating in relation 

to any Tranche of Notes will be treated as having been issued by 

a credit rating agency established in the European Union and 

registered under the CRA Regulation will be disclosed in the 

relevant Final Terms. 

A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities 

and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any 

time by the assigning rating agency. 

Early Redemption: Except as provided in “– Optional Redemption” and “– 

Redemption upon a Change of Control” above, Notes will be 

redeemable at the option of the Issuer prior to maturity only for 

tax reasons. See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes – 

Redemption, Purchase and Options”. 

Withholding Tax: All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes will 

be made free and clear of withholding taxes of the Kingdom of 

Sweden, as the case may be, unless the withholding is required 

by law. In such event, the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case 

may be) shall, subject to customary exceptions, pay such 

additional amounts as shall result in receipt by the Noteholder of 

such amounts as would have been received by it had no such 
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withholding been required, all as described in “Terms and 

Conditions of the Notes – Taxation”. 

Governing Law: English law, save that the provisions of Condition 3(c) (and 

related provisions of the Deed of Guarantee) relating to limitation 

of the obligations of the Guarantor are governed by, and shall be 

construed in accordance with, Swedish law.  

Listing and Admission to Trading: Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange 

for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to the 

Official List and to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg 

Stock Exchange’s regulated market or as otherwise specified in 

the relevant Final Terms and references to listing shall be 

construed accordingly. As specified in the relevant Final Terms, 

a Series of Notes may be unlisted. 

Selling Restrictions: The United States, the Public Offer Selling Restriction under the 

Prospectus Directive (in respect of Notes having a specified 

denomination of less than €100,000 or its equivalent in any other 

currency as at the date of issue of the Notes), the United 

Kingdom, the Kingdom of Sweden and Japan. See “Subscription 

and Sale”. 

 Category 2 selling restrictions will apply for the purposes of 

Regulation S under the Securities Act, as amended. 

 The Notes will be issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. 

§1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (or any successor rules in substantially the 

same form that are applicable for purposes of Section 4701 of the 

U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) ( 

“TEFRA D”) unless (i) the relevant Final Terms states that Notes 

are issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-

5(c)(2)(i)(C) (or any successor rules in substantially the same 

form that are applicable for purposes of Section 4701 of the 

Code) (“TEFRA C”) or (ii) the Notes are issued other than in 

compliance with TEFRA D or TEFRA C but in circumstances in 

which the Notes will not constitute “registration required 

obligations” under the United States Tax Equity and Fiscal 

Responsibility Act of 1982 (“TEFRA”), which circumstances 

will be referred to in the relevant Final Terms as a transaction to 

which TEFRA is not applicable.  
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES 

The following is the text of the terms and conditions that, subject to completion in accordance with the 

provisions of Part A of the relevant Final Terms, shall be applicable to the Notes in definitive form (if any) 

issued in exchange for the Global Note(s) representing each Series. Either (i) the full text of these terms and 

conditions together with the relevant provisions of Part A of the Final Terms or (ii) these terms and conditions 

as so completed (and subject to simplification by the deletion of non-applicable provisions), shall be endorsed 

on Bearer Notes or on the Certificates relating to Registered Notes. All capitalised terms that are not defined 

in these Conditions will have the meanings given to them in Part A of the relevant Final Terms. Those definitions 

will be endorsed on the definitive Notes or Certificates, as the case may be. References in these Conditions to 

“Notes” are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued under the Programme. 

The Notes are issued pursuant to an Amended and Restated Agency Agreement (the “Agency Agreement”) 

dated 22 October 2018 between Tele2 AB (publ) (the “Issuer”), Tele2 Sverige AB (the “Guarantor”), BNP 

Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch as fiscal agent and the other agents named in it and with the 

benefit of an Amended and Restated Deed of Covenant (the “Deed of Covenant”) dated 22 October 2018 

executed by the Issuer and the Guarantor in relation to the Notes and an Amended and Restated Deed of 

Guarantee (the “Deed of Guarantee”) dated 22 October 2018 executed by the Guarantor in relation to the 

Notes. The fiscal agent, the paying agents, the registrar, the transfer agents and the calculation agent(s) for the 

time being (if any) are referred to below respectively as the “Fiscal Agent”, the “Paying Agents” (which 

expression shall include the Fiscal Agent), the “Registrar”, the “Transfer Agents” and the “Calculation 

Agent(s)”. The Noteholders (as defined below), the holders of the interest coupons (the “Coupons”) relating 

to interest bearing Notes in bearer form and, where applicable in the case of such Notes, talons for further 

Coupons (the “Talons”) (the “Couponholders”) are deemed to have notice of all of the provisions of the 

Agency Agreement applicable to them. 

In these Conditions, “Tranche” means Notes which are identical in all respects. 

Copies of the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and the Deed of Guarantee are available for inspection 

at the specified offices of each of the Paying Agents, the Registrar and the Transfer Agents.  

1 Form, Denomination and Title 

The Notes are issued in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”) or in registered form (“Registered Notes”), in each case 

in the Specified Denomination(s) shown hereon. 

This Note is a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note, or a combination of any of the 

foregoing, depending upon the Interest and Redemption/Payment Basis shown hereon. 

Bearer Notes are serially numbered and are issued with Coupons (and, where appropriate, a Talon) attached, 

save in the case of Zero Coupon Notes in which case references to interest (other than in relation to interest due 

after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable.  

Registered Notes are represented by registered certificates (“Certificates”) and, save as provided in Condition 

2(c), each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Registered Notes by the same holder.  

Title to the Bearer Notes and the Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Title to the Registered Notes shall 

pass by registration in the register that the Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrar in accordance with 

the provisions of the Agency Agreement (the “Register”). Except as ordered by a court of competent 

jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Note, Coupon or Talon shall be deemed 

to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes, whether or not it is overdue and regardless of 

any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it, any writing on it (or on the Certificate representing it) or its 

theft or loss (or that of the related Certificate) and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder. 



 

30 

 

In these Conditions, “Noteholder” means the bearer of any Bearer Note or the person in whose name a 

Registered Note is registered (as the case may be), “holder” (in relation to a Note, Coupon or Talon) means the 

bearer of any Bearer Note, Coupon or Talon or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as 

the case may be) and capitalised terms have the meanings given to them hereon, the absence of any such 

meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to the Notes.  

2 No Exchange of Notes and Transfers of Registered Notes 

(a) No Exchange of Notes: Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes. Bearer Notes of one 

Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another Specified Denomination and 

Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes. 

(b) Transfer of Registered Notes: One or more Registered Notes may be transferred upon the surrender (at 

the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the Certificate representing such 

Registered Notes to be transferred, together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Certificate, (or 

another form of transfer substantially in the same form and containing the same representations and 

certifications (if any), unless otherwise agreed by the Issuer), duly completed and executed and any other 

evidence as the Registrar or Transfer Agent may reasonably require. In the case of a transfer of part only 

of a holding of Registered Notes represented by one Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the 

transferee in respect of the part transferred and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of the 

holding not transferred shall be issued to the transferor. All transfers of Notes and entries on the Register 

will be made subject to the detailed regulations concerning transfers of Notes scheduled to the Agency 

Agreement. The regulations scheduled to the Agency Agreement may be changed by the Issuer, with the 

prior written approval of the Registrar and the Noteholders. A copy of the current regulations will be 

made available by the Registrar to any Noteholder upon request. The rules and procedures of Euroclear 

are available on Euroclear’s website, www.euroclear.eu.  

(c) Exercise of Options or Partial Redemption in Respect of Registered Notes: In the case of an exercise 

of an Issuer’s or Noteholders’ option in respect of part of, or a partial redemption of, a holding of 

Registered Notes represented by a single Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the holder to 

reflect the exercise of such option or in respect of the balance of the holding not redeemed. In the case 

of a partial exercise of an option resulting in Registered Notes of the same holding having different 

terms, separate Certificates shall be issued in respect of those Notes of that holding that have the same 

terms. New Certificates shall only be issued against surrender of the existing Certificates to the Registrar 

or any Transfer Agent. In the case of a transfer of Registered Notes to a person who is already a holder 

of Registered Notes, a new Certificate representing the enlarged holding shall only be issued against 

surrender of the Certificate representing the existing holding. 

(d) Delivery of New Certificates: Each new Certificate to be issued pursuant to Conditions 2(b) or (c) shall 

be available for delivery within three business days of receipt of the form of transfer or Exercise Notice 

(as defined in Condition 6(e)) and surrender of the Certificate for exchange. Delivery of the new 

Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified office of the Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case 

may be) to whom delivery or surrender of such form of transfer, Exercise Notice or Certificate shall have 

been made or, at the option of the holder making such delivery or surrender as aforesaid and as specified 

in the form of transfer, Exercise Notice or otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk 

of the holder entitled to the new Certificate to such address as may be so specified, unless such holder 

requests otherwise and pays in advance to the relevant Agent (as defined in the Agency Agreement) the 

costs of such other method of delivery and/or such insurance as it may specify. In this Condition 2(d), 

“business day” means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in 

the place of the specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be). 

(e) Transfer Free of Charge: Transfers of Notes and Certificates on registration, transfer, partial 

redemption or exercise of an option shall be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the 
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Registrar or the Transfer Agents, but upon payment of any tax or other governmental charges that may 

be imposed in relation to it (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer 

Agent may require).  

(f) Closed Periods: No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered (i) during 

the period of 15 days before any date on which Notes may be called for redemption by the Issuer at its 

option pursuant to Condition 6(d), (ii) after any such Note has been called for redemption or (iii) during 

the period of seven days ending on (and including) any Record Date.  

3 Guarantee and Status 

(a) Guarantee: Subject to Condition 3(c) below, the Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably 

guaranteed the due payment of all sums expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the Notes and the 

Coupons relating to them. Its obligations in that respect (the “Guarantee”) are contained in the Deed of 

Guarantee. 

(b) Status of Notes and Guarantee: The Notes and the Coupons relating to them constitute (subject to 

Condition 4) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu and without any 

preference among themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes and the Coupons 

relating to them and of the Guarantor under the Guarantee shall, save for such exceptions as may be 

provided by applicable legislation and subject to Condition 4, at all times rank at least equally with all 

other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness and monetary obligations of the Issuer and the 

Guarantor, respectively, present and future. 

(c) Limitations: Pursuant to the Deed of Guarantee, the obligations of the Guarantor shall be limited, if 

(and only if) required by the mandatory provisions of the Swedish Companies Act (Sw. Aktiebolagslagen 

(2005:551)) (the “Swedish Companies Act”) regulating unlawful distribution of assets and transfer of 

value (Chapter 17, Sections 1 to 4) (or its equivalent from time to time) and the liability of the Guarantor 

under the Deed of Guarantee will exist only to the extent permitted by the above mentioned provisions 

of the Swedish Companies Act. 

4 Negative Pledge 

So long as any Note or Coupon remains outstanding (as defined in the Agency Agreement) neither the Issuer 

nor the Guarantor will create, or have outstanding any mortgage, charge, lien, pledge or other security interest, 

upon the whole or any part of its present or future undertaking, assets or revenues to secure any Relevant 

Indebtedness or any guarantee or indemnity in respect of any Relevant Indebtedness without at the same time 

or prior thereto according to the Notes and the Coupons the benefit of the same security as is created or 

subsisting to secure any such Relevant Indebtedness, guarantee or indemnity or such other security as shall be 

approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Agency Agreement) of the Noteholders. 

In this Condition, “Relevant Indebtedness” means any indebtedness which is in the form of, or represented or 

evidenced by, bonds, notes, debentures, loan stock or other securities which for the time being are, or are capable 

of being, quoted, listed or dealt in or traded on any stock exchange or over-the-counter or other securities market. 

5 Interest and other Calculations 

(a) Interest on Fixed Rate Notes: Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount 

from and including the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) 

equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. The 

amount of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 5(f). 

(b) Interest on Floating Rate Notes: 

(i) Interest Payment Dates: Each Floating Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal 

amount from and including the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as 
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a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest 

Payment Date. The amount of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 

5(f). Such Interest Payment Date(s) is/are either shown hereon as Specified Interest Payment 

Dates or, if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are shown hereon, Interest Payment Date 

shall mean each date which falls the number of months or other period shown hereon as the 

Interest Period after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest 

Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date. 

(ii) Business Day Convention: If any date referred to in these Conditions that is specified to be subject 

to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day that 

is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is (A) the Floating Rate 

Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day 

unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (x) such date shall be 

brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (y) each subsequent such date 

shall be the last Business Day of the month in which such date would have fallen had it not been 

subject to adjustment, (B) the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed 

to the next day that is a Business Day, (C) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, 

such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall 

into the next calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the 

immediately preceding Business Day or (D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date 

shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day. 

(iii) Rate of Interest: The Rate of Interest in respect of Floating Rate Notes for each Interest Accrual 

Period shall be determined in the manner specified hereon and the provisions below relating to 

either ISDA Determination or Screen Rate Determination shall apply, depending upon which is 

specified hereon. 

(A) ISDA Determination 

Where ISDA Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the Rate of Interest 

is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period shall be 

determined by the Calculation Agent as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA Rate. For the 

purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), “ISDA Rate” for an Interest Accrual Period means a 

rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under 

a Swap Transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions 

and under which: 

(x) the Floating Rate Option is as specified hereon 

(y) the Designated Maturity is a period specified hereon and 

(z) the relevant Reset Date is the first day of that Interest Accrual Period unless 

otherwise specified hereon. 

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), “Floating Rate”, “Calculation Agent”, 

“Floating Rate Option”, “Designated Maturity”, “Reset Date” and “Swap 

Transaction” have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions. 

(B) Screen Rate Determination 

(x) Where Screen Rate Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the 

Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual 

Period will, subject as provided below, be either: 

(1) the offered quotation; or 
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(2) the arithmetic mean of the offered quotations, 

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which appears 

or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at (i) 11.00 a.m. 

(London time in the case of LIBOR, Central European time in the case of 

EURIBOR, or Stockholm time in the case of STIBOR) or (ii) 12.00 noon (Oslo 

time) in the case of NIBOR on the Interest Determination Date in question as 

determined by the Calculation Agent. If five or more of such offered quotations are 

available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one 

such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is 

more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be 

disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic 

mean of such offered quotations. 

(y) if the Relevant Screen Page is not available or, if sub-paragraph (x)(1) applies and 

no such offered quotation appears on the Relevant Screen Page, or, if sub-

paragraph (x)(2) applies and fewer than three such offered quotations appear on 

the Relevant Screen Page, in each case as at the time specified above, subject as 

provided below, the Issuer and/or Guarantor shall request, if the Reference Rate is 

(i) LIBOR, the principal London office of each of the Reference Banks; (ii) 

EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of each of the Reference Banks; (iii) 

STIBOR, the principal Stockholm office of each of the Reference Banks, or (iv) 

NIBOR, the principal Oslo office of each of the Reference Banks, to provide the 

Calculation Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per 

annum) for the Reference Rate if the Reference Rate is (A) LIBOR, at 

approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time); (B) EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 

a.m. (Central European time); (C) STIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. 

(Stockholm time); or (D) NIBOR, as at approximately 12.00 noon (Oslo time) on 

the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks 

provide the Calculation Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for 

such Interest Accrual Period shall be the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations 

as determined by the Calculation Agent; and 

(z) if paragraph (y) above applies and the Calculation Agent determines that fewer 

than two Reference Banks are providing offered quotations, subject as provided 

below, the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates per annum 

(expressed as a percentage) as communicated to (and at the request of) the Issuer 

and/or the Guarantor by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which 

such banks were offered, if the Reference Rate is (i) LIBOR, at approximately 

11.00 a.m. (London time); (ii) EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Central 

European time); (iii) STIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Stockholm time); or 

(iv) NIBOR, at approximately 12.00 noon (Oslo time) on the relevant Interest 

Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that 

which would have been used for the Reference Rate by leading banks in, if the 

Reference Rate is (A) LIBOR, the London inter-bank market; (B) EURIBOR, the 

Euro-zone inter-bank market; (C) STIBOR, the Stockholm inter-bank market; or 

(D) NIBOR, the Norwegian inter-bank market, as the case may be, or, if fewer than 

two of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such offered rates, 

the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that 

which would have been used for the Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean of the 

offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which 

would have been used for the Reference Rate, at which, if the Reference Rate is (i) 
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LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time); (ii) EURIBOR, at 

approximately 11.00 a.m. (Central European time); (iii) STIBOR, at approximately 

11.00 a.m. (Stockholm time); or (vi) NIBOR, at approximately 12.00 noon (Oslo 

time), on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any one or more banks (which 

bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for such purpose) 

informs the Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading banks in, if the Reference 

Rate is (A) LIBOR, the London inter-bank market; (B) EURIBOR, the Euro-zone 

inter-bank market; (C) STIBOR, the Stockholm inter-bank market; (D) if the 

Norwegian inter-bank market, as the case may be, provided that, if the Rate of 

Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this 

paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be determined as at the last preceding Interest 

Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum 

or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period 

from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin 

or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Accrual 

Period, in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating 

to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period). 

(C) Linear Interpolation 

Where Linear Interpolation is specified hereon as applicable in respect of an Interest 

Accrual Period, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Accrual Period shall be calculated by 

the Calculation Agent by straight line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based 

on the relevant Reference Rate (where Screen Rate Determination is specified hereon as 

applicable) or the relevant Floating Rate Option (where ISDA Determination is specified 

hereon as applicable), one of which shall be determined as if the Applicable Maturity were 

the period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant 

Interest Accrual Period and the other of which shall be determined as if the Applicable 

Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length 

of the relevant Interest Accrual Period provided however that if there is no rate available 

for the period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the Calculation 

Agent shall determine such rate at such time and by reference to such sources as it 

determines appropriate. 

“Applicable Maturity” means: (a) in relation to Screen Rate Determination, the period 

of time designated in the Reference Rate, and (b) in relation to ISDA Determination, the 

Designated Maturity. 

(c) Zero Coupon Notes: Where a Note the Interest Basis of which is specified to be Zero Coupon is 

repayable prior to the Maturity Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to the 

Maturity Date shall be the Early Redemption Amount of such Note. As from the Maturity Date, the Rate 

of Interest for any overdue principal of such a Note shall be a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) 

equal to the Amortisation Yield (as described in Condition 6(b)(i)). 

(d) Accrual of Interest: Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, 

upon due presentation, payment is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue 

to accrue (both before and after judgment) at the Rate of Interest in the manner provided in this Condition 

5 to but excluding the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8). 

(e) Margin, Maximum/Minimum Rates of Interest and Redemption Amounts and Rounding: 

(i) If any Margin is specified hereon (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one or more Interest 

Accrual Periods), an adjustment shall be made to all Rates of Interest, in the case of (x), or the 

Rates of Interest for the specified Interest Accrual Periods, in the case of (y), calculated in 
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accordance with Condition 5(b) above by adding (if a positive number) or subtracting the absolute 

value (if a negative number) of such Margin subject always to the next paragraph 

(ii) If any Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest or Redemption Amount is specified hereon, then 

any Rate of Interest or Redemption Amount shall be subject to such maximum or minimum, as 

the case may be 

(iii) For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions (unless otherwise 

specified), (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary, to 

the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 of a percentage point 

being rounded up), (y) all figures shall be rounded to seven significant figures (provided that if 

the eighth significant figure is a 5 or greater, the seventh significant figure shall be rounded up) 

and (z) all currency amounts that fall due and payable shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such 

currency (with half a unit being rounded up), save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded 

down to the nearest yen. For these purposes “unit” means the lowest amount of such currency 

that is available as legal tender in the countries of such currency. 

(f) Calculations: The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of any Note for any 

Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the product of the Rate of Interest, the Calculation Amount 

specified hereon, and the Day Count Fraction for such Interest Accrual Period, unless an Interest Amount 

(or a formula for its calculation) is applicable to such Interest Accrual Period, in which case the amount 

of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Note for such Interest Accrual Period shall 

equal such Interest Amount (or be calculated in accordance with such formula). Where any Interest 

Period comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable per Calculation 

Amount in respect of such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Interest Amounts payable in respect of 

each of those Interest Accrual Periods. In respect of any other period for which interest is required to be 

calculated, the provisions above shall apply save that the Day Count Fraction shall be for the period for 

which interest is required to be calculated. 

(g) Determination and Publication of Rates of Interest, Interest Amounts, Final Redemption 

Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts and Optional Redemption Amounts: The Calculation Agent 

shall, as soon as practicable on such date as the Calculation Agent may be required to calculate any rate 

or amount, obtain any quotation or make any determination or calculation, determine such rate and 

calculate the Interest Amounts for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, calculate the Final Redemption 

Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, obtain such quotation or make 

such determination or calculation, as the case may be, and cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest 

Amounts for each Interest Accrual Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date and, if required to be 

calculated, the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or any Optional Redemption 

Amount to be notified to the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer, each of the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, any 

other Calculation Agent appointed in respect of the Notes that is to make a further calculation upon 

receipt of such information and, if the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange 

or other relevant authority so require, such exchange or other relevant authority as soon as possible after 

their determination but in no event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if 

determined prior to such time, in the case of notification to such exchange of a Rate of Interest and 

Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, the fourth Business Day after such determination. Where any 

Interest Payment Date or Interest Period Date is subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 5(b)(ii), the 

Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or 

appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an 

extension or shortening of the Interest Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 10, 

the accrued interest and the Rate of Interest payable in respect of the Notes shall nevertheless continue 

to be calculated as previously in accordance with this Condition but no publication of the Rate of Interest 

or the Interest Amount so calculated need be made. The determination of any rate or amount, the 
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obtaining of each quotation and the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation 

Agent(s) shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties. 

(h) Definitions: In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall 

have the meanings set out below: 

“Business Day” means: 

(i) in the case of a currency other than euro, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which 

commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial centre 

for such currency and/or 

(ii) in the case of euro, a day on which the TARGET System is operating (a “TARGET Business 

Day”) and/or 

(iii) in the case of a currency and/or one or more Business Centres, a day (other than a Saturday or a 

Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in such 

currency in the Business Centre(s) or, if no currency is indicated, generally in each of the Business 

Centres.  

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note for any 

period of time (from and including the first day of such period to but excluding the last) (whether or not 

constituting an Interest Period or an Interest Accrual Period, the “Calculation Period”): 

(i) if “Actual/Actual” or “Actual/Actual - ISDA” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in 

the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap 

year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in 

a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation 

Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365) 

(ii) if “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period 

divided by 365 

(iii) if “Actual/365 (Sterling)” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation 

Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366 

(iv) if “Actual/360” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided 

by 360 

(v) if “30/360”, “360/360” or “Bond Basis” is specified hereon, the number of days in the 

Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows: 

Day Count Fraction = 
[360 x (Y2- Y1)] + [30 x (M2 - M1)] + (D2 - D1) 

360
 

where: 

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls; 

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day 

included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation 

Period falls; 

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the 

last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 
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“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such 

number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in 

the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater than 29, in which case 

D2 will be 30 

(vi) if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation 

Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows: 

Day Count Fraction = 
[360 x (Y2- Y1)] + [30 x (M2 - M1)] + (D2 - D1) 

360
 

where: 

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls; 

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day 

included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation 

Period falls; 

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the 

last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such 

number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in 

the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30 

(vii) if “30E/360 (ISDA)” is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided 

by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows: 

Day Count Fraction = 
[360 x (Y2- Y1)] + [30 x (M2 - M1)] + (D2 - D1) 

360
 

where: 

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls; 

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day 

included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation 

Period falls; 

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the 

last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that 

day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in 

the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or 

(ii) such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30 

(viii) if “Actual/Actual-ICMA” is specified hereon, 
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if the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which it falls, 

the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in 

such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any 

year; and 

if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of: 

(x) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period in 

which it begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination 

Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and 

(y) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination Period 

divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) 

the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year 

where: 

“Determination Period” means the period from and including a Determination Date in any year 

to but excluding the next Determination Date and 

“Determination Date” means the date(s) specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, the 

Interest Payment Date(s) 

“EURIBOR” means the Euro-zone inter-bank offered rate 

“Euro-zone” means the region comprised of member states of the European Union that adopt the single 

currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended 

“Interest Accrual Period” means the period beginning on and including the Interest Commencement 

Date and ending on but excluding the first Interest Period Date and each successive period beginning on 

and including an Interest Period Date and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Period 

Date 

“Interest Amount” means: 

(i) in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount 

for that Interest Accrual Period and which, in the case of Fixed Rate Notes, and unless otherwise 

specified hereon, shall mean the Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount specified hereon as 

being payable on the Interest Payment Date ending the Interest Period of which such Interest 

Accrual Period forms part; and 

(ii) in respect of any other period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for that 

period 

“Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified hereon 

“Interest Determination Date” means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and Interest Accrual Period, 

the date specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, (i) the first day of such Interest Accrual 

Period if the Specified Currency is Sterling, (ii) the day falling two Business Days in London for the 

Specified Currency prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is 

neither Sterling nor euro, provided that if STIBOR is used, the day falling two Stockholm Business Days 

prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period and if NIBOR is used, the day falling two Oslo 

Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period or (iii) the day falling two TARGET 

Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is euro 

“Interest Period” means the period beginning on and including the Interest Commencement Date and 

ending on but excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on and 
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including an Interest Payment Date and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment 

Date unless otherwise specified thereon 

“Interest Period Date” means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified hereon 

“ISDA Definitions” means the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and 

Derivatives Association, Inc., unless otherwise specified hereon 

“LIBOR” means the London inter-bank offered rate 

“NIBOR” means the Norwegian inter-bank offered rate 

“Rate of Interest” means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of this Note and that 

is either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions specified hereon 

“Reference Banks” means, in the case of a determination of (a) LIBOR, the principal London office of 

four major banks in the London inter-bank market; (b) EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of four 

major banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank market; (c) STIBOR, the principal Stockholm office of four 

major banks in the Stockholm inter-bank market; or (d) NIBOR, the principal Oslo office of four major 

banks in the Norwegian inter-bank market, in each case selected by the Issuer and/ or the Guarantor 

“Reference Rate” means the rate specified as such hereon 

“Relevant Screen Page” means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular 

information service as may be specified hereon (or any successor or replacement page, section, option, 

column or other part of a particular information service) 

“Specified Currency” means the currency specified as such hereon or, if none is specified, the currency 

in which the Notes are denominated  

“STIBOR” means the Stockholm inter-bank offered rate  

“TARGET System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express 

Transfer (known as TARGET2) System which was launched on 19 November 2007 or any successor 

thereto. 

(i) Calculation Agent: The Issuer shall procure that there shall at all times be one or more Calculation 

Agents if provision is made for them hereon and for so long as any Note is outstanding. Where more 

than one Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in these Conditions to the 

Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent performing its respective duties under 

the Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent 

fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period or to calculate any Interest 

Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, as 

the case may be, or to comply with any other requirement, the Issuer shall appoint a leading financial 

institution engaged in the interbank market (or, if appropriate, money, swap or over-the-counter index 

options market) that is most closely connected with the calculation or determination to be made by the 

Calculation Agent (acting through its principal London office or any other office actively involved in 

such market) to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a 

successor having been appointed as aforesaid. 

(j) Benchmark discontinuation: 

(A) Independent Adviser 

If a Benchmark Event occurs in relation to an Original Reference Rate when any Rate of Interest 

(or any component part thereof) remains to be determined by reference to such Original Reference 

Rate, then the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint an Independent Adviser, as 

soon as reasonably practicable, to determine a Successor Rate, failing which an Alternative Rate 
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(in accordance with Condition 5(j)(B)) and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread if any (in 

accordance with Condition 5(j)(C)) and any Benchmark Amendments (in accordance with 

Condition 5(j)(D)). 

An Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 5(j) shall act in good faith and in a 

commercially reasonable manner as an expert. In the absence of bad faith or fraud, the 

Independent Adviser shall have no liability whatsoever to the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the 

Noteholders or the Couponholders for any determination made by it pursuant to this Condition 

5(j).  

If (i) the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser; or (ii) the Independent Adviser 

appointed by it fails to determine a Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Rate in 

accordance with this Condition 5(j)(A) prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date, the Rate 

of Interest applicable to the next succeeding Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the Rate of 

Interest last determined in relation to the Notes in respect of the immediately preceding Interest 

Accrual Period. If there has not been a first Interest Payment Date, the Rate of Interest shall be 

the initial Rate of Interest. Where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest 

is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last 

preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating 

to the relevant Interest Accrual Period shall be substituted in place of the Margin or Maximum or 

Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period. For the 

avoidance of doubt, this Condition 5(j)(A) shall apply to the relevant next succeeding Interest 

Accrual Period only and any subsequent Interest Accrual Periods are subject to the subsequent 

operation of, and to adjustment as provided in, this Condition 5(j)(A). 

(B) Successor Rate or Alternative Rate 

If the Independent Adviser, determines that: 

(i) there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate shall (subject to adjustment as 

provided in Condition 5(j)(C)) subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference 

Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for all future 

payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the operation of this Condition 5(j)); or 

(ii) there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate 

shall (subject to adjustment as provided in Condition 5(j)(C)) subsequently be used in 

place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant 

component part thereof) for all future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the 

operation of this Condition 5(j)).  

(C) Adjustment Spread 

If the Independent Adviser determines (i) that an Adjustment Spread is required to be applied to 

the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and (ii) the quantum of, or a 

formula or methodology for determining, such Adjustment Spread, then such Adjustment Spread 

shall be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be). 

(D) Benchmark Amendments  

If any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Adjustment Spread is determined in accordance with 

this Condition 5(j) and the Independent Adviser, determines (i) that amendments to these 

Conditions are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate, Alternative Rate 

and/or Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the “Benchmark Amendments”) and (ii) the 

terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer shall, subject to giving notice thereof in 

accordance with Condition 5(j)(E), without any requirement for the consent or approval of 
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Noteholders, vary these Conditions to give effect to such Benchmark Amendments with effect 

from the date specified in such notice.  

In connection with any such variation in accordance with this Condition 5(j)(D), the Issuer shall 

comply with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed or 

admitted to trading. 

(E) Notices, etc. 

Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any 

Benchmark Amendments, determined under this Condition 5(j) will be notified promptly by the 

Issuer to the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in accordance with Condition 14, the 

Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of the 

Benchmark Amendments, if any.  

(F) Survival of Original Reference Rate 

Without prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer under Condition 5(j) (A), (B), (C) and (D), the 

Original Reference Rate and the fallback provisions provided for in Condition 5(b)(iii)(B)(y) and 

(z) will continue to apply unless and until a Benchmark Event has occurred.  

(G) Definitions: 

As used in this Condition 5(j): 

“Adjustment Spread” means either a spread (which may be positive or negative), or the formula 

or methodology for calculating a spread, in either case, which the Independent Adviser 

determines is required to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case 

may be) to reduce or eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any 

economic prejudice or benefit (as the case may be) to Noteholders and Couponholders as a result 

of the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate 

(as the case may be) and is the spread, formula or methodology which: 

(i) in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the replacement 

of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating 

Body; or (if no such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate) 

(ii) the Independent Adviser, determines, is recognised or acknowledged as being the industry 

standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions which reference the Original 

Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the 

Alternative Rate (as the case may be); (or if the Issuer determines that no such industry 

standard is recognised or acknowledged) 

(iii) the Independent Adviser, determines to be appropriate. 

“Alternative Rate” means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Independent 

Adviser determines in accordance with Condition 5(j)(B) is customary in market usage in the 

international debt capital markets for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant 

component part thereof) in the same Specified Currency as the Notes. 

“Benchmark Amendments” has the meaning given to it in Condition 5(j)(D). 

“Benchmark Event” means: 

(1) the Original Reference Rate ceasing be published for a period of at least five Business 

Days or ceasing to exist; or 
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(2) a public statement by the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that it will, by a 

specified date within the following six months, cease publishing the Original Reference 

Rate permanently or indefinitely (in circumstances where no successor administrator 

has been appointed that will continue publication of the Original Reference Rate); or 

(3) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, 

that the Original Reference Rate has been or will, by a specified date within the 

following six months, be permanently or indefinitely discontinued; or 

(4) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate 

as a consequence of which the Original Reference Rate will be prohibited from being 

used either generally, or in respect of the Notes, in each case within the following six 

months; or 

(5) it has become unlawful for any Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, the Issuer or other 

party to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the Original 

Reference Rate. 

“Independent Adviser” means an independent financial institution of international repute or an 

independent financial adviser with appropriate expertise appointed by the Issuer under Condition 

5(j)(A). 

“Original Reference Rate” means the originally-specified benchmark or screen rate (as 

applicable) used to determine the Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) on the Notes. 

“Relevant Nominating Body” means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable): 

(i) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) 

relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for 

supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable); or 

(ii) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at 

the request of (a) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate 

(as applicable) relates, (b) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is 

responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as 

applicable), (c) a group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory 

authorities or (d) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof. 

“Successor Rate” means a successor to or replacement of the Original Reference Rate which is 

formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body. 

6 Redemption, Purchase and Options 

(a) Final Redemption: 

Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided below, each Note shall be finally 

redeemed on the Maturity Date specified hereon at its Final Redemption Amount (which, unless 

otherwise provided, is its nominal amount). 

(b) Early Redemption: 

(i) Zero Coupon Notes: 

(A) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note, upon 

redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(c), Condition 6(d) or Condition 6(e) or 

upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 shall be the Amortised 
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Face Amount (calculated as provided below) of such Note unless otherwise specified 

hereon. 

(B) Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (C) below, the Amortised Face Amount of any 

such Note shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity 

Date discounted at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation 

Yield (which, if none is shown hereon, shall be such rate as would produce an Amortised 

Face Amount equal to the issue price of the Notes if they were discounted back to their 

issue price on the Issue Date) compounded annually. 

(C) If the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon its redemption 

pursuant to Condition 6(c), Condition 6(d) or Condition 6(e) or upon it becoming due and 

payable as provided in Condition 10 is not paid when due, the Early Redemption Amount 

due and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such Note 

as defined in sub-paragraph (B) above, except that such sub-paragraph shall have effect 

as though the date on which the Note becomes due and payable were the Relevant Date. 

The calculation of the Amortised Face Amount in accordance with this sub-paragraph shall 

continue to be made (both before and after judgment) until the Relevant Date, unless the 

Relevant Date falls on or after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and 

payable shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity 

Date together with any interest that may accrue in accordance with Condition 5(c). 

Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made 

on the basis of the Day Count Fraction shown hereon. 

(ii) Other Notes: The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note (other than Notes 

described in paragraph (i) above), upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(c), 

Condition 6(d) or Condition 6(e) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 

10, shall be the Final Redemption Amount unless otherwise specified hereon. 

(c) Redemption for Taxation Reasons: The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, 

but not in part, on any Interest Payment Date (if this Note is a Floating Rate Note) or, at any time, (if 

this Note is not a Floating Rate Note), on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the 

Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), at their Early Redemption Amount (as described in 

Condition 6(b)) (together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption), if (i) the Issuer (or, if 

the Guarantee were called, the Guarantor) has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as 

provided or referred to in Condition 8 as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or 

regulations of the Kingdom of Sweden or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein 

having power to tax, or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, 

which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date on which agreement is reached to 

issue the first Tranche of the Notes and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer (or the 

Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable measures available to it, provided that no such notice 

of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer (or the 

Guarantor, as the case may be) would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in 

respect of the Notes (or the Guarantee, as the case may be) then due. Prior to the publication of any 

notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 6(c), the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a 

certificate signed by two duly authorised officers of the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) 

stating that the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) is entitled to effect such redemption and 

setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to 

redeem have occurred and an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect 

that the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) has or will become obliged to pay such additional 

amounts as a result of such change or amendment. 
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(d) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer: If Call Option is specified hereon, the Issuer may, on giving 

not less than 15 nor more than 30 days’ irrevocable notice to the Noteholders (or such other notice period 

as may be specified hereon) redeem, all or, if so provided, some, of the Notes on any Optional 

Redemption Date. Any such redemption of Notes shall be at their Optional Redemption Amount 

specified hereon (which may be the Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above)) 

together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption. Any such redemption must relate to Notes 

of a nominal amount at least equal to the Minimum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified 

hereon and no greater than the Maximum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified hereon. 

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date specified in such 

notice in accordance with this Condition.  

In the case of a partial redemption the notice to Noteholders shall also contain the certificate numbers of 

the Bearer Notes, or in the case of Registered Notes shall specify the nominal amount of Registered 

Notes drawn and the holder(s) of such Registered Notes, which shall have been drawn in such place and 

in such manner as may be fair and reasonable in the circumstances, taking account of prevailing market 

practices, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and stock exchange or other relevant authority 

requirements. 

(e) Redemption at the Option of Noteholders: If Put Option is specified hereon, the Issuer shall, at the 

option of the holder of any Note, upon the holder of such Note giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 

days’ notice to the Issuer (or such other notice period as may be specified hereon) redeem such Note on 

the Optional Redemption Date(s) at its Optional Redemption Amount specified hereon (which may be 

the Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above)), together (where applicable) with 

interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption. 

To exercise such option the holder must deposit (in the case of Bearer Notes) such Note (together with 

all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons) with any Paying Agent or (in the case of Registered 

Notes) the Certificate representing such Note(s) with the Registrar or any Transfer Agent at its specified 

office, together with a duly completed option exercise notice (“Exercise Notice”) in the form obtainable 

from any Paying Agent, the Registrar or any Transfer Agent (as applicable) within the notice period. No 

Note or Certificate so deposited and option exercised may be withdrawn (except as provided in the 

Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Issuer. 

(f) Redemption at the Option of Noteholders upon a Change of Control: If Change of Control Put Event 

is specified hereon and a Change of Control Put Event occurs, the holder of any such Note will have the 

option (a “Change of Control Put Option”) (unless prior to the giving of the relevant Change of Control 

Put Event Notice (as defined below) the Issuer has given notice of redemption under Condition 6(c) or 

6(d) above) to require the Issuer to redeem that Note on the Change of Control Put Date (as defined 

below) at its principal amount together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the Change of Control 

Put Date. 

A “Change of Control Put Event” will be deemed to occur if: 

(i) any person or group of persons acting in concert (as defined below), other than a Stenbeck Party 

or any group of persons acting in concert which group includes a Stenbeck Party, in each case 

either directly or indirectly, shall acquire ownership of, or otherwise control, one or more classes 

of the shares in the capital of the Issuer carrying in aggregate more than 50 per cent. of the voting 

rights normally exercisable at a general meeting of the Issuer (the “Change of Control”); and 

(ii) on the date (the “Relevant Announcement Date”) that is the earlier of (1) the date of the first 

public announcement of the relevant Change of Control and (2) the date of the earliest Relevant 

Potential Change of Control Announcement (if any), the Notes carry: 
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(A) an investment grade credit rating (Baa3/BBB-, or their respective equivalents, or better), 

from any Rating Agency whether provided by such Rating Agency at the invitation of the 

Issuer or by its own volition and such rating is, within the Change of Control Period, either 

downgraded to a non-investment grade credit rating (Ba1/BB+, or their respective 

equivalents, or worse) (a “Non-Investment Grade Rating”) or withdrawn and is not, within 

the Change of Control Period, subsequently (in the case of a downgrade) upgraded to an 

investment grade credit rating by such Rating Agency; or 

(B) a Non-Investment Grade Rating from any Rating Agency whether provided by such 

Rating Agency at the invitation of the Issuer or by its own volition and such rating is, 

within the Change of Control Period, either downgraded by one or more rating categories 

(from Baa1 to Baa2 being or such similar lowering) or withdrawn and is not, within the 

Change of Control Period, subsequently (in the case of a downgrade) upgraded to its 

earlier credit rating or better by such Rating Agency; or 

(C) no credit rating and a Negative Rating Event also occurs within the Change of Control 

Period, 

provided that if at the time of the occurrence of the Change of Control the Notes carry a 

credit rating from more than one Rating Agency, at least one of which is investment grade, 

then sub-paragraph (A) will apply; and 

(iii) in making any decision to downgrade or withdraw a credit rating pursuant to paragraphs (A) and 

(B) above or not to award a credit rating of at least investment grade as described in paragraph 

(ii) of the definition of Negative Rating Event, the relevant Rating Agency announces publicly or 

confirms in writing to the Issuer that such decision(s) resulted, in whole or in part, from the 

occurrence of the Change of Control or the Relevant Potential Change of Control Announcement. 

Further, if at the time of the occurrence of the Change of Control the Notes carry a Non-Investment 

Grade Rating or no credit rating, a Change of Control Put Event will be deemed to occur upon the 

occurrence of a Change of Control alone. 

Promptly upon the Issuer becoming aware that a Change of Control Put Event has occurred the Issuer 

shall give notice (a “Change of Control Put Event Notice”) to the Noteholders in accordance with 

Condition 14 giving details of the relevant Change of Control Put Event and the procedure for exercising 

the Change of Control Put Option. 

To exercise the Change of Control Put Option, the holder of a Bearer Note must deliver such Note to the 

specified office of any Paying Agent at any time during normal business hours of such Paying Agent 

falling within the period (the “Change of Control Put Period”) of 30 days after a Change of Control 

Put Event Notice is given, accompanied by a duly signed and completed notice of exercise in the form 

(for the time being current) obtainable from the specified office of any Paying Agent (a “Change of 

Control Put Notice”). The Note should be delivered together (if applicable) with all Coupons 

appertaining thereto maturing after the date which is seven days after the expiration of the Change of 

Control Put Period (the “Change of Control Put Date”), failing which the Paying Agent will require 

payment from or on behalf of the Noteholder of an amount equal to the face value of any missing such 

Coupon. Any amount so paid will be reimbursed to the Noteholder against presentation and surrender of 

the relevant missing Coupon (or any replacement therefor issued pursuant to Condition 12) at any time 

after such payment, but before the expiry of the period of five years from the Relevant Date, but not 

thereafter. The Paying Agent to which such Note and Change of Control Put Notice are delivered will 

issue to the Noteholder concerned a non-transferable receipt in respect of the Note so delivered. Payment 

in respect of any Note so delivered will be made, if the holder duly specified a bank account in the 

Change of Control Put Notice to which payment is to be made, on the Change of Control Put Date by 

transfer to that bank account and, in every other case, on or after the Change of Control Put Date against 
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presentation and surrender or (as the case may be) endorsement of such receipt at the specified office of 

any Paying Agent. A Change of Control Put Notice, once given, shall be irrevocable.  

To exercise the Change of Control Put Option, the holder of a Registered Note must deposit the 

Certificate evidencing such Note with the Registrar or any Transfer Agent at its specified office, together 

with a duly signed and completed Change of Control Put Notice obtainable from the Registrar or any 

Transfer Agent within the Change of Control Put Period. No Certificate so deposited and option so 

exercised may be withdrawn without the prior consent of the Issuer. Payment in respect of any Certificate 

so deposited will be made, if the holder duly specified a bank account in the Change of Control Put 

Notice to which payment is to be made, on the Change of Control Put Date by transfer to that bank 

account and, in every other case, by cheque drawn on a Bank and mailed to the holder (or to the first 

named of joint holders) of such Note at its address appearing in the Register.  

The Issuer shall redeem the relevant Notes on the Change of Control Put Date unless previously 

redeemed and cancelled. 

If 85 per cent. or more in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding have been redeemed pursuant 

to this Condition 6(f), the Issuer may, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the 

Noteholders (such notice being given within 30 days after the Change of Control Put Date), redeem all 

but not some only of the remaining outstanding Notes at their principal amount, together with interest 

accrued to (but excluding) the date fixed for such redemption. 

If the rating designations employed by any of Moody’s, S&P or Fitch are changed from those which are 

described in paragraph (ii) of the definition of “Change of Control Put Event” above, or if a rating is 

procured from a Substitute Rating Agency, the Issuer shall determine, the rating designations of 

Moody’s, S&P or Fitch or such Substitute Rating Agency (as appropriate) as are most equivalent to the 

prior rating designations of Moody’s, S&P or Fitch and this Condition 6(f) shall be construed 

accordingly. 

In this Condition 6(f): 

“acting in concert” means a group of persons who, pursuant to an agreement or understanding (whether 

formal or informal) actively co-operate, through the acquisition of shares in the Issuer, to obtain control 

of the Issuer; 

“Change of Control Period” means the period commencing on the Relevant Announcement Date and 

ending 90 days after the Change of Control (or such longer period for which the Notes are under 

consideration (such consideration having been announced publicly within the period ending 90 days 

after the Change of Control) for rating review or, as the case may be, rating by a Rating Agency, such 

period not to exceed 60 days after the public announcement of such consideration); 

a “Negative Rating Event” shall be deemed to have occurred if at such time as there is no rating assigned 

to the Notes by a Rating Agency (i) the Issuer does not, either prior to, or not later than 21 days after, 

the occurrence of the Change of Control seek, and thereafter throughout the Change of Control Period 

use all reasonable endeavours to obtain, a rating of the Notes, or any other unsecured and unsubordinated 

debt of the Issuer or (ii) if the Issuer does so seek and use such endeavours, it is unable to obtain such a 

rating of at least investment grade by the end of the Change of Control Period; 

“Rating Agency” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”), Standard & Poor’s Rating 

Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. (“S&P”) or Fitch Ratings Limited (“Fitch”) 

or any of their respective successors or any rating agency (a “Substitute Rating Agency”) substituted 

for any of them by the Issuer from time to time; 

“Relevant Potential Change of Control Announcement” means any public announcement or 

statement by the Issuer, any actual or potential bidder or any adviser acting on behalf of any actual or 
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potential bidder relating to any potential Change of Control where within 180 days following the date 

of such announcement or statement, a Change of Control occurs; and 

“Stenbeck Party” means the estate of Mr. Jan Stenbeck or any of his siblings, uncles, aunts, children, 

grandchildren or remoter issue or any spouse of any of the foregoing persons or the executors, trustees 

or other legal representatives of the estate or any assets of any of the foregoing persons; including, for 

the avoidance of doubt, Investment AB Kinnevik (publ) or any of its subsidiaries and/or companies, 

trusts or other legal entities controlled (in relation to any such company, by way of capital and/or voting 

power) by one or more Stenbeck Parties. 

(g) Purchases: The Issuer and its Subsidiaries may at any time purchase Notes (provided that all unmatured 

Coupons and unexchanged Talons relating thereto are attached thereto or surrendered therewith) in the 

open market or otherwise at any price. 

In these Conditions “Subsidiary” means any entity whose financial statements at any time are required 

by law or in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles to be fully consolidated with 

those of the Issuer. 

(h) Cancellation: All Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may be 

surrendered for cancellation, in the case of Bearer Notes, by surrendering each such Note together with 

all unmatured Coupons and all unexchanged Talons to the Fiscal Agent and, in the case of Registered 

Notes, by surrendering the Certificate representing such Notes to the Registrar and, in each case, if so 

surrendered, shall, together with all Notes redeemed by the Issuer, be cancelled forthwith (together with 

all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). Any Notes 

so surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer and the 

Guarantor in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged. 

7 Payments and Talons 

(a) Bearer Notes: Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes shall, subject as mentioned 

below, be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Notes (in the case of all payments of 

principal and, in the case of interest, as specified in Condition 7(f)(v)) or Coupons (in the case of interest, 

save as specified in Condition 7(f)(v)), as the case may be, at the specified office of any Paying Agent 

outside the United States by a cheque payable in the relevant currency drawn on, or, at the option of the 

holder, by transfer to an account denominated in such currency with, a Bank. “Bank” means a bank in 

the principal financial centre for such currency or, in the case of euro, in a city in which banks have 

access to the TARGET System. 

(b) Registered Notes: 

(i) Payments of principal in respect of Registered Notes shall be made against presentation and 

surrender of the relevant Certificates at the specified office of any of the Transfer Agents or of 

the Registrar and in the manner provided in paragraph (ii) below. 

(ii) Interest on Registered Notes shall be paid to the person shown on the Register at the close of 

business on the fifteenth day before the due date for payment thereof (the “Record Date”). 

Payments of interest on each Registered Note shall be made in the relevant currency by cheque 

drawn on a Bank and mailed to the holder (or to the first-named of joint holders) of such Note at 

its address appearing in the Register. Upon application by the holder to the specified office of the 

Registrar or any Transfer Agent before the Record Date, such payment of interest may be made 

by transfer to an account in the relevant currency maintained by the payee with a Bank. 

(c) Payments in the United States: Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Bearer Notes are denominated 

in U.S. dollars, payments in respect thereof may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in 

New York City in the same manner as aforesaid if (i) the Issuer shall have appointed one or more Paying 
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Agents with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying 

Agent(s) would be able to make payment of the amounts on the Notes in the manner provided above 

when due, (ii) payment in full of such amounts at all such offices is illegal or effectively precluded by 

exchange controls or other similar restrictions on payment or receipt of such amounts and (iii) such 

payment is then permitted by United States law, without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, any 

adverse tax consequence to the Issuer. 

(d) Payments Subject to Laws: All payments are subject in all cases to (i) any applicable laws, regulations 

and directives in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8, and (ii) 

any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the 

Code or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or 

agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, or (without prejudice to the provisions of 

Condition 8) any law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto. No commission or expenses 

shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of any payments. 

(e) Appointment of Agents: The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents and 

the Calculation Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and the Guarantor and their respective specified 

offices are listed below. The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, Transfer Agents and the 

Calculation Agent(s) act solely as agents of the Issuer and the Guarantor and do not assume any 

obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any Noteholder or Couponholder. The Issuer and 

the Guarantor reserve the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Fiscal Agent, any 

other Paying Agent, the Registrar, any Transfer Agent or the Calculation Agent(s) and to appoint 

additional or other Paying Agents or Transfer Agents provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain 

(i) a Fiscal Agent, (ii) a Registrar in relation to Registered Notes, (iii) a Transfer Agent in relation to 

Registered Notes, (iv) one or more Calculation Agent(s) where the Conditions so require, (v) Paying 

Agents having specified offices in at least two major European cities and (vi) such other agents as may 

be required by any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be listed. 

In addition, the Issuer and the Guarantor shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York City in 

respect of any Bearer Notes denominated in U.S. dollars in the circumstances described in Condition 

7(c). 

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office shall promptly be given to the 

Noteholders. 

(f) Unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons: 

(i) Upon the due date for redemption of Bearer Notes which comprise Fixed Rate Notes, those Notes 

should be surrendered for payment together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) relating thereto, 

failing which an amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the 

case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured 

Coupon that the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal due) shall be deducted from 

the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, as 

the case may be, due for payment. Any amount so deducted shall be paid in the manner mentioned 

above against surrender of such missing Coupon within a period of 10 years from the Relevant 

Date for the payment of such principal (whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant 

to Condition 9). 

(ii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note comprising a Floating Rate Note, 

unmatured Coupons relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no 

payment shall be made in respect of them. 
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(iii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such 

Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered in respect of 

such Talon. 

(iv) Where any Bearer Note that provides that the relative unmatured Coupons are to become void 

upon the due date for redemption of those Notes is presented for redemption without all 

unmatured Coupons, and where any Bearer Note is presented for redemption without any 

unexchanged Talon relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the provision of such 

indemnity as the Issuer may require. 

(v) If the due date for redemption of any Note is not a due date for payment of interest, interest 

accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or the Interest Commencement Date, 

as the case may be, shall only be payable against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of 

the relevant Bearer Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be. Interest accrued on a 

Note that only bears interest after its Maturity Date shall be payable on redemption of such Note 

against presentation of the relevant Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be. 

(g) Talons: On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet 

issued in respect of any Bearer Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered 

at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (and, if necessary, 

another Talon for a further Coupon sheet) (but excluding any Coupons that may have become void 

pursuant to Condition 9). 

(h) Non-Business Days: If any date for payment in respect of any Note or Coupon is not a business day, the 

holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following business day nor to any interest or other 

sum in respect of such postponed payment. In this paragraph, “business day” means a day (other than a 

Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in the 

relevant place of presentation, in such jurisdictions as shall be specified as “Financial Centres” hereon 

and: 

(i) (in the case of a payment in a currency other than euro) where payment is to be made by transfer 

to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign exchange 

transactions may be carried on in the relevant currency in the principal financial centre of the 

country of such currency or 

(ii) (in the case of a payment in euro) which is a TARGET Business Day. 

8 Taxation 

All payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor in respect of the Notes and 

the Coupons or under the Guarantee shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, 

any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld 

or assessed by or within the Kingdom of Sweden or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein 

having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the Issuer (or the 

Guarantor, as the case may be) shall pay such additional amounts as shall result in receipt by the Noteholders 

and the Couponholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or 

deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note or 

Coupon: 

(a) Other connection: to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is liable to such taxes, duties, 

assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of his having some 

connection with the Kingdom of Sweden other than the mere holding of the Note or Coupon or 

(b) Presentation more than 30 days after the Relevant Date: presented (or in respect of which the 

Certificate representing it is presented) for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to 
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the extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting it for 

payment on the thirtieth such day. 

As used in these Conditions (and save as provided in Condition 9), “Relevant Date” in respect of any Note or 

Coupon means the date on which payment in respect of it first becomes due or (if any amount of the money 

payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made 

or (if earlier) the date seven days after that on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders that, upon further 

presentation of the Note (or relative Certificate) or Coupon being made in accordance with the Conditions, such 

payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation. References in these 

Conditions to (i) “principal” shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, Final 

Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts, Amortised Face Amounts 

and all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to Condition 6 or any amendment or 

supplement to it, (ii) “interest” shall be deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable 

pursuant to Condition 5 or any amendment or supplement to it and (iii) “principal” or “interest” shall be 

deemed to include any additional amounts that may be payable under this Condition. 

9 Prescription 

Claims against the Issuer and/or the Guarantor for payment in respect of the Notes and Coupons (which for this 

purpose shall not include Talons) shall be prescribed and become void unless made within 10 years (in the case 

of principal) or five years (in the case of interest) from the applicable Relevant Date in respect of them.  

10 Events of Default 

If any of the following events (“Events of Default”) occurs, the holder of any Note may give written notice to 

the Fiscal Agent at its specified office that such Note is immediately repayable, whereupon the Early 

Redemption Amount of such Note together (if applicable) with accrued interest to the date of payment shall 

become immediately due and payable: 

(a) Non-Payment: default is made for more than 14 days in the payment on the due date of interest or 

principal in respect of any Note or 

(b) Breach of Other Obligations: the Issuer or the Guarantor does not perform or comply with any one or 

more of its other obligations in respect of the Notes which default is incapable of remedy or is not 

remedied within 30 days after written notice of such default shall have been given to the Fiscal Agent at 

its specified office by any Noteholder or 

(c) Cross-Default: (A) any other Indebtedness for Borrowed Money of the Issuer or the Guarantor becomes 

due and payable prior to its stated maturity by reason of any actual or potential default, event of default 

or the like (howsoever described), or (B) any such Indebtedness for Borrowed Money is not paid when 

due or, as the case may be, within any originally applicable grace period, or (C) the Issuer or the 

Guarantor fails to pay when due any amount payable by it under any present or future guarantee for, or 

indemnity in respect of, any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money provided that the aggregate amount of 

the relevant Indebtedness for Borrowed Money, guarantees and indemnities in respect of which one or 

more of the events mentioned above in this paragraph (c) have occurred equals or exceeds the higher of 

SEK400,000,000 or Euro40,000,000 or its equivalent (on the basis of the middle spot rate for the relevant 

currency against the euro as quoted by any leading bank on the day on which this paragraph operates) 

or 

(d) Enforcement Proceedings: a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is levied, enforced 

or sued out on or against any part of the property, assets or revenues of the Issuer or the Guarantor and 

is not discharged or stayed within 60 days or 

(e) Security Enforced: any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance, present or future with 

respect to all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer or the Guarantor becomes enforceable and 
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any step is taken to enforce it (including the taking of possession or the appointment of a receiver, 

administrative receiver, administrator manager or other similar person) and is not discharged within 60 

days or 

(f) Insolvency: the Issuer or the Guarantor is (or is, or could be, deemed by law or a court to be) insolvent 

or bankrupt or unable to pay its debts, stops, suspends or threatens to stop or suspend payment of all or 

a material part of its debts, proposes or makes a general assignment or an arrangement or composition 

with or for the benefit of the relevant creditors in respect of any of such debts or a moratorium is agreed 

or declared or comes into effect in respect of or affecting all or any part of (or of a particular type of) the 

debts of the Issuer or the Guarantor or 

(g) Winding-up: an administrator is appointed, an order is made or an effective resolution passed for the 

winding-up or dissolution or administration of the Issuer or the Guarantor, or the Issuer or the Guarantor 

applies or petitions for a winding-up or administration order in respect of itself (save for a solvent merger 

(Sw. fusion)) or ceases to carry on all or substantially all of its business or operations, in each case except 

for the purpose of and followed by a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger or 

consolidation on terms approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders or 

(h) Authorisation and Consents: any action, condition or thing (including the obtaining or effecting of any 

necessary consent, approval, authorisation, exemption, filing, licence, order, recording or registration) 

at any time required to be taken, fulfilled or done in order (i) to enable the Issuer lawfully to enter into, 

exercise its rights and perform and comply with its obligations under the Notes, (ii) to ensure that those 

obligations are legally binding and enforceable and (iii) to make the Notes admissible in evidence in the 

courts of England is not taken, fulfilled or done or 

(i) Illegality: it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any one or more of its 

obligations under any of the Notes or 

(j) Guarantee: the Guarantee is not or ceases to be (or is claimed by the Guarantor not to be) in full force 

and effect or 

(k) Analogous Events: any event occurs that under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction has an analogous 

effect to any of the events referred to in any of the foregoing paragraphs. 

In these Conditions, “Indebtedness for Borrowed Money” means any present or future indebtedness (whether 

being principal, premium, interest or other amounts) for or in respect of (i) money borrowed or (ii) liabilities 

under or in respect of any acceptance or acceptance credit. 

11 Meeting of Noteholders and Modifications 

(a) Meetings of Noteholders: The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of 

Noteholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary 

Resolution (as defined in the Agency Agreement) of a modification of any of these Conditions. Such a 

meeting may be convened by Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in nominal amount of the 

Notes for the time being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting convened to consider an 

Extraordinary Resolution shall be two or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in 

nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting two or more 

persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the Notes held or 

represented, unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of proposals, inter alia, (i) to 

amend the dates of maturity or redemption of the Notes or any date for payment of interest or Interest 

Amounts on the Notes, (ii) to reduce or cancel the nominal amount of, or any premium payable on 

redemption of, the Notes, (iii) to reduce the rate or rates of interest in respect of the Notes or to vary the 

method or basis of calculating the rate or rates or amount of interest or the basis for calculating any 

Interest Amount in respect of the Notes, (iv) if a Minimum and/or a Maximum Rate of Interest or 
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Redemption Amount is shown hereon, to reduce any such Minimum and/or Maximum, (v) to vary any 

method of, or basis for, calculating the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption Amount or the 

Optional Redemption Amount, including the method of calculating the Amortised Face Amount, (vi) to 

vary the currency or currencies of payment or denomination of the Notes, (vii) to modify the provisions 

concerning the quorum required at any meeting of Noteholders or the majority required to pass the 

Extraordinary Resolution or (viii) to modify or cancel the Guarantee, in which case the necessary quorum 

shall be two or more persons holding or representing not less than 75 per cent. or at any adjourned 

meeting not less than 25 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. Any 

Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be binding on Noteholders (whether or not they were present 

at the meeting at which such resolution was passed) and on all Couponholders. 

The Agency Agreement provides that a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of not 

less than 75 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes outstanding shall for all purposes be as valid and 

effective as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened and held. 

Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in the same form, 

each signed by or on behalf of one or more Noteholders. 

(b) Modification of Agency Agreement: The Issuer and the Guarantor shall only permit any modification 

of, or any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of or any failure to comply with, the 

Agency Agreement, if to do so could not reasonably be expected to be prejudicial to the interests of the 

Noteholders. 

12 Replacement of Notes, Certificates, Coupons and Talons 

If a Note, Certificate, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, 

subject to applicable laws, regulations and stock exchange or other relevant authority regulations, at the 

specified office of the Paying Agent in Luxembourg (in the case of Bearer Notes, Coupons or Talons) and of 

the Registrar (in the case of Certificates) or such other Paying Agent or Transfer Agent, as the case may be, as 

may from time to time be designated by the Issuer for the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to 

Noteholders, in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith 

and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may provide, inter alia, that if the allegedly 

lost, stolen or destroyed Note, Certificate, Coupon or Talon is subsequently presented for payment or, as the 

case may be, for exchange for further Coupons, there shall be paid to the Issuer on demand the amount payable 

by the Issuer in respect of such Notes, Certificates, Coupons or further Coupons) and otherwise as the Issuer 

may require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Certificates, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before 

replacements will be issued. 

13 Further Issues 

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders create and issue 

further notes having the same terms and conditions as the Notes (so that, for the avoidance of doubt, references 

in these Conditions to “Issue Date” shall be to the first issue date of the Notes) and so that the same shall be 

consolidated and form a single series with such Notes, and references in these Conditions to “Notes” shall be 

construed accordingly. 

14 Notices 

Notices to the holders of Registered Notes shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses in the Register 

and deemed to have been given on the fourth weekday (being a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday) after 

the date of mailing. Notices to the holders of Bearer Notes shall be valid if published in a daily newspaper of 

general circulation in London (which is expected to be the Financial Times). So long as the Notes are listed on 

the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, notices to holders of the Notes shall also be published either on the website 

of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) or in a daily newspaper with general circulation in 

Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort). If any such publication is not practicable, notice 
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shall be validly given if published in another leading daily English language newspaper with general circulation 

in Europe. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published 

more than once or on different dates, on the date of the first publication as provided above. 

Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the holders 

of Bearer Notes in accordance with this Condition. 

15 Currency Indemnity 

Any amount received or recovered in a currency other than the currency in which payment under the relevant 

Note or Coupon is due (whether as a result of, or of the enforcement of, a judgment or order of a court of any 

jurisdiction, in the insolvency, winding-up or dissolution of the Issuer or the Guarantor or otherwise) by any 

Noteholder or Couponholder in respect of any sum expressed to be due to it from the Issuer or the Guarantor, 

as the case may be, shall only constitute a discharge to the Issuer or the Guarantor to the extent of the amount 

in the currency of payment under the relevant Note or Coupon that the recipient is able to purchase with the 

amount so received or recovered in that other currency on the date of that receipt or recovery (or, if it is not 

practicable to make that purchase on that date, on the first date on which it is practicable to do so). If the amount 

received or recovered is less than the amount expressed to be due to the recipient under any Note or Coupon, 

the Issuer, failing whom the Guarantor, shall indemnify it against any loss sustained by it as a result. In any 

event, the Issuer, failing whom the Guarantor, shall indemnify the recipient against the cost of making any such 

purchase. For the purposes of this Condition, it shall be sufficient for the Noteholder or Couponholder, as the 

case may be, to demonstrate that it would have suffered a loss had an actual purchase been made. These 

indemnities constitute a separate and independent obligation from the Issuer’s or the Guarantor’s other 

obligations, shall give rise to a separate and independent cause of action, shall apply irrespective of any 

indulgence granted by any Noteholder or Couponholder and shall continue in full force and effect despite any 

other judgment, order, claim or proof for a liquidated amount in respect of any sum due under any Note or 

Coupon or any other judgment or order. 

16 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under the Contracts (Rights of 

Third Parties) Act 1999. 

17 Governing Law and Jurisdiction 

(a) Governing Law: The Notes, the Coupons and the Talons, and any non-contractual obligations arising 

out of or in connection with them are, governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English 

law, save that the provisions of Condition 3(c) (and related provisions of the Deed of Guarantee) relating 

to limitation of the obligations of the Guarantor are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance 

with, Swedish law.  

(b) Jurisdiction: The Courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of 

or in connection with any Notes, Coupons or Talons and accordingly any legal action or proceedings 

arising out of or in connection with any Notes, Coupons or Talons (“Proceedings”) may be brought in 

such courts. Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of 

England and waives any objection to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue or on the ground 

that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum. These submissions are made for the 

benefit of each of the holders of the Notes, Coupons and Talons and shall not affect the right of any of 

them to take Proceedings in any other court of competent jurisdiction nor shall the taking of Proceedings 

in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether 

concurrently or not). 

(c) Service of Process: Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor irrevocably appoints Business Sweden of 5 

Upper Montagu Street, London W1H 2AG as its agent in England to receive, for it and on its behalf, 
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service of process in any Proceedings in England. Such service shall be deemed completed on delivery 

to such process agent (whether or not, it is forwarded to and received by the Issuer or the Guarantor). If 

for any reason such process agent ceases to be able to act as such or no longer has an address in London, 

each of the Issuer and the Guarantor irrevocably agrees to appoint a substitute process agent and shall 

immediately notify Noteholders of such appointment in accordance with Condition 14. Nothing in this 

condition shall affect the right to serve process in any manner permitted by law. 
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USE OF PROCEEDS 

The net proceeds from the issue of each Tranche of Notes will be applied by the Issuer for general corporate 

purposes. 
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OVERVIEW OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM 

1 Initial Issue of Notes 

If the Global Notes or the Global Certificates are stated in the applicable Final Terms to be issued in NGN form 

or to be held under the NSS (as the case may be), the Global Notes or the Global Certificates will be delivered 

on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a Common Safekeeper. Depositing the Global Notes or 

the Global Certificates with the Common Safekeeper does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be 

recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the 

Eurosystem either upon issue, or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon 

satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria. 

Global Notes which are issued in CGN form and Global Certificates which are not held under the NSS may be 

delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a Common Depositary. 

If the Global Note is a CGN, upon the initial deposit of a Global Note with a common depositary for Euroclear 

and Clearstream, Luxembourg (the “Common Depositary”), Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will credit 

each subscriber with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed 

and paid. If the Global Note is an NGN, the nominal amount of the Notes shall be the aggregate amount from 

time to time entered in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg. The records of such clearing 

system shall be conclusive evidence of the nominal amount of Notes represented by the Global Note and a 

statement issued by such clearing system at any time shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the relevant 

clearing system at that time. 

Upon the registration of the Global Certificate in the name of any nominee for Euroclear and Clearstream, 

Luxembourg and delivery of the Global Certificate to the Common Depositary or Common Safekeeper, as the 

case may be, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will credit each subscriber with a nominal amount of Notes 

equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid. 

Notes that are initially deposited with the Common Depositary may also be credited to the accounts of 

subscribers with (if indicated in the relevant Final Terms) other clearing systems through direct or indirect 

accounts with Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg held by such other clearing systems. Conversely, Notes 

that are initially deposited with any other clearing system may similarly be credited to the accounts of 

subscribers with Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or other clearing systems. 

2 Relationship of Accountholders with Clearing Systems 

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other permitted 

clearing system (“Alternative Clearing System”) as the holder of a Note represented by a Global Note or a 

Global Certificate must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any such Alternative Clearing 

System (as the case may be) for his share of each payment made by the Issuer to the bearer of such Global Note 

or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, and in relation to all other rights arising 

under the Global Notes or Global Certificates, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and 

procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, or such Alternative Clearing System (as the case may be). 

Such persons shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due on the Notes for so long 

as the Notes are represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate and such obligations of the Issuer will 

be discharged by payment to the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, 

as the case may be, in respect of each amount so paid. 
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3 Exchange 

3.1 Temporary Global Notes 

Each temporary Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its Exchange 

Date: 

(i) if the relevant Final Terms indicates that such Global Note is issued in compliance with TEFRA 

C or in a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable (as to which, see “General Description of 

the Programme – Selling Restrictions”), in whole, but not in part, for the Definitive Notes defined 

and described below; and 

(ii) otherwise, in whole or in part upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form 

set out in the Agency Agreement for interests in a permanent Global Note or, if so provided in 

the relevant Final Terms, for Definitive Notes. 

3.2 Permanent Global Notes 

Each permanent Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its Exchange 

Date in whole but not, except as provided in paragraph 3.4 below, in part for Definitive Notes: 

(i) if the permanent Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or an 

Alternative Clearing System and any such clearing system is closed for business for a continuous 

period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an 

intention permanently to cease business or in fact does so ; or  

(ii) if principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due, by the holder giving notice to the Fiscal 

Agent of its election for such exchange.  

In the event that a Global Note is exchanged for Definitive Notes, such Definitive Notes shall be issued 

in Specified Denomination(s) only. A Noteholder who holds a principal amount of less than the minimum 

Specified Denomination will not receive a Definitive Note in respect of such holding and would need to 

purchase a principal amount of Notes such that it holds an amount equal to one or more Specified 

Denominations. 

3.3 Permanent Global Certificates 

If the Final Terms state that the Notes are to be represented by a permanent Global Certificate on issue, 

the following will apply in respect of transfers of Notes held in Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg 

or an Alternative Clearing System. These provisions will not prevent the trading of interests in the Notes 

within a clearing system whilst they are held on behalf of such clearing system, but will limit the 

circumstances in which the Notes may be withdrawn from the relevant clearing system.  

Transfers of the holding of Notes represented by any Global Certificate pursuant to Condition 2(b) may 

only be made in part: 

(i) if the relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other 

than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to 

cease business or does in fact do so; or 

(ii) if principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due; or 

(iii) with the consent of the Issuer, 

provided that, in the case of the first transfer of part of a holding pursuant to paragraph 3.3(i) or 3.3(ii) 

above, the Registered Holder has given the Registrar not less than 30 days’ notice at its specified office 

of the Registered Holder’s intention to effect such transfer. 
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3.4 Partial Exchange of Permanent Global Notes 

For so long as a permanent Global Note is held on behalf of a clearing system and the rules of that 

clearing system permit, such permanent Global Note will be exchangeable in part on one or more 

occasions for Definitive Notes if principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due. 

3.5 Delivery of Notes 

If the Global Note is a CGN, on or after any due date for exchange, the holder of a Global Note may 

surrender such Global Note or, in the case of a partial exchange, present it for endorsement to or to the 

order of the Fiscal Agent. In exchange for any Global Note, or the part thereof to be exchanged, the 

Issuer will (i) in the case of a temporary Global Note exchangeable for a permanent Global Note, deliver, 

or procure the delivery of, a permanent Global Note in an aggregate nominal amount equal to that of the 

whole or that part of a temporary Global Note that is being exchanged or, in the case of a subsequent 

exchange, endorse, or procure the endorsement of, a permanent Global Note to reflect such exchange or 

(ii) in the case of a Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes, deliver, or procure the delivery of, 

an equal aggregate nominal amount of duly executed and authenticated Definitive Notes or if the Global 

Note is an NGN, the Issuer will procure that details of such exchange be entered pro rata in the records 

of the relevant clearing system. In this Prospectus, “Definitive Notes” means, in relation to any Global 

Note, the definitive Bearer Notes for which such Global Note may be exchanged (if appropriate, having 

attached to them all Coupons in respect of interest that have not already been paid on the Global Note 

and a Talon). Definitive Notes will be security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock 

exchange requirements in or substantially in the form set out in the Schedules to the Agency Agreement. 

On exchange in full of each permanent Global Note, the Issuer will, if the holder so requests, procure 

that it is cancelled and returned to the holder together with the relevant Definitive Notes. 

3.6 Exchange Date 

“Exchange Date” means, in relation to a temporary Global Note, the day falling after the expiry of 40 

days after its issue date and, in relation to a permanent Global Note, a day falling not less than 60 days, 

or in the case of failure to pay principal in respect of any Notes when due 30 days, after that on which 

the notice requiring exchange is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the 

specified office of the Fiscal Agent is located and in the city in which the relevant clearing system is 

located. 

4 Amendment to Conditions 

The temporary Global Notes, permanent Global Notes and Global Certificates contain provisions that apply to 

the Notes that they represent, some of which modify the effect of the terms and conditions of the Notes set out 

in this Prospectus. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions: 

4.1 Payments 

No payment falling due after the Exchange Date will be made on any Global Note unless exchange for 

an interest in a permanent Global Note or for Definitive Notes is improperly withheld or refused. 

Payments on any temporary Global Note issued in compliance with TEFRA D before the Exchange Date 

will only be made against presentation of certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form 

set out in the Agency Agreement. All payments in respect of Notes represented by a Global Note in CGN 

form will be made against presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment falls to be made in 

respect of the Notes, surrender of that Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent or such other 

Paying Agent as shall have been notified to the Noteholders for such purpose. If the Global Note is an 

NGN or if the Global Certificate is held under the NSS, the Issuer shall procure that details of each such 

payment shall be entered pro rata in the records of the relevant clearing system and in the case of 
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payments of principal, the nominal amount of the Notes recorded in the records of the relevant clearing 

system and represented by the Global Note or the Global Certificate will be reduced accordingly. 

Payments under an NGN will be made to its holder. Each payment so made will discharge the Issuer’s 

obligations in respect thereof. Any failure to make the entries in the records of the relevant clearing 

system shall not affect such discharge. For the purpose of any payments made in respect of a Global 

Note, the relevant place of presentation shall be disregarded in the definition of “business day” set out 

in Condition 7(h) (Non-Business Days). 

All payments in respect of Notes represented by a Global Certificate will be made to, or to the order of, 

the person whose name is entered on the Register at the close of business on the record date which shall 

be on the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the date for payment, where Clearing 

System Business Day means Monday to Friday inclusive except 25 December and 1 January. 

4.2 Prescription 

Claims against the Issuer in respect of Notes that are represented by a permanent Global Note will 

become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and 

five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in Conditions 8 and 

9). 

4.3 Meetings 

The holder of a permanent Global Note or of the Notes represented by a Global Certificate shall (unless 

such permanent Global Note or Global Certificate represents only one Note) be treated as being two 

persons for the purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Noteholders and, at any such 

meeting, the holder of a permanent Global Note shall be treated as having one vote in respect of each 

integral currency unit of the Specified Currency of the Notes. (All holders of Registered Notes are 

entitled to one vote in respect of each integral currency unit of the Specified Currency of the Notes 

comprising such Noteholder’s holding, whether or not represented by a Global Certificate.) 

4.4 Cancellation 

Cancellation of any Note represented by a permanent Global Note that is required by the Conditions to 

be cancelled (other than upon its redemption) will be effected by reduction in the nominal amount of the 

relevant permanent Global Note. 

4.5 Purchase 

Notes represented by a permanent Global Note may only be purchased by the Issuer or any of its 

subsidiaries if they are purchased together with the rights to receive all future payments of interest 

thereon. 

4.6 Issuer’s Option 

Any option of the Issuer provided for in the Conditions of any Notes while such Notes are represented 

by a permanent Global Note shall be exercised by the Issuer giving notice to the Noteholders within the 

time limits set out in and containing the information required by the Conditions, except that the notice 

shall not be required to contain the serial numbers of Notes drawn in the case of a partial exercise of an 

option and accordingly no drawing of Notes shall be required. In the event that any option of the Issuer 

is exercised in respect of some but not all of the Notes of any Series, the rights of accountholders with a 

clearing system in respect of the Notes will be governed by the standard procedures of Euroclear and/or 

Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as 

either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion) or any other Alternative 

Clearing System (as the case may be). 



 

60 

 

4.7 Noteholders’ Options 

Any option of the Noteholders provided for in the Conditions of any Notes while such Notes are 

represented by a permanent Global Note may be exercised by the holder of the permanent Global Note 

giving notice to the Fiscal Agent within the time limits relating to the deposit of Notes with a Paying 

Agent set out in the Conditions substantially in the form of the notice available from any Paying Agent, 

except that the notice shall not be required to contain the serial numbers of the Notes in respect of which 

the option has been exercised, and stating the nominal amount of Notes in respect of which the option is 

exercised and at the same time, where the permanent Global Note is a CGN, presenting the permanent 

Global Note to the Fiscal Agent, or to a Paying Agent acting on behalf of the Fiscal Agent, for notation. 

Where the Global Note is an NGN or where the Global Certificate is held under the NSS, the Issuer shall 

procure that details of such exercise shall be entered pro rata in the records of the relevant clearing 

system and the nominal amount of the Notes recorded in those records will be reduced accordingly. 

4.8 NGN nominal amount 

Where the Global Note is an NGN, the Issuer shall procure that any exchange, payment, cancellation, 

exercise of any option or any right under the Notes, as the case may be, in addition to the circumstances 

set out above shall be entered in the records of the relevant clearing systems and upon any such entry 

being made, in respect of payments of principal, the nominal amount of the Notes represented by such 

Global Note shall be adjusted accordingly. 

4.9 Events of Default 

Each Global Note provides that the holder may cause such Global Note, or a portion of it, to become 

due and repayable in the circumstances described in Condition 10 by stating in the notice to the Fiscal 

Agent the nominal amount of such Global Note that is becoming due and repayable. If principal in 

respect of any Note is not paid when due, the holder of a Global Note or Registered Notes represented 

by a Global Certificate may elect for direct enforcement rights against the Issuer and the Guarantor under 

the terms of a Deed of Covenant executed as a deed by the Issuer and the Guarantor on 22 October 2018 

to come into effect in relation to the whole or a part of such Global Note or one or more Registered Notes 

in favour of the persons entitled to such part of such Global Note or such Registered Notes, as the case 

may be, as accountholders with a clearing system. Following any such acquisition of direct rights, the 

Global Note or, as the case may be, the Global Certificate and the corresponding entry in the register 

kept by the Registrar will become void as to the specified portion or Registered Notes, as the case may 

be. However, no such election may be made in respect of Notes represented by a Global Certificate 

unless the transfer of the whole or a part of the holding of Notes represented by that Global Certificate 

shall have been improperly withheld or refused. 

4.10 Notices 

So long as any Notes are represented by a Global Note and such Global Note is held on behalf of a 

clearing system, notices to the holders of Notes of that Series may be given by delivery of the relevant 

notice to that clearing system for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for 

publication as required by the Conditions or by delivery of the relevant notice to the holder of the Global 

Note, except that so long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market 

and the rules of that exchange so require, notices shall also be published either on the website of the 

Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) or in a daily newspaper with general circulation in 

Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort). 
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5 Electronic Consent and Written Resolution 

While any Global Note is held on behalf of, or any Global Certificate is registered in the name of any nominee 

for, a clearing system, then:  

(a) approval of a resolution proposed by the Issuer given by way of electronic consents communicated 

through the electronic communications systems of the relevant clearing system(s) in accordance with 

their operating rules and procedures by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 75 per cent. in nominal 

amount of the Notes outstanding (an “Electronic Consent” as defined in the Agency Agreement) shall, 

for all purposes (including matters that would otherwise require an Extraordinary Resolution to be passed 

at a meeting for which the special quorum provision was satisfied), take effect as an Extraordinary 

Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened and held, and shall be binding on all 

Noteholders and holders of Coupons and Talons whether or not they participated in such Electronic 

Consent; and  

(b) where Electronic Consent is not being sought, for the purpose of determining whether a Written 

Resolution (as defined in the Agency Agreement) has been validly passed, the Issuer shall be entitled to 

rely on consent or instructions given in writing directly to the Issuer by (a) accountholders in the clearing 

system with entitlements to such Global Note or Global Certificate and/or, where (b) the accountholders 

hold any such entitlement on behalf of another person, on written consent from or written instruction by 

the person identified by that accountholder as the person for whom such entitlement is held. For the 

purpose of establishing the entitlement to give any such consent or instruction, the Issuer shall be entitled 

to rely on any certificate or other document issued by, in the case of (a) above, Euroclear, Clearstream, 

Luxembourg or any other relevant alternative clearing system (the “relevant clearing system”) and, in 

the case of (b) above, the relevant clearing system and the accountholder identified by the relevant 

clearing system for the purposes of (b) above. Any resolution passed in such manner shall be binding on 

all Noteholders and Couponholders, even if the relevant consent or instruction proves to be defective. 

Any such certificate or other document may comprise any form of statement or print out of electronic 

records provided by the relevant clearing system (including Euroclear’s EUCLID or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg’s CreationOnline system) in accordance with its usual procedures and in which the 

accountholder of a particular principal or nominal amount of the Notes is clearly identified together with 

the amount of such holding. The Issuer shall not be liable to any person by reason of having accepted as 

valid or not having rejected any certificate or other document to such effect purporting to be issued by 

any such person and subsequently found to be forged or not authentic.  
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INFORMATION ON TELE2 AB (PUBL) 

General 

The Issuer’s legal and commercial name is Tele2 AB (publ) (“Tele2”). The Issuer was incorporated under the 

laws of Sweden on 19 November 1990 and is a public limited liability company registered in Sweden with 

number 556410-8917. The registered office of the Issuer is c/o Box 2094, SE-103 13, Stockholm, Sweden, and 

its telephone number is +46 8 5626 4000. 

In 1993 Tele2 started conducting its telecom business. During the same year fixed telephony was launched in 

Sweden. In 1996 Tele2 was listed on the O-list of Nasdaq Stockholm, Stockholmsbörsen. During the period 

from 1996 to 2000, Tele2’s international expansion started with the launch of operations in the Netherlands, 

Estonia, Lithuania and Latvia. Tele2 was awarded a 3G licence in Sweden in 2000 and established a joint 3G 

network company with TeliaSonera in Sweden the following year. Tele2 has also expanded its operations into 

Eurasia with the acquisition of mobile operations in Kazakhstan in 2009. Since 2009, Tele2 has also operated a 

joint 4G network company with Telenor in Sweden. In 2016, Tele2 was able to offer 4G mobile services 

throughout its footprint. The same year, Tele2 completed its acquisition of TDC Sweden and finalised its joint 

venture with Kazakhtelecom’s mobile brand Altel in Kazakhstan. In January 2018, Tele2 and Com Hem, one 

of Sweden’s largest fixed communication operators, announced their intention to combine operations. 

Tele2, together with its subsidiaries and affiliates taken as a whole (the “Group”), is a European 

telecommunications operator and the second largest operator in Sweden in terms of mobile service revenue. 

The Group offers mobile services, fixed broadband and telephony, data network services, and global IoT (as 

defined below) solutions to 17 million customers (including approximately 1.6 million customers in the 

Netherlands, which is classified as discontinued operations) in eight countries. The Group’s principal business 

and focus is developing mobile services on own infrastructure, which is complemented by fixed broadband and 

B2B services in select countries. In 2017, mobile service revenue accounted for 84 per cent. of revenue, and 

the Group’s businesses in Sweden and the Baltics accounted for 79 per cent. of revenue. 

In 2017, the Group generated revenue of SEK 24.8 billion, net profit of SEK 2,411 million, corresponding to a 

net profit margin of 9.7 per cent. and reported an adjusted EBITDA of SEK 6.4 billion, corresponding to an 

adjusted EBITDA margin of 26.0 per cent.  

As of 31 December 2017, the Group had 5,670 employees, with the majority of these employed in Sweden. 

Share Capital and Shareholders 

Tele2’s share capital amounts to SEK 633,625,015, with a total of 506,900,012 shares outstanding at 31 

December 2017. Tele2’s shares are divided into three classes: A shares which grant 10 votes per share, B shares 

which grant 1 vote per share and C shares which grant 1 vote per share. 

Tele2’s A shares and B shares are listed on the Nasdaq Stockholm Large Cap list under the ticker symbols TEL2 

A and TEL2 B. As at 31 December 2017 the 15 largest shareholders held in aggregate shares corresponding to 

51 per cent. of the share capital and 63 per cent. of the voting rights, of which Investment AB Kinnevik (publ) 

(“Kinnevik”) held 30 per cent. of the share capital and 48 per cent. of the voting rights. No other shareholder 

owns, directly or indirectly, more than 10 per cent. of the shares in Tele2. 

Kinnevik’s largest shareholder is Verdere S.à r.l. which as at 31 December 2017 owned 10.3 per cent. of the 

share capital and 43.8 per cent. of the voting rights in Kinnevik. 

Group Structure 

Tele2 is, indirectly, the ultimate holding company of all the companies in the Group and its key assets are the 

shares in such companies. It does not conduct any operations and accordingly depends on the income derived 

from the other members of the Group and revenues received from them. 
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In most of its markets, the Group pursues a mono brand strategy. However, in order to be able to take into 

account certain specific market conditions its mobile prepaid services are offered under brands in addition to 

the Tele2 brand in certain markets such as Comviq in Sweden, Pildyk in Lithuania, and ZeltaZivtina in Latvia. 

Business of the Group 

 

The Group’s business consists of developing mobile services on own infrastructure, which is complemented by 

fixed broadband and Business to Business (“B2B”) services in selected countries. The Group’s customer 

offering consists of mobile services, fixed broadband and telephony, data network services, content services 

and global IoT solutions. While mobile communication services are fairly standardised across different 

countries, the level of maturity differs widely across different markets. However, the Group believes that the 

global trend towards mobility, mobile access and mobile data is universal and is also the principal underlying 

growth driver for the industry. 

Consumer behaviour continues to evolve, with the move from fixed to wireless usage resulting in surging data 

consumption and increasing smartphone penetration. Global smartphone data traffic alone is expected to 

increase by nearly 8 times from 2018 to 20231. In the B2B segment, corporate business models are adjusting to 

take advantage of both scale and connectivity, demanding more integrated solutions services as well as IoT 

solutions. What remains central to this development and the Group’s continued success is mobile access, and 

                                                           
1 Source: Ericsson Mobility Report June 2018.  

Sweden 63%

Lithuania 8%

Latvia 5%

Estonia 3%

Kazakhstan 11%

Croatia 7%

Germany 2%

Other 1%

Mobile 84%

Fixed Broadband 5%

Fixed Telephony 2%

Other Operations 9%

Net sales by country, 2017 Net sales by services, 2017

Note: Continuing operations

Tele2 Treasury AB 

Tele2 Croatia Tele2 Netherlands Tele2 Germany Tele2 Estonia Tele2 Latvia Tele2 Lithuania 

Other subsidiaries 

Tele2 AB 

Tele2 Sverige AB 
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the ability to offer high quality networks that provide customers with an excellent and competitively priced 

connectivity experience. 

In order to tailor the Group’s customer offering to each local market, the Group operates with a geographically 

split business model through the countries Sweden, the Netherlands, Kazakhstan, Croatia, the Baltics (which 

consists of Latvia, Lithuania and Estonia) and Germany. The table below specifies the Group’s net sales by 

country and by services and provides an overview of the different services in each country. 

Revenue by country and by services, full year 2017 

 
 

Mobile  
 

Fixed 

broadband 
 

Fixed 

telephony  
 

Other 

operations 
 

Total  
 

  (SEK million)  

Sweden ....................................................   12,045  1,244  372  1,995  15,656  

Lithuania ..................................................   1,957  —  —  —  1,957  

Latvia .......................................................   1,178  —  —  —  1,178  

Estonia .....................................................   698  —  3  42  743  

Kazakhstan ..............................................   2,721  —  —  —  2,721  

Croatia .....................................................   1,694  —  —  —  1,694  

Germany ..................................................   337  104  171  —  612  

Other ........................................................   147  —  —  135  282  

International sales, elimination ................   -57        -57  

Total ........................................................   20,720  1,348  546  2,172  24,786  

Note: Continuing operations  

 

Products and Services 

Mobile voice, messaging and data 

The Group offers mobile telephony and handset related data services in all its markets. These services include: 

• Mobile voice; 

• Handset data services, i.e. access to the internet using a mobile handset; 

• Messaging services such as SMS and MMS; and 

• Value-added services such as handset insurance, antivirus and content services. 

The development of this service area is mainly impacted by increased smartphone penetration, increased data 

consumption as a result of improved quality and capabilities of handsets, increased use of data intensive 

applications such as video streaming as well as the improved user experience of 4G that enables much higher 

speeds than previous technologies.  

To cater to high-demand customers, the Group offers unlimited products in all of its mobile markets in Europe. 

In many cases, the Group sells mobile services bundled with handsets. 

Mobile broadband 

The Group offers mobile broadband in most of its markets. Mobile broadband provides high speed connectivity 

for laptops, tablets, and mobile broadband-enabled routers, and is an easy and cost-efficient way to connect to 

the internet. The Group continuously develops its mobile broadband offerings to better reflect customer usage 

and to safeguard the service’s profitability. Being able to charge customers properly for increased data usage 

and volumes represents a challenge for operators. 
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In order to maintain a good customer experience, the Group allows customers to buy more data at full speed 

instead of being throttled or blocked. Customer demand for broadband is continuously growing, since mobile 

broadband is an easy and cost-efficient way to connect to the internet. In order to tailor its offering to customer 

needs and maintain a sustainable pricing model, the Group offers tiered pricing based on volume, and in select 

markets mobile broadband with unlimited data volume. 

Fixed broadband and telephony 

The Group offers fixed broadband and voice services to households and businesses in Sweden and Germany. 

These services are complementary to the mobile services strategy of the Group. 

The main broadband service delivered to households is internet connectivity based on DSL technology. The 

interest in fixed voice services is decreasing, although it is still a source of profit for the Group. With the 

necessary infrastructure already in place, limited investments are required, making fixed voice and broadband 

a viable business for years to come. 

B2B services 

The Group targets business customers in most of its markets. The typical services offered are: 

• Mobile telephony and data; 

• Fixed broadband; 

• Fixed telephony; 

• Specific B2B telecommunication services (such as secure and encrypted connections and company-

specific mobile network access points, etc.); 

• Cloud services (such as voice switching, data centre services, business productivity solutions, etc.); and 

• Communication as a service, whereby the Group hosts and manages equipment used by the customer 

rather than selling the equipment to the customer. 

In Sweden, the Group offers full-scale mobile and fixed business services, to small and large companies as well 

as public institutions. 

In October 2016, the Group completed the acquisition of TDC Sweden, which further strengthened the offering 

to Swedish business customers, in particular within the large enterprise segment, and allowed the Group to 

expand its customer offering within, for example, network as a service, unified communication and hardware. 

In other markets, the Group offers fixed or mobile business services depending on its infrastructure and 

customer needs. 

Internet of Things (“IoT”) 

The Group delivers IoT services through a dedicated business unit, Tele2 IoT, which focuses on European sales 

but with service provisioning capability in a global footprint to more than 160 countries.  

Through the Group’s IoT solution, business critical information can be delivered in real time, allowing 

customers to automate events and alarms, manage fleets of vehicles and equipment installed at remote locations, 

and be protected from technological malfunction or fraud, ensuring that they stay on top of their business. In 

addition, the Group’s offering within IoT contains a number of value-added services that support the customer’s 

extraction and enhancement of data from devices, such as: 

• Customer specific APN/VPN connections (secure data connectivity solutions); 

• Management of multiple connectivity types and services (connected device management); 

• Customer branded SIM cards (customer defined graphics on the SIM card); 
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• Professional services to support customers with customisation or integration to the Tele2 platform; and 

• Education and training to get started with the IoT solution. 

In August 2016, the Group acquired Kombridge AB and further strengthened its position within security 

services in the IoT space. 

Overview by country 

Sweden 

  2017  2016  Growth  

  (SEK million)  

Number of customers (in thousands)  ............   4,016  4,131  -2.8%  

Revenue .........................................................  

of which mobile end-user service revenue .....   

15,656 

7,753  

12,908 

7,313  

21.3% 

6.0%  

Adjusted EBITDA .........................................   4,352  3,751  16.0%  

 

 

On 21 September 2018, the proposed Merger between Tele2 and Com Hem was approved at the respective 

extraordinary general meetings of Tele2 and Com Hem. Further, on 8 October 2018, the Merger was approved 

by the relevant competition authorities. The Merger is thus expected to be completed on 5 November 2018 – 

for further information on the proposed Merger, see the section entitled “Information on Tele2 AB (Publ) – 

Contemplated Merger between Tele2 and Com Hem”). Prior to completion, the Group will continue with its 

stand-alone strategy in Sweden. An overview of the Group’s strategy for its stand-alone operations is presented 

below: 

The Group’s operations in Sweden  

Sweden is the Group’s largest market in terms of revenue and accounted for 63 per cent. of the Group’s revenue 

in 2017. It is also where the Group’s head office is situated.     

Tele2 Sweden offers the Group’s full product range with an emphasis on mobile products and services. Tele2 

Sweden operates a joint 3G network as well as a joint 2G/4G network through two separate joint operations, 

Svenska UMTS-nät AB (together with Telia Company) and Net4Mobility HB (together with Telenor). In 

December 2016, Tele2 and Telenor signed an agreement to build a common nationwide network with 5G 

technology within the scope of the Net4Mobility HB joint operation.   

During 2017, Tele2 Sweden’s revenue amounted to SEK 15,656 million (compared to SEK 12,908 million in 

2016) and adjusted EBITDA amounted to SEK 4,352 million (compared to SEK 3,751 million in 2016), 

equivalent to an adjusted EBITDA margin of 27.8 per cent. (compared to 29.1 per cent. in 2016). 

Strategic priorities – Sweden  

Recent priorities include continued data monetisation and maximisation of Tele2 Sweden’s dual brand strategy 

by positioning Tele2 Sweden as the natural brand of choice for a connected life and Comviq as the modern 

mobile price fighter. To offset the effect of RLAH, a key focus area for Tele2 Sweden has been to drive growth 

through further data monetisation. Comviq has continued to strengthen its position amongst sub-brands and was 

awarded the strongest Swedish telecom brand 2017 by Evimetrix based on customer satisfaction and brand 

awareness, proving the strength of Tele2’s dual brand position in its largest market. Going forward, improved 

customer satisfaction will remain a key priority. Another important priority has been continued strengthening 

of the B2B segment with particular focus on the large enterprise segment.  
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Lithuania 

  2017  2016  Growth  

  (SEK million)  

Number of customers (in thousands)  ............   1,792  1,773  1.01%  

Revenue .........................................................  

of which mobile end-user service revenue .....   

1,957 

1,119  

1,709 

967  

14.5% 

15.7%  

Adjusted EBITDA .........................................   651  589  10.5%  

 

  

Lithuania is the third largest market for the Group in terms of revenue and accounted for 8 per cent. of the 

Group’s revenue in 2017.  

Tele2 Lithuania offers mobile voice, messaging and mobile data, mobile broadband and B2B services.  

During 2017, Tele2 Lithuania’s revenue was SEK 1,957 million (compared to SEK 1,709 million in 2016) and 

adjusted EBITDA amounted to SEK 651 million (compared to SEK 589 million in 2016), equivalent to an 

adjusted EBITDA margin of 33.3 per cent. (compared to 34.5 per cent. in 2016). 

Tele2 Lithuania reported the highest mobile revenue among all three operators in Lithuania in 2017, supported 

by the strong 4G network coverage in the country. According to the national regulatory authority, Tele2 

Lithuania’s 4G network covered 99 per cent. of the Lithuanian territory by the end of 2017.  

In 2017, Tele2 Lithuania was named the country’s most transparent company by Transparency International 

Lithuania, based on a review of organisational, financial and anti-corruption transparency among all of the 

country’s large companies. In 2018, Tele2 Lithuania was recognised as the Best Employer in the Baltics based 

on AON Hewitt research, and was recognised as a technology leader by business daily Verslo Žinios for a 

second year in a row. 

Strategic priorities - Lithuania 

Recent strategic priorities include (i) data monetisation with gradual renewals of the company’s commercial 

propositions in the different segments of the customer base on the back of the strong 4G network coverage and 

long-term evolution (“LTE”) advanced upgrades completed, (ii) the forming of a joint venture together with 

the other two mobile operators for the development of mobile payments solutions, and (iii) continued focus on 

quality, for example insourcing of customer care to increase quality and response speed. 

Latvia 

  2017  2016  Growth  

  (SEK million)  

Number of customers (in thousands)  ............   952  945  1.0%  

Revenue .........................................................  

of which mobile end-user service revenue .....   

1,178 

672  

1,022 

587  

15.3% 

14.5%  

Adjusted EBITDA .........................................   417  320  30.3%  

 

  

The Latvian market is the fifth largest market for the Group in terms of revenue and accounted for 5 per cent. 

the Group’s revenue in 2017.  

Tele2 Latvia offers mobile voice, messaging and mobile data, mobile broadband and B2B services.  
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During 2017, Tele2 Latvia’s revenue amounted to SEK 1,178 million (compared to SEK 1,022 million in 2016) 

and adjusted EBITDA amounted to SEK 417 million (compared to SEK 320 million in 2016), equivalent to an 

adjusted EBITDA margin of 35.4 per cent. (compared to 31.3 per cent. in 2016). 

Tele2 Latvia commercially introduced LTE technology in 2014, and has subsequently continued to roll out LTE 

Advanced technology in response to a growing mobile data demand. At the end of 2017, Tele2 Latvia’s 4G 

network reached 99 per cent. population coverage and 97 per cent. geographical coverage, making Tele2 Latvia 

the market leader in terms of coverage as well as in mobile data performance, according to regulatory 

measurements during 2017. In Latvia, the Group has also secured valuable 5G frequency spectrum for future 

business development.  

Strategic priorities - Latvia 

Recent priorities include (i) execution of a focused data monetisation strategy, and (ii) continued focus on Tele2 

Latvia’s strong postpaid commercial presence in the market, including a transition of customers from prepaid 

to postpaid. In addition, Tele2 Latvia has continued its 4G network performance development to further improve 

its already strong network position. 

Estonia 

  2017  2016  Growth  

  (SEK million)  

Number of customers (in thousands)  ............   464  479  -3.1%  

Revenue .........................................................  

of which mobile end-user service revenue .....   

743 

452  

695 

428  

6.9% 

5.6%  

Adjusted EBITDA .........................................   185  172  7.6%  

 

  

The Estonian market is the second smallest market for the Group in terms of revenue and accounted for 3 per 

cent. of the Group’s revenue in 2017. 

Tele2 Estonia offers mobile voice, messaging and mobile data, mobile broadband and B2B services with a 

limited number of fixed product customers.  

During 2017, Tele2 Estonia’s revenue was SEK 743 million (compared to SEK 695 million in 2016) and 

adjusted EBITDA amounted to SEK 185 million (compared to SEK 172 million in 2016), equivalent to an 

adjusted EBITDA margin of 24.9 per cent. (compared to 24.7 per cent. in 2016). 

Strategic priorities - Estonia 

Recent strategic priorities include network modernisation and roll-outs, with focus on commercialisation and 

monetisation of data. In 2016, the 4G population coverage reached 99 per cent., thus creating a strong 

foundation for continued data monetisation. Other recent focus areas include (i) expansion of Tele2 Estonia’s 

B2B offering, (ii) continued focus on the mobile broadband segment, and (iii) adding 4G base stations on new 

frequencies to further increase capacity and coverage. In addition, Tele2 Estonia has executed an online strategy 

including the launch of a new improved web shop and several online-only offerings. During 2017, Tele2 Estonia 

has also focused on the implementation of the industry-wide RLAH regulation within EU. 

Kazakhstan 

  2017  2016  Growth  

  (SEK million)  

Number of customers (in thousands)  ............   6,914  6,440  7.4%  
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  2017  2016  Growth  

Revenue .........................................................  

of which mobile end-user service revenue .....   

2,721 

2,096  

2,126 

1,529  

28.0% 

37.1%  

Adjusted EBITDA .........................................   643  195  229.7%  

 

 

Kazakhstan is the second largest market for the Group in terms of revenue and accounted for 11 per cent. of the 

Group’s revenue in 2017. During 2017, Tele2 Kazakhstan’s revenue amounted to SEK 2,721 million (compared 

to SEK 2,126 million in 2016) and adjusted EBITDA amounted to SEK 643 million (compared to SEK 195 

million in 2016), equivalent to an adjusted EBITDA margin of 23.6 per cent. (compared to 9.2 per cent. in 

2016). 

Under the jointly owned company, the Tele2 Kazakhstan and Altel brands are operating as separate brands 

targeting different customer groups with Tele2 Kazakhstan focusing more on value seeking customers and Altel 

more on the premium segment. The customer offering comprises mobile voice, messaging and mobile data, 

mobile broadband and B2B services. Following the combination, the jointly owned company has launched 4G 

services for Tele2 customers in all regions across the country and allowed Altel customers to use Tele2’s wider 

network coverage. 

The completed technical integration of Tele2 Kazakhstan and Altel networks allows the jointly owned company 

to fully leverage on the synergies of the combined network. As a result of the network integration and focus on 

network expansion, the jointly owned company offers market leading 4G coverage with LTE and LTE Advanced 

population coverage at 73 per cent. and 44 per cent. respectively by the end of 2017. 

Tele2 and Kazakhtelecom hold 51 per cent. and 49 per cent. of the voting rights, respectively, and 49 per cent. 

and 51 per cent. of the economic interests respectively, in the jointly owned company, with management control 

being maintained by Tele2. The jointly owned company has implemented Tele2’s corporate governance 

standards and procedures and the code of conduct. Kazakhtelecom has undertaken to comply with Tele2’s code 

of conduct and Tele2 has reserved the right to exit the jointly owned company in the event of material breaches 

of the code of conduct by Kazakhtelecom. 

Strategic priorities - Kazakhstan 

Recent strategic priorities include (i) realisation of synergies from, among others, headcount reduction, billing 

platform consolidation and the completion of the network integration with 1,740 radio network sites merged, 

(ii) focus on training and other actions to ensure that the jointly owned company comply with Tele2’s CR 

standards, (iii) launch of a new Altel marketing platform, and (iv) further expansion of the 4G network coupled 

with focus on commercial offering development.  

Croatia 

  2017  2016  Growth  

  (SEK million)  

Number of customers (in thousands)  ............   841  801  5.0%  

Revenue .........................................................  

of which mobile end-user service revenue .....   

1,694 

903  

1,534 

837  

10.4% 

7.9%  

Adjusted EBITDA .........................................   93  107  -13.1%  
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Croatia is the fourth largest market for the Group in terms of revenue and accounted for 7 per cent. of the 

Group’s revenue during 2017. 

Tele2 Croatia offers mobile voice, messaging and mobile data, mobile broadband and B2B services. During 

2017, Tele2 Croatia’s revenue was SEK 1,694 million (compared to SEK 1,534 million in 2016) and adjusted 

EBITDA amounted to SEK 93 million (compared to SEK 107 million in 2016), equivalent to an adjusted 

EBITDA margin of 5.5 per cent. (compared to 7.0 per cent. in 2016). 

As a result of the nationwide 4G launch in 2016, and an upgrade of the 3G network completed in the fourth 

quarter of 2015, Tele2 Croatia’s 3G and 4G networks covered 99 per cent. and 93 per cent. of the population 

respectively, as of the end of 2017.  

Strategic priorities - Croatia 

Apart from securing a high quality network, recent priorities include (i) the introduction of unlimited data 

offerings for both smartphones and mobile broadband as the first operator in Croatia, and (ii) expansion into 

mobile payments by being the first operator in the market to offer direct carrier billing for the Google Play 

store. Moreover, within the prepaid segment, recent priorities include continued development of more flexible 

propositions and introduction of more transparency for the customer e.g. by focusing on data cost control and 

removing call setup fees. 

Germany 

  2017  2016  Growth  

  (SEK million)  

Number of customers (in thousands)  ............   368  442  -16.7%  

Revenue .........................................................  

of which mobile end-user service revenue .....   

612 

337  

708 

382  

-13.6% 

-11.8%  

Adjusted EBITDA .........................................   265  276  -4.0%  

 

The German market is the smallest market for the Group in terms of revenue and accounted for 2 per cent. of 

the Group’s revenue in 2017.  

Tele2 Germany offers fixed broadband and telephony and mobile MVNO services. In 2015, Tele2 Germany 

implemented a new strategy focused on profitability and cash contribution.  

During 2017, Tele2 Germany’s revenue amounted to SEK 612 million (compared to SEK 708 million in 2016) 

and adjusted EBITDA amounted to SEK 265 million (compared to SEK 276 million in 2016), equivalent to an 

adjusted EBITDA margin of 43.3 per cent. (compared to 39.0 per cent. in 2016). 

Strategic priorities - Germany 

Following the strategic shift in 2015, Tele2 Germany has continued its focus on profitability and cash 

contribution for all product segments with the main focus on the existing customer base and the operational 

initiatives centred on maximisation of customer lifetime value. Several initiatives have been implemented and 

the local organisation has been reduced in size. 

Netherlands 

  2017  2016  Growth  

  (SEK million)  

Number of customers (in thousands)  ............   1,575  1,438  9.6%  
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  2017  2016  Growth  

Revenue .........................................................  

  

5,649 

  

5,176 

  

9.1% 

 

Adjusted EBITDA .........................................   308  -202  -  

 

 

On 15 December 2017, Tele2 announced an agreement with Deutsche Telekom to combine their operations in 

the Netherlands, Tele2 Netherlands and T-Mobile Netherlands (the third largest national mobile business, fully 

owned by Deutsche Telekom). Deutsche Telekom will retain its Dutch tower assets in a separate entity. Upon 

completion of the transaction, which is subject to regulatory approval, Tele2 will own a 25 per cent. share in 

the combined company post-closing and receive a cash payment of EUR 190 million upon closing. The 

establishment of the combined company is subject to regulatory approval by the relevant competition 

authorities. The transaction is therefore expected to close in the second half of 2018. During the process of 

seeking the necessary regulatory approvals, Tele2 will continue with its stand-alone strategy in the Netherlands. 

Tele2 Netherlands is reported as discontinued operations in the period until closing. In the fourth quarter of 

2017, Tele2 conducted an annual goodwill impairment test. Notwithstanding the incremental value expected to 

be created in the transaction, the test resulted in a goodwill impairment loss of SEK 1,194 million related to the 

Dutch operation. The amount is reported under discontinued operations in the interim report for the period 1 

October 2017 – 31 December 2017, and has no effect on cash flow. 

Tele2 Netherlands standalone 

During 2017, Tele2 Netherlands’ revenue was SEK 5,649 million (compared to SEK 5,176 million in 2016). 

Tele2 Netherlands’ adjusted EBITDA for 2017 amounted to SEK 308 million (compared to SEK -202 million 

in 2016), equivalent to an adjusted EBITDA margin of 5.5 per cent. (compared to -3.9 per cent. in 2016). 

Tele2 Netherlands is a telecommunications provider that operates in the Netherlands as a 4G-only mobile 

network operator, providing voice, data and messaging services, and also fixed broadband and telephony 

services. Tele2 Netherlands provides services to consumers, business and, to a limited extent, other 

telecommunications providers. Tele2 Netherlands offers mobile telecommunications services via its own 4G 

mobile network which it launched in 2015. 2G/3G services are offered via a national roaming set-up whereby 

Tele2 Netherlands makes use of the network of another mobile network operator (“MNO”), T-Mobile 

Netherlands.  

Prior to November 2015, Tele2 Netherlands operated as a pure mobile virtual network operator (“MVNO”) 

providing services without proprietary network infrastructure. In November 2015, Tele2 Netherlands launched 

a 4G-only network as an MNO. However, it is still reliant on T-Mobile Netherlands both for access to 2G and 

3G technologies (which it procures under the aforementioned national roaming set-up) and, for its 4G network, 

access to T-Mobile Netherlands' infrastructure (sites) via a passive network sharing agreement. The LTE 

Advanced 4G network was the first network built on 4G-only infrastructure in the Netherlands.  

Board of Directors 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Directors of Tele2, their functions and the principal outside activities (if 

any) performed by them are as follows: 
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Directors Role Principal activities outside the Group 

Georgi Ganev1) 

 

Chairman, Non-Executive 

Director, Chairman of the 

Remuneration Committee, 

Member of the Audit 

Committee 

 

Chief Executive Officer of Kinnevik AB (publ). 

Chairman of the Board of Kinnevik New Ventures AB, 

Emesco Aktiebolag, Invik & Co AB, Millcellvik AB, 

Kinnevik Online AB, Kinnevik Consumer Finance 

Holding AB, Kinnevik Online Holding AB,  Kinnevik 

Media Holding AB, Kinnevik Internet 2 AB, Kinnevik 

Internet 1 AB, Kinnevik Consumer Finance 1 AB, 

Kinnevik East AB, Kinnevik Sweden Holding AB,  

Kinnevik Lagerbolag AB and Metro International IP 

Holding Sweden AB. 

Carla Smits-

Nusteling 

Non-Executive Director, 

Chairman of  the Audit 

Committee 

Member of the Board of Directors of Nokia Oyj, Non-

Executive Director at ASML, member of the 

management board of the Foundation Unilever NV 

Trust Office and Lay judge of the Enterprise Court of 

the Amsterdam Court of Appeal. 

Anders 

Björkman 

Non-Executive Director, 

Member of the Remuneration 

Committee 

Chairman of the Board of Maintrac AB, Maintrac 

Holding AB, Parktrade Europe AB and LevUpp AB. 

Member of the Board of Directors of Allgon AB and 

Maven Wireless AB. Non-Executive member of the 

Board of Digital Trading Technologies Limited T/A 

Consumer Data Protection. 

Eamonn O’Hare Non-Executive Director Founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of 

Zegona Communications. Non-Executive Director of 

Dialog Semiconductor. 

Sofia Arhall 

Bergendorff 

Non-Executive Director 

 

Director of Global Operations and Partnerships at 

Google in New York. 

Cynthia 

Gordon1) 

Non-Executive Director, 

Member of the Audit 

Committee 

Chairman of the Board of Global Fashion Group. 

Member of the Board of Directors of Bima Milvik, 

Bayport, Josen Partners, Namshi and Partan Limited. 

Lars-Åke 

Norling1) 

Non-Executive Director  Member of the Board of Directors of Millicom 

International Cellular S.A. Investment Director and 

Sector Head of TMT at Kinnevik. 

Andrew Barron2) 

 

Non-Executive Director 

 

Member of the Board of Directors of Com Hem, Ocean 

Outdoor Limited and of Arris International plc. 

Eva Lindqvist2) Non-Executive Director Member of the Board of Directors of Com Hem, 

SWECO AB (publ), Mr Green & Co AB, Kährs Holding 

AB (publ), Tarsier Studios AB, Bodycote plc and Keller 

Group plc. Elected member of the Royal Swedish 

Academy of Engineering Sciences. 

Notes:  

1) Not independent in relation to Tele2’s major shareholders. 

2) Elected at the extraordinary general meeting held on 21 September 2018 as new members of the Board of Directors 

of (Enlarged) Tele2 with effect once the Merger has been registered with the Swedish Companies Registration Office. 
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The business address (in respect of Tele2’s business) of each of the above Directors is c/o Box 2094, 103 13, 

Stockholm, Sweden. The Directors are available at Tele2’s main office at Skeppsbron 18, SE-111 30 Stockholm, 

Sweden. 

There are no conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of interest between the duties of any Director to Tele2 

and their private interests or other duties. 

Legal Proceedings 

Dispute in Sweden 

Tele2 initiated legal proceedings against Telia Company due to margin squeeze on wholesale DSL-services. In 

May 2016, Telia Company was found by the District Court to have abused its dominant position and was ordered 

to pay damages to Tele2, whereas the Svea Court of Appeal later on, in December 2017, dismissed Tele2’s 

claim in its entirety. The judgement of the Svea Court of Appeal was appealed to the Supreme Court by Tele2 

who simultaneously requested a preliminary ruling from the European Court of Justice. On 11 May 2018, the 

Supreme Court decided not to grant Tele2 leave to appeal and not to require a preliminary ruling by the 

European Court of Justice. As a result thereof, the judgement from Svea Court of Appeal has become legally 

binding and Tele2 will need to cover Telias’s legal costs. 

Dispute in the Netherlands 

KPN has initiated legal proceedings against Tele2 regarding the rental fees of copper lines, which Tele2 

Netherlands uses as part of its fixed network operations, for the time period from 2009 – July 2014, with a total 

claim from KPN amounting to EUR 23.2 million (approximately SEK 223 million) plus interest. The amount 

is subject to pending appeals and court cases which are expected to go on for several years. In relation to this 

dispute, Tele2 reported a provision of EUR 7.8 (SEK 75 million), including interest of EUR 1.1 million (SEK 

11 million). 

Dispute in Croatia 

Tele2 Croatia has as part of its ordinary course of business entered into factoring agreements with Croatian 

banks, whereby Tele2 assigns to the banks some of its accounts receivables relating to third party distribution 

of prepaid vouchers. One of the third-party distributors, Tisak, is part of the Croatian Agrokor Group that is 

currently facing liquidity and solvency problems. Since the banks have not been able to collect payment for 

assigned and due accounts receivables from Tisak, they have instead requested payment from Tele2. During the 

three month period ended 31 December 2017, a provision for doubtful receivables was recorded affecting the 

net profit negatively by SEK 89 million and adjusted EBITDA in Croatia negatively by SEK 89 million related 

to this factoring dispute and receivables on Tisak. The collection process is still ongoing with a number of 

different activities in process. 

Inspection by the EC 

On 25-28 April 2017, the EC performed an inspection at the premises of four Swedish MNOs, including Tele2, 

for possible anti-competitive cooperation between operations in the mobile market and/or possible abuse of 

collective dominant position. Pursuant to Council Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 on the implementation of the 

rules on competition law laid down in articles 81(101) and 82(102) of the Treaty, the EC may impose fines up 

to 10 per cent. of the total turnover for each undertaking and association of undertakings participating in an 

infringement. The Commission may also impose behavioral or structural remedies which are proportionate to 

the infringement committed and necessary to bring the infringement effectively to an end. Tele2 has clear 

internal rules and procedures for compliance with law and regulation and has cooperated fully with the 

Commission authorities during the course of the inspection. On 8 October 2018, the EC has however informed 

Tele2 that the investigation has been closed without any further action. 
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Contemplated Merger between Tele2 and Com Hem 

The following is a description of certain material aspects of the contemplated Merger. Prospective investors 

should keep in mind that there can be no certainty that the Merger will be completed, or that the business 

operations of Tele2 and Com Hem will be combined in the manner or timeframe contemplated in the Issuer’s 

Merger Document, any of which could cause any of the statements below regarding Enlarged Tele2 not to 

materialise. 

On 9 January 2018, the board of directors of Tele2 and the board of directors of Com Hem entered into a merger 

agreement, pursuant to which Tele2 and Com Hem agreed to combine their business operations through the 

Merger (the “Merger Agreement”). On the same day, the boards of directors of Tele2 and Com Hem, 

respectively, agreed on a merger plan, which sets out the terms and conditions for implementation of the Merger 

(the “Merger Plan”). The Merger Plan was approved by the shareholders of Tele2 and Com Hem at their 

respective extraordinary general meetings held on 21 September 2018. The combination of Tele2 and Com Hem 

is intended to, among other things, create a leading integrated connectivity provider by combining an award-

winning mobile network with the fastest national fixed network and the widest range of content in the market 

as well as provide cost and revenue synergies.  

The Merger will be implemented as a statutory merger under the Swedish Companies Act with Tele2 as the 

absorbing company and Com Hem as the transferring company, whereby the assets and liabilities, rights and 

obligations relating to Com Hem will be transferred to Tele2 for consideration in the form of cash consideration 

and non-cash consideration to be issued to the shareholders of Com Hem. Pursuant to the Merger Plan, one 

share in Com Hem entitles the holder to receive 1.0374 new B shares in Tele2 (the “Non-Cash Consideration”) 

and SEK 37.02 in cash (the “Cash Consideration”). Tele2’s shareholders will not receive any new shares in 

the Merger.  

The Merger Plan provides that completion of the Merger will take place on the date when the Swedish 

Companies Registration Office (Sw. Bolagsverket) registers the Merger. However, the completion of the Merger 

is subject to fulfilment of the conditions set out in the Merger Plan, including regulatory approval from the 

relevant competition authorities. Such approval was granted on 8 October 2018 by the European Commission. 

As per the date of this Prospectus, the completion of the Merger is expected to occur on 5 November 2018. 

Upon completion of the Merger, Tele2’s current shareholders will own 73.3 per cent. of the shares (representing 

79.4 per cent. of the voting rights) of Enlarged Tele2 and Com Hem’s current shareholders will own 26.7 per 

cent. of the shares (representing 20.6 per cent. of the voting rights) of Enlarged Tele2. Following completion of 

the Merger, the Non-Cash Consideration will be listed and Enlarged Tele2 will continue to be listed on Nasdaq 

Stockholm. 

Tele2’s and Com Hem’s largest shareholder, Kinnevik, has undertaken not to sell any shares in Tele2 or Com 

Hem (or in Enlarged Tele2) up until six months after completion of the Merger, subject to customary conditions. 

In connection with the Merger, Kinnevik has committed to Tele2 and Com Hem to participate in the European 

Commission merger control procedure and is prepared to effect pro-competitive measures if required to 

complete the transaction. 

At completion of the Merger, Anders Nilsson, the current Chief Executive Officer of Com Hem, will become 

the Chief Executive Officer of Enlarged Tele2 and will assume leadership of Enlarged Tele2 management team 

in order to deliver on integrating the two companies and to deliver on the strategic objectives set out.  

The Merger Plan and the Issuer’s Merger Document providing a complete description of the Merger was 

published on 29 August 2018 and is available on Tele2’s website (www.tele2.com). 

Business of Com Hem 

Com Hem delivers high-speed internet access, TV & Play and fixed telephony to Swedish homes and businesses 

through the Com Hem, Boxer and Phonera brands. Com Hem sells services to approximately 1.5 million 
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customers in both apartment buildings (multiple dwelling units) and houses (single dwelling units) through 

Com Hem’s FibreCoax network, fibre networks and the digital terrestrial network. The business was established 

in 1983 and operations are today conducted by the subsidiaries Com Hem AB, Phonera Företag AB and iTUX 

Communication AB. 

Com Hem’s business activities are located exclusively in Sweden and are divided into two operating segments; 

Com Hem and Boxer. The operating segment Com Hem offers services to consumers (broadband, digital-TV 

and fixed telephony), B2B (broadband and telephony) and landlords (basic TV offering) via FibreCoax, fibre 

and LAN. The services to landlords are mainly delivered to small and medium sized enterprises. The operating 

segment Boxer offers services (digital-TV and broadband) to consumers mainly in the single dwelling units 

market through the Swedish digital terrestrial network provided by Teracom and through fibre networks.  

During 2017, Com Hem’s revenue amounted to SEK 7,136 million (compared to SEK 5,665 million in 2016). 

At the end of 2017, Com Hem had a total of 1,096 employees.2 

Reasons for the Merger 

Over the last few years, Tele2 and Com Hem have each undertaken a period of active strategic development 

and continued long-term investment in their networks to increase capacity and coverage with the goal of 

increasing customer satisfaction as well as better positioning the respective companies for the future, while 

simultaneously generating substantial value creation for their respective shareholder bases. 

Following a number of strategic actions including transactions in Kazakhstan, Sweden, Austria and the 

Netherlands, Tele2 is now a more focused, leading operator in the Baltic Sea region. In Sweden, Tele2 has over 

the last few years been focused on driving growth through customer satisfaction. To this effort, focus on 

removing unnecessary constraints to the connected lives of its customers, including launch of new customer-

centric offerings, has resulted in mobile end-user service revenue growth in Sweden. In the B2B segment, the 

acquisition of TDC Sweden in October 2016 further accelerated and strengthened Tele2’s B2B strategy, in 

particular in the Swedish large enterprise segment. Owing to these strategic efforts, Sweden has become an 

increasingly important market for Tele2, with its position as a leading Swedish telecommunications provider in 

both the B2C and B2B segments.  

Com Hem has significantly strengthened its position in the Swedish market through a consistent focus on 

improving customer satisfaction, substantial investments in infrastructure and services and a successful single 

dwelling unit (“SDU”) expansion program. This has been strongly boosted by the acquisition of Boxer in 

September 2016, with Com Hem becoming a true national operator. 

The combination of Tele2 and Com Hem is a natural next step for both companies and will create a leading 

integrated connectivity provider in the Swedish telecommunications market by combining an award-winning 

mobile network with the fastest national fixed network and the widest range of content in the Swedish market. 

Therefore, Enlarged Tele2 will be well equipped to meet the evolving customer needs for seamless connectivity 

and digital services. Digitalisation affects nearly every aspect of society and the Merger will further contribute 

to a better digital quality of life for Swedish individuals, households and businesses through a full range of 

complementary and ubiquitous high-quality connectivity and digital services.  

Within both mobile and fixed broadband, Enlarged Tele2 will have a strong position in the Swedish market, 

complemented by a leading position within digital TV with the opportunity to offer attractive customer solutions 

and capitalize on the increasing fixed and mobile data consumption underpinned by accelerated video demand. 

This will not only lead to improved customer experience and loyalty but also position the company for enhanced 

growth through the opportunity to offer a full range of digital services and high-quality connectivity, no matter 

where or when the customer needs it. 

                                                           
2 Source: Com Hem’s Annual Report 2017. 
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Furthermore, the combination is expected to create significant value for all stakeholders with total annual 

operational expenditure, CAPEX and revenue synergies estimated at around SEK 900 million to be achieved 

within five years after the completion of the Merger, of which approximately half are operational expenditure 

and CAPEX synergies and the other half are revenue synergies. A majority of operational expenditure and 

CAPEX synergies are expected to be realized within three years after the completion of the Merger. The 

transaction is expected to be operating cash flow and free cash flow accretive for Enlarged Tele2 from the first 

year after the completion. 

Enlarged Tele2 will have an attractive financial profile. The Merger will build strength through increased scale 

and product diversification, enabling a more diversified revenue base and resilient cash flow generation. 

Enlarged Tele2 is expected to have significant capacity to both support Enlarged Tele2’s strategic ambitions, 

drive growth and to allow for attractive shareholder remuneration and returns. 

Information on Enlarged Tele2 

The following overview of Enlarged Tele2 is based on, among other things, the assumption that the Merger and 

the combination of the business operations of Tele2 and Com Hem will be completed in the manner and the 

timeframe contemplated in the Issuer’s Merger Document. However, there can be no certainty that the Merger 

will be completed, or that the business operations of Tele2 and Com Hem will be combined in the manner or 

timeframe contemplated in the Issuer’s Merger Document, any of which could cause any of the statements 

below regarding Enlarged Tele2 not to materialise. 

Certain information in the discussion and analysis set forth below includes forward-looking statements that 

involve risks and uncertainties. 

Business overview 

Enlarged Tele2 will be a European telecommunications operator, with a clear focus on the Baltic Sea region. 

Enlarged Tele2 will offer mobile services, broadband, digital TV & play, fixed telephony, data network services, 

global Internet of Things (IoT) solutions and network operator services to more than 19 million customers, 

when the number of Tele2 customers (including customers in the Netherlands, which is reported as discontinued 

operations) customer subscriptions in Com Hem’s Com Hem and Boxer Segments and Com Hem’s unique B2B 

customers are aggregated, without accounting for possible overlap, based on Tele2 and Com Hem’s respective 

reports for the six months ended 31 June 2018. 

Enlarged Tele2 will operate with the geographically split operating segments of Sweden, Lithuania, Latvia, 

Estonia, Kazakhstan, Croatia, and Germany, as well as the operating segment Other which will mainly include 

IoT, the parent company Tele2 AB (publ) and central functions, and other minor operations. In addition, 

Enlarged Tele2 will, following the expected successful completion during 2018 of the merger between Tele2 

Netherlands and T-Mobile Netherlands announced on 15 December 2017, hold a 25 per cent. equity stake in 

the combined Dutch entity. Following the Merger, Sweden will be Enlarged Tele2’s largest operating segment 

in terms of revenue, net profit and adjusted EBITDA. 

Strategic priorities of Enlarged Tele2 

The Merger will increase the focus on the Swedish Market, as well as strengthen and diversify the Swedish 

operations, for Enlarged Tele2 vis-à-vis the two companies separately. By combining Tele2’s offering of mobile 

services and connectivity for primarily individuals and businesses with Com Hem’s fixed connectivity and TV 

service offering aimed at households, Enlarged Tele2 will be in a position to address the full connectivity and 

digital entertainment needs for individuals, household and businesses. Enlarged Tele2 will continue to strive to 

provide the best experience for its customers and will aim to have the most loved brands and the highest 

customer satisfaction. Enlarged Tele2 will continue to promote a digital culture internally to enable a best in 

class online experience as well as continue to leverage on new technological innovations to modernise the 

products and services to match the changing requirements from its customers, whilst also steering towards 

digitalisation of operations with lower production costs. 
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Moreover, Enlarged Tele2 will strive to be the most cost-efficient operator in the industry. The increased scale 

achieved through the Merger will provide ample opportunities to further increase the effectiveness of operations 

as well as enable selective and optimised investments of strategic importance. 

Leverage target and shareholder remuneration framework after the Merger 

On 10 January 2018, together with the announcement of the Merger, Tele2 outlined a preliminary financial 

target framework for Enlarged Tele2. On 23 April 2018, the Board of Directors of Tele2, in agreement with the 

Board of Directors of Com Hem, decided to update the preliminary financial target framework for Enlarged 

Tele2, by introducing new and more specific policies for financial leverage and shareholder remuneration. 

The new financial leverage target and shareholder remuneration framework are as follows: 

• Enlarged Tele2 will seek to operate within an economic net debt/adjusted EBITDA range of between 

2.5-3.0x and maintain investment grade credit metrics. 

• Enlarged Tele2’s policy will aim to maintain target leverage by distributing capital to shareholders 

through 

• an ordinary dividend of at least 80 per cent. of equity free cash flow; and 

• extraordinary dividends and/or share repurchases, based on remaining equity free cash flow, 

proceeds from asset sales and re-leveraging of EBITDA growth. 

Based on this policy, Enlarged Tele2 is expected to distribute in excess of 100 per cent. of equity free cash flow 

to shareholders, through a combination of dividends and share repurchases. Tele2 and Com Hem believe that 

the prospects for cash returns to shareholders of the combined group, under this policy, are stronger than what 

could be expected for holders of Tele2 or Com Hem on a stand-alone basis. 

Market overview of Enlarged Tele2 

Key telecommunication industry trends and drivers in Europe 

Tele2 has identified the following key market trends that are expected to continue to influence the 

telecommunications industry and Enlarged Tele2’s business. 

Growing importance of data 

In recent years the surge in data consumption has primarily been driven by faster fixed and mobile networks 

with greater geographic reach and capacity as well as changing consumer behavior. The growing number of 

smartphones and the increased smartphone penetration has resulted in consumers using more data intensive 

applications and expecting to have mobile access whenever and wherever. 

According to the GSM Association (“GSMA”), global data traffic volumes are forecasted to grow at a 

compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of 47 per cent. between 2016 and 2020, a more than seven-fold 

increase. However, regional variations in data usage do exist. According to Ericsson, mobile data traffic in 

Western Europe is expected to grow 8 times between 2016 and 2022 compared with 5 times for North America 

and 11 times for Central and Eastern Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“CEMA”).  

Tele2 believes that the growing importance of data presents both challenges and opportunities for 

telecommunication operators in the coming years and that the key success factor will be telecommunication 

operators’ ability to monetise the strong growth in data traffic. As illustrated in the chart below, mobile handset 

data as a percentage of total mobile revenue for telecommunication operators are expected to increase by 16.9 

per cent. points from 38.6 per cent. in 2016 to 55.4 per cent. by 2022. Furthermore, the expected increased 

smartphone penetration in Central and Eastern Europe is also expected to support the growth in mobile data 

usage. 
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Consolidation 

Pressure for consolidation remains high in the European telecommunications industry, in particular as a result 

of high investment needs for network build-out in the transition to 5G and increased fixed-mobile convergence, 

and as certain smaller market participants have failed to reach critical mass. In addition, digitalisation of the 

entire economy, exponential growth in data usage as well as an ever growing demand for higher download and 

upload speeds, further feeds the need for network investments. 

Merger notifications in the electronic communications sector have been subject to close scrutiny over the last 

few years at both the Swedish and European Union level.  

The EC closely investigates mobile mergers where the number of operators in a country is reduced from four 

to three, and is prepared to intervene when the executive body sees no direct benefits for end customers and 

foresees higher retail prices for customers. This led to the failed merger between Telia Company and Telenor in 

Denmark in the second half of 2015 and the disapproval of a merger between Hutchison 3G and O2 in the UK 

in the second quarter of 2016. However, the EC assesses notified concentrations on a case-by-case approach, 

and did approve the merger between Hutchison and Veon in Italy, be it under the condition of significant 

remedies. It also approved the deal between Hutchison and O2 in Ireland (second quarter 2014), Hutchison and 

Orange in Austria (first quarter 2013) and Telefonica Deutschland and E-Plus in Germany (second half 2014) 

with only light remedies imposed. Moreover, the EC has assessed fixed-mobile mergers on a number of 

occasions. For example, in August 2016, the merger of Vodafone’s and Liberty Global’s operations in the 

Netherlands was cleared by the EC with the remedy that Vodafone divest its competing retail consumer fixed 

line business. The EC also approved British Telecom’s takeover of Everything Everywhere in the first half of 

2016 as well as Vodafone’s takeover of Kabel Deutschland in Germany in the second half of 2013. 

Continues network development and technology innovation 

As demand for data increases rapidly in the coming years, telecommunication operators will have to continue 

to be at the forefront in terms of network performance to be able to provide customers with an excellent, 

efficient, and customer friendly data experience. Tele2 expects focus to be on network development around 

mobile and fixed access solutions that enables even faster, more flexible and secure transfer of data. 

According to GSMA, telecommunication operators globally have invested more than USD 1.2 trillion in 

CAPEX to increase network capacity and deploy mobile broadband since 2010. However, CAPEX levels 

according to GSMA peaked in 2015 and declined by 6 per cent. in 2016, primarily as a consequence of many 

telecommunication operators in these countries being early in the roll-out of 4G networks and having now 

finished their network improvements. Going forward, GSMA expects CAPEX levels for telecommunication 

operators to continue to decline (though at a slower rate) before returning to growth in 2020 as a result of the 

rollout of 5G in advanced markets. 

Fixed-mobile convergence 

Fixed mobile convergence is a growing trend across Western Europe, with operators combining wireless and 

fixed businesses in countries such as the UK, Germany, Spain and the Netherlands to offer consumers bundled 

telecommunication products. This has been driven by the consumers desire to receive services from a single 

operator with an “all-in-one” price. Services can be offered via “double play” (two products bundled together 

e.g. mobile and broadband), “triple play” (three products bundled together e.g. mobile, broadband and TV) and 

finally “quad play” (all four telecommunications products in one bundle e.g. mobile, broadband, TV and fixed 

telephony). 

GSMA notes several benefits of fixed-mobile convergence including improved customer retention for those 

receiving bundled products, enhanced user experience as well as future proofing against disruptive technology. 

With integrated operators having the network infrastructure as well a broad product offering, it positions them 

for digitalisation and 5G and the expected move to a wider communications ecosystem and IoT. 
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Digitalisation 

Digitalisation, the use of digital technologies to change a business model, is a theme that is happening across 

all industries, including telecommunications. This transformation can both create new growth opportunities and 

be used as a tool to drive efficiency and productivity. For telecommunication operators, digitalisation has several 

effects, for example on which channels they interact with customers through and what kind of products & 

services the customers demand. 

Internet of Things 

The IoT market is experiencing a strong growth that is forecasted to continue over a foreseeable future with 

global IoT revenue according to McKinsey, expected to more than double during the period from 2015 to 2020, 

going from USD 900 billion in 2015 to potentially USD 3.8 trillion in 2020. Ericsson predicts that the number 

of connected devices will rise from 16 billion in 2016 to 29 billion in 2022. The IoT market is still in an early 

phase, with technical standards being developed by a need for low power and low cost sensors. The IoT value 

chain is composed of hardware, connectivity, value added services, system integration and vertical application 

suppliers. 

Viewing preferences and OTT services 

Across the industry, and in Sweden in particular, there has been a general shift of viewing habits for consumers. 

The amount of content being consumed in the linear form has been flat or is declining, whilst so called Over-

the-top (“OTT”) services such as “on demand” have been increasing. 

According to Frost & Sullivan research, the European OTT market was valued at EUR 4.3 billion in 2016, a 40 

per cent. increase on the previous year. Increasing smartphone penetration and smart TVs have caused a shift 

in viewing patterns for customers with Frost & Sullivan estimating that 65 per cent. of all internet users are 

active video viewers through some sort of connected device. Frost & Sullivan report that a favourable regulatory 

environment has also led to a burgeoning of OTT services aiding the shift in viewing patterns and providing 

greater alternatives for consumers with less interest in traditional TV. They conclude that Europe is a well-

developed market in OTT and is attractive for future consolidation and convergence.  

Key trends going forward, according to Credence Research, include an increased focus on HD content, rising 

internet penetration worldwide, cloud based delivery of OTT content and partnerships / M&A with others in 

the OTT ecosystem. Credence Research expects the OTT market to grow at a CAGR of 14.4 per cent. between 

2016 and 2023. 
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NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES 

The Group uses certain measures derived from consolidated financial data but not presented in its financial 

statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. The following measures are considered “non IFRS financial 

measures” under the European prospectus rules and are included because Tele2 believes that they are important 

supplemental measures of operating performance and liquidity: 

This Prospectus contains financial measures which are used by Tele2 to assess the financial performance of its 

businesses. These measures include adjusted EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA margin, free cash flow, CAPEX paid, 

CAPEX, net debt, economic net debt, economic net debt to adjusted EBITDA and like-for-like and are included 

because Tele2 believes that they are important supplemental measures of operating performance and liquidity. 

These measures are presented based on information derived from Tele2’s financial statements and other 

historical accounting records. These measures of operating performance and liquidity are not required by or 

presented in accordance with IFRS and should not be considered a substitute to Tele2’s financial statements 

prepared in accordance with IFRS. In addition, these measures are not intended to be an indication of Tele2’s 

ability to fund its, or, following the completion of the Merger, Enlarged Tele2’s cash requirements. 

Consideration should be given to the types of events and transactions that are excluded from the calculation of 

these non-IFRS measures. Other companies may calculate non-IFRS measures differently than Tele2 does. 

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin for the periods 

indicated: 

 Nine months ended 30 September Year ended 31 December 

SEK million 2018 2017 2017 2016 

Operating profit 3,214  2,850 3,586 2,429 

Items affecting comparabilitya 354  206 258 722 

Results from shares in joint ventures and 

associated companies -13 -1 –  – 

Depreciation/amortization and other 
impairments 1,884 1,873 2,596 2,160 

Adjusted EBITDA 5,439 4,928 6,440 5,311 

Revenue 19,289 18,215 24,786 20,891 

Adjusted EBTIDA margin (percent) 28.2 27.1 26.0 25.4 

 

(a) Integration Items affecting comparability: consists of the following items. 

 Nine months ended 30 September Year ended 31 December 

SEK million 2018 2017 2017 2016 

Impairment of Goodwill – – – 344 

Sale of operations – – – 1 

Acquisition costs 204 1 20 61 

Integration costsb 150 136 160 81 

Challenger programc  69 78 235 

Sales of 2G sites to 

Net4Mobility and dismantling 2G sitesd – – – – 

Devaluation in Kazakhstan – – – – 

Total items affecting comparability 354 206  258 722 

 

(b) Integration costs: Integration costs include redundancy costs, other employee and consultancy costs, and 

costs associated with the exit of contracts related to TDC, Sweden and Altel, Kazakhstan. 

(c) Challenger program: At the end of 2014, Tele2 announced its Challenger program, which is a program to 

step change productivity in the Group. The program will strengthen the organisation further and enable it to 

continue to challenge the industry. Challenger program costs include redundancy costs, other employee and 

consultancy costs, and costs associated with the exit of contracts. The Challenger program ended on 31 

December 2017. 
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(d) Sales of 2G sites to Net4Mobility and dismantling 2G sites: Transactions related to sales of 2G sites to 

Net4Mobility, an infrastructure joint operation between Tele2 Sweden and Telenor Sweden, as well as the result 

of dismantling 2G sites. 

Adjusted EBITDA: Operating profit/loss from continuing operations before depreciation/amortization and other 

impairments, results from shares in joint ventures and associated companies and items affecting comparability.  

Adjusted EBITDA margin: Adjusted EBITDA in relation to revenue. 

Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin are presented to illustrate the profitability of the underlying 

business, excluding items affecting comparability and historical investment decisions. Adjusted EBITDA is the 

measure used by management to assess the trading performance of Tele2’s business and is therefore the measure 

of segment profit that the Group presents under IFRS. Adjusted EBITDA is also presented on a consolidated 

basis because management believes it is important to consider Tele2’s profitability on a basis consistent with 

that of Tele2’s operating segments. When presented on a consolidated basis, adjusted EBITDA is a non-IFRS 

measure. Management believes that adjusted EBITDA should, therefore, be made available to securities 

analysts, investors and other interested parties to assist in their assessment of the trading performance of Tele2’s 

businesses. 

Free cash flow 

 

Free cash flow: Cash flow from operating activities less CAPEX paid. 

Free cash flow is presented to provide a view of funds generated from operating activities which also includes 

investments in intangible and tangible assets. Management believes free cash flow is meaningful to investors 

because it is the measure of the Group’s funds available for acquisition related payments, dividends to 

shareholders, share repurchases and debt repayment. The purpose of presenting free cash flow is to indicate the 

ongoing cash generation within the control of the Group after taking account of the necessary cash expenditures 

of maintaining the capital and operating structure of the Group (in the form of payments of interest, corporate 

taxation and capital expenditure). This computation may not be comparable to that of similarly titled measures 

presented by other companies. 

CAPEX paid and CAPEX 

 Nine months ended 30 September Year ended 31 December 

SEK million 2018 2017 2017 2016 

Acquisition of intangible assets  -611  -471 -671 -527 

Acquisition of tangible assets  -1,686 -1,909 -2,554 -3,296 

Sale of intangible assets  12  5 5 – 

Sale of tangible assets 11 6 7 24 

CAPEX Paid -2,274 -2,369 -3,213 -3,799 

This period's unpaid CAPEX and paid 

CAPEX from previous periods 214 436 264 -9 

Received payments of sold intangible and 

tangible assets -23 -11 -12 -25 

CAPEX -2,083 -1,944 2,961 3,833 

 

CAPEX paid: Cash paid for the additions to intangible and tangible assets net of cash proceeds from sales of 

intangible and tangible assets.  

CAPEX: Additions to intangible and tangible assets that are capitalized on the balance sheet. 

 Nine months ended 30 September Year ended 31 December 

SEK million 2018 2017 2017 2016 

Cash flow from operating activities  4,032  4,657 5,732 5,016 

CAPEX paid -2,274 -2,369 -3,213 -3,799 

Free cash flow 1,758 2,288 2,519 1,217 
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Tele2 considers CAPEX paid relevant to present as it provides an indication of how much the company invests 

organically on intangible and tangible assets to maintain and expand its business. Tele2 believes that it is 

relevant to present CAPEX to provide a view on how much Tele2 invests organically on intangible and tangible 

assets to maintain and grow its business which is not dependent on the timing of cash payments. 

 

Net debt and economic net debt 

 Nine months ended 30 September Year ended 31 December 

SEK million 2018 2017 2017 2016 

Interest-bearing non-current liabilities 11,097 11,639 11,565 8,954 

Interest-bearing current liabilities 2,621 2,026 820 3,388 

Excluding equipment financing – -21 -8 -70 

Excluding provisions -1,298 -1,255 -1,080 -1,310 

Cash & cash equivalents, current investments, 

and restricted funds -1,217 -1,072 -806 -279 

Derivatives -13 – -17 -55 

Net debt for assests classified as held for sale – 21 – – 

Net debt 11,190 11,338 10,474 10,628 

Excluding:       

- liabilities to Kazakhtelecom -30 -24 -26 -24 

- loan guaranteed by Kazakhtelecom -713 -392 -246 -67 

- liability for earn-out obligation Kazakhstan -225 -224 -432 -100 

Economic net debt 10,222 10,698 9,770 10,473 

 

Net debt: Interest-bearing non-current and current liabilities excluding equipment financing, provisions cash 

and cash equivalents, current investments restricted cash and derivatives. 

Economic net debt: Net debt excluding liabilities to Kazakhtelecom, loan guaranteed by Kazakhtelecom and 

liability for earn-out obligation in Kazakhstan. 

Tele2 believes that net debt is relevant to present as it is useful to illustrate the indebtedness, financial flexibility, 

and capital structure. Furthermore, economic net debt is considered relevant as it excludes liabilities to 

Kazakhtelecom, loan guaranteed by Kazakhtelecom and the liability for the earn-out obligation in Kazakhstan, 

and thereby taking into account the specific contractual arrangements in the Kazakh business. 

Economic net debt to adjusted EBITDA 

 Nine months ended 30 September Year ended 31 December 

SEK million 2018 2017 2017 2016 

Economic net debt 10,222  10,698 9,770  10,437 

in relation to:     
Adjusted EBITDA (continuing operations)  5,439 4,928 6,440 5,311 

Adjusted EBITDA (held for sale) 201 281 308 -32 

Adjusted EBITDA (pro forma for acquisition of 
TDC) – 17 0 320 

Adjusted EBITDA carried over from previous 

year (continuing operations and held for sale) 1,685 1,442 – – 

less 51 per cent. of adjusted EBITDA 12 month 
rolling in Kazakhstan  -477 -270 -328 -99 

Economic net debt to adjusted EBITDA (ratio) 1.49 1.67 1.52 1.90 

 

Economic net debt to adjusted EBITDA: Economic net debt in relation to adjusted EBITDA rolling 12 months 

including pro forma acquired companies but only including Tele2’s share (49 per cent.) of adjusted EBITDA in 

Kazakhstan. 
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Tele2 considers economic net debt to adjusted EBITDA as a relevant measure to be able to understand the 

Company’s financial position. 

Like-for-like 

Like-for-like growth rates: Calculated at constant currency, meaning that comparative figures have been 

recalculated using the currency rates for the current period, and excluding effects of divestments and 

acquisitions. 

Tele2 believes that like-for-like growth rates are relevant to present as they exclude effects from currency 

movements as well as divestments and acquisitions, and are therefore providing an indication of the underlying 

performance. 
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INFORMATION ON TELE2 SVERIGE AB   

General  

The Guarantor’s legal and commercial name is Tele2 Sverige AB (“Tele2 Sverige”). Tele2 Sverige was 

incorporated under the laws of Sweden on 31 October 1985 and is a private limited liability company registered 

in Sweden with number 556267-5164. The registered office of Tele2 Sverige is at Box 62, SE-164 94, Kista, 

Sweden, with telephone number +46 8 5626 4000. 

Tele2 Sverige is the entity through which all Tele2 operations in Sweden are conducted. Tele2 Sverige is 

engaged in fixed and mobile telephony, and provides data networks and internet services.  

Tele2 Sverige’s share capital amounts to SEK 150,000,000 with a total of 1,500,000 shares outstanding at 31 

December 2017. The Issuer is the ultimate parent company of Tele2 Sverige. Tele2 Sverige is, indirectly or 

directly the parent company of all operating subsidiaries within the Group. 

Board of Directors 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Directors of Tele2 Sverige, their functions and the principal outside 

activities (if any) performed by them are as follows: 

Directors Role Principal activities outside Tele2 Sverige 

Allison Kirkby Chairman, Non-Executive 

Director  

President and Group Chief Executive Officer of 

Tele2, Member of the Board of Directors of Reach 

for Change Foundation, SecureValue EEIG and 

Khan Tengri Holding B.V., and various directorships 

in companies within the Group. Non-Executive 

Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of 

Greggs PLC. 

Stefan Backman Non-Executive Director Executive Vice President of Tele2, Group General 

Counsel, Chairman of the Board of MTG Radio 

Megahertz AB, Everyday Webguide AB, Interloop 

Telecom Sverige AB and Datametrix AB. Member 

of the Board of Directors of Tele2Butikerna AB, 

Datametrix Integration AB, Svenska UTMS-nät AB, 

Svenska UMTS-licens AB, Svenska UMTS-licens II 

AB and N4M Service AB. Deputy member of the 

Board of Directors of Telenor Broadband AB. 

Various directorships in companies within the 

Group. 

Lars Nordmark Non-Executive Director Executive Vice President of Tele2, Group Chief 

Financial Officer, Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

and member of the Board of Directors of Securitas 

Direct Aktiebolag, Verisure Midholding AB and 

Verisure Holding AB. Member of the Board of 

Directors of Verisure Innovation AB. Various 

directorships in companies within the Group. 

 

The business address (in respect of Tele2 Sverige’s business) of each of the above Directors is Box 62, 164 94, 

Kista, Sweden. 
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There are no conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of interest between the duties of any Director to Tele2 

Sverige and their private interests or other duties. 
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TAXATION 

Swedish Taxation  

The following summary outlines certain Swedish tax consequences relating to holders of Notes. The summary 

is based on the laws of the Kingdom of Sweden as currently in effect and is intended to provide general 

information only. The summary does not address, inter alia, situations where the Notes are held in an investment 

savings account (Sw. investeringssparkonto) or the rules regarding reporting obligations for, among others, 

payers of interest. Investors should consult their professional tax advisers regarding the Swedish tax and other 

tax consequences (including the applicability and effect of tax treaties for the avoidance of double taxation) of 

acquiring, owning and disposing of Notes in their particular circumstances. 

Holders not tax resident in the Kingdom of Sweden 

Payments of any principal amount or any amount that is considered to be interest for Swedish tax purposes to 

a holder of Notes should not be subject to Swedish income tax, provided that such a holder (i) is not resident in 

the Kingdom of Sweden for Swedish tax purposes and (ii) does not have a permanent establishment in the 

Kingdom of Sweden to which the Notes are effectively connected.  

Swedish withholding tax, or Swedish tax deduction, is not imposed on payments of any principal amount or 

any amount that is considered to be interest for Swedish tax purposes, except for certain payments of interest 

(and other return on Notes) to a private individual (or an estate of a deceased individual) who is resident in 

Sweden for Swedish tax purposes (see “Holders tax resident in the Kingdom of Sweden” below). 

Holders tax resident in the Kingdom of Sweden 

In general, for Swedish corporations and private individuals (and estates of deceased individuals) with residence 

in the Kingdom of Sweden for Swedish tax purposes, all capital income (for example, income that is considered 

to be interest for Swedish tax purposes and capital gains on Notes) will be taxable. Specific tax consequences 

may be applicable to certain categories of corporations, for example life insurance companies. Moreover, 

specific tax consequences may be applicable if, and to the extent that, a holder of Notes realises a capital loss 

on a Note due to any currency exchange gains or losses. 

If amounts that are deemed as interest for Swedish tax purposes are paid by a legal entity domiciled in the 

Kingdom of Sweden, including a Swedish branch, to a private individual (or an estate of a deceased individual) 

with residence in the Kingdom of Sweden for Swedish tax purposes, Swedish preliminary taxes are normally 

withheld by such legal entity on such payments. Swedish preliminary taxes should normally also be withheld 

on other returns on Notes (but not capital gains), if the return is paid out together with such a payment of interest 

referred to above.  

Payments under the Guarantee 

If the Guarantor makes any payments under the Guarantee, for Swedish tax purposes such payments will be 

subject to the same tax treatment as if they were made by the Issuer. Please see the relevant section above. 

Luxembourg  

Withholding tax and self-applied tax 

Under Luxembourg tax law currently in effect and with the possible exception of interest paid to certain 

individual Noteholders, there is no Luxembourg withholding tax on payments of interest (including accrued but 

unpaid interest). There is also no Luxembourg withholding tax, with the possible exception of payments made 

to certain individual Noteholders, upon repayment of principal in case of reimbursement, redemption, 

repurchase or exchange of the Notes. 
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Pursuant to the Luxembourg law of 23 December 2005, as amended (the “Law”), interest payments made by 

Luxembourg paying agents to Luxembourg individual residents are subject to a 20 per cent. withholding tax 

(the “20 per cent. Luxembourg Withholding Tax”). 

In accordance with the Law, Luxembourg resident individuals, acting in the course of their private wealth, can 

opt to self-declare and pay a 20 per cent. tax (the “20 per cent. Tax”) on interest payments made by paying 

agents located in an EU Member State other than Luxembourg, or a Member State of the European Economic 

Area other than an EU Member States.  

The 20 per cent. Luxembourg Withholding Tax or the 20 per cent. Tax represents the final tax liability on interest 

received for the Luxembourg resident individuals receiving the interest payment in the course of their private 

wealth (and can be reduced in consideration of foreign withholding tax, based on double tax treaties concluded 

by Luxembourg). Individual Luxembourg resident Noteholders receiving the interest as business income must 

include this interest in their taxable basis; if applicable, the 20 per cent. Luxembourg Withholding Tax levied 

will be credited against their final income tax liability. 

FATCA Withholding 

Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly known as FATCA, a 

“foreign financial institution” may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes (“foreign passthru 

payments”) to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, or related requirements. A number of 

jurisdictions (including Sweden) have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, intergovernmental 

agreements with the United States to implement FATCA (“IGAs”), which modify the way in which FATCA 

applies in their jurisdictions. Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to 

instruments such as the Notes, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an 

IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes, uncertain and may be subject to change. Even 

if withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such 

as the Notes, such withholding would not apply prior to 1 January 2019 and Notes that are characterised as debt 

(or which are not otherwise characterised as equity and have a fixed term) for U.S. federal tax purposes that are 

issued on or prior to the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations defining “foreign 

passthru payments” are filed with the U.S. Federal Register generally would be “grandfathered” for purposes 

of FATCA withholding unless  materially modified after such date. However, if additional notes (as described 

under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Further Issues”) that are not distinguishable from these Notes are 

issued after the expiration of the grandfathering period and are subject to withholding under FATCA, then 

withholding agents may treat all Notes, including the Notes offered prior to the expiration of the grandfathering 

period, as subject to withholding under FATCA. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding how 

these rules may apply to their investment in the Notes. 
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE 

Summary of Dealer Agreement 

Subject to the terms and on the conditions contained in an amended and restated dealer agreement dated 22 

October 2018 (the “Dealer Agreement”) between the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Permanent Dealers and the 

Arranger, the Notes will be offered on a continuous basis by the Issuer to the Permanent Dealers. However, the 

Issuer has reserved the right to sell Notes directly on its own behalf to Dealers that are not Permanent Dealers. 

The Notes may be resold at prevailing market prices, or at prices related thereto, at the time of such resale, as 

determined by the relevant Dealer. The Notes may also be sold by the Issuer through the Dealers, acting as 

agents of the Issuer. The Dealer Agreement also provides for Notes to be issued in syndicated Tranches that are 

jointly and severally underwritten by two or more Dealers. 

Each of the Issuer will pay each relevant Dealer a commission as agreed between them in respect of Notes 

subscribed by it. The Issuer has agreed to reimburse the Arranger for certain of its expenses incurred in 

connection with the update of the Programme and the Dealers for certain of their activities in connection with 

the Programme.  

The Issuer and the Guarantor has agreed to indemnify the Dealers against certain liabilities in connection with 

the offer and sale of the Notes. The Dealer Agreement entitles the Dealers to terminate any agreement that they 

make to subscribe Notes in certain circumstances prior to payment for such Notes being made to the Issuer. 

Selling Restrictions  

United States 

The Notes and the Guarantee have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and the Notes 

may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, except 

in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this 

paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S, under the Securities Act (“Regulation S”). 

Bearer Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the 

United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. 

tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue 

Code of 1986, as amended and regulations thereunder. The applicable terms of the Bearer Notes will identify 

whether TEFRA C or TEFRA D applies or whether TEFRA is not applicable. 

Each Dealer has represented and agreed that, except as permitted by the Dealer Agreement, it will not offer, sell 

or, in the case of Bearer Notes, deliver Notes (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 

40 days after the completion of the distribution of an identifiable tranche of which such Notes are a part, as 

determined and certified to the Fiscal Agent by such Dealer (or, in the case of an identifiable tranche of Notes 

sold to or through more than one Dealer, by each of such Dealers with respect to Notes of an identifiable tranche 

purchased by or through it, in which case the Fiscal Agent shall notify such Dealer when all such Dealers have 

so certified), within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, and it will have sent 

to each Dealer to which it sells Notes during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice 

setting out the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or 

benefit of, U.S. persons. Terms used in the preceding sentence have the meanings given to them by 

Regulation S. 

The Notes are being offered and sold outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation 

S.  
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In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of any identifiable tranche of Notes, an offer 

or sale of Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering of such 

tranche of Notes) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act. 

Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors 

Unless the Final Terms in respect of any Notes specifies the “Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors” as 

“Not Applicable”, each Dealer has represented and agreed, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made 

available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering 

contemplated by this Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to any retail investor in the 

European Economic Area. For the purposes of this provision: 

(i) the expression "retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of the following: 

a. a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID 

II"); or 

b. a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC (as amended, the "Insurance Mediation 

Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) 

of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or 

c. not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive; and 

(ii) the expression an “offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient 

information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to 

purchase or subscribe the Notes. 

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes specifies “Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors” as “Not 

Applicable”, each Dealer has represented and agreed, in relation to each Member State of the European 

Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”), that with 

effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member 

State (the “Relevant Implementation Date”) it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the 

subject of the offering contemplated by this Prospectus as completed by the final terms in relation thereto to the 

public in that Relevant Member State except that it may, with effect from and including the Relevant 

Implementation Date, make an offer of such Notes to the public in that Relevant Member State: 

(a) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive; 

(b) at any time to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the 

Prospectus Directive), subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated 

by the Issuer for any such offer; or 

(c) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive, 

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in (a) to (c) above shall require the Issuer or any Dealer to 

publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to 

Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive. 

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an “offer of Notes to the public” in relation to any Notes in 

any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information 

on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe 

the Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus 

Directive in that Member State, the expression “Prospectus Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (as 

amended, including by Directive 2010/73/EU), and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant 

Member State.  

United Kingdom 

Each Dealer has represented and agreed that:  
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(i) in relation to any Notes which have a maturity of less than one year, (a) it is a person whose ordinary 

activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or as agent) 

for the purposes of its business and (b) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other 

than to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of 

investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect 

will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or as agent) for the purposes of their 

businesses where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of Section 19 of the 

FSMA by the Issuer; 

(iii) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be 

communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of 

Section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances 

in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer or the Guarantor; and 

(iv) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything 

done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom. 

Kingdom of Sweden  

Each Dealer has represented and agreed that it will not, directly or indirectly, offer for subscription or purchase 

or issue invitations to subscribe for or buy or sell any Notes or distribute any draft or definite document in 

relation to any such offer, invitation or sale in the Kingdom of Sweden except in circumstances that will not 

result in a requirement to prepare a prospectus pursuant to the provisions of the Swedish Financial Instruments 

Trading Act (lag (1991:980) om handel med finansiella instrument). 

Norway  

Each Dealer has represented and agreed that it will not, directly or indirectly, offer for subscription or purchase 

or issue invitations to subscribe for or buy or sell any Notes or distribute any draft or definite document in 

relation to any such offer, invitation or sale in Norway except (i) to "professional investors" as defined in section 

7-1 of the Norwegian Securities Regulation of 29 June 2007 no. 876 (Verdipapirforskriften) or (ii) with 

minimum subscription amount and allotment of at least EUR 100,000, such that any such offer, invitation or 

sale of the Notes in Norway will not result in a requirement to prepare a prospectus pursuant to the provisions 

of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act (2007) (Verdipapirhandelloven) chapter 7. 

Japan 

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan 

(Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended) (the “Financial Instruments and Exchange Act”). Accordingly, each Dealer 

has represented and agreed that it has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly or 

indirectly, offer or sell any Notes in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (which term as used 

herein means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws 

of Japan) or to others for re-offering or re-sale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any 

resident of Japan except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in 

compliance with, the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan. 

Republic of Italy  

The offering of the Notes has not been registered with the Commissione Nazionale per le Società e la Borsa 

(“CONSOB”) pursuant to Italian securities legislation and, accordingly, no Notes may be offered, sold or 

delivered, nor may copies of this Prospectus or of any other document relating to any Notes be distributed in 

Italy, except, in accordance with any Italian securities, tax and other applicable laws and regulations.  

Each Dealer has represented and agreed that it has not offered, sold or delivered, and will not offer, sell or 

deliver any Notes or distribute any copy of this Prospectus or any other document relating to the Notes in Italy 

except (a) to qualified investors (investitori qualificati), as defined pursuant to Article 100 of Legislative Decree 

no. 58 of 24 February 1998 (the “Financial Services Act”) and Article 34-ter, paragraph 1, letter (b) of 
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CONSOB regulation No. 11971 of 14 May 1999 (the “Issuers Regulation”), all as amended from time to time; 

or (b) in other circumstances which are exempted from the rules on public offerings pursuant to Article 100 of 

the Financial Services Act and Issuers Regulation. 

In any event, any offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution of copies of this Prospectus or any other 

document relating to the Notes in Italy under (a) or (b) above must be:  

(i) made by an investment firm, bank or financial intermediary permitted to conduct such activities in Italy 

in accordance with the Financial Services Act, Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993 (the 

“Banking Act”) and CONSOB Regulation No. 20307of 15 February 2018, all as amended from time to 

time;  

(v) in compliance with Article 129 of the Banking Act, as amended from time to time, and the implementing 

guidelines of the Bank of Italy, as amended from time to time; and   

(vi) in compliance with any other applicable laws and regulations, including any limitation or requirement 

which may be imposed from time to time by CONSOB or the Bank of Italy or other competent authority.  

Investors should note that, in accordance with Article 100-bis of the Financial Services Act, where no exemption 

from the rules on public offerings applies under (a) and (b) above, the subsequent distribution of the Notes on 

the secondary market in Italy must be made in compliance with the public offer and the prospectus requirement 

rules provided under the Financial Services Act and the Issuers Regulation. Furthermore, where no exemption 

from the rules on public offerings applies, the Notes which are initially offered and placed in Italy or abroad to 

professional investors only but in the following year are "systematically" distributed on the secondary market 

in Italy become subject to the public offer and the prospectus requirement rules provided under the Financial 

Services Act and Issuers Regulation. Failure to comply with such rules may result in the sale of such Notes 

being declared null and void and in the liability of the intermediary transferring the financial instruments for 

any damages suffered by the purchasers of Notes who are acting outside of the course of their business or 

profession. 

General 

These selling restrictions may be modified by the agreement of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Dealers 

following a change in a relevant law, regulation or directive. Any such modification will be set out in the 

Subscription Agreement issued in respect of the issue of such Notes or in a supplement to this Prospectus. 

No representation is made that any action has been taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a public offering 

of any of the Notes, or possession or distribution of this Prospectus or any other offering material or any Final 

Terms, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. 

Each Dealer has agreed that it shall, to the best of its knowledge, comply with all relevant laws, regulations and 

directives in each jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or has in its possession or 

distributes this Prospectus, any other offering material or any Final Terms, in all cases at its own expense. 
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THE DEED OF GUARANTEE 

The following is the text of the Deed of Guarantee which has been entered into by Tele2 Sverige. 

“This Amended and Restated Deed of Guarantee is made on 22 October 2018 by Tele2 Sverige AB 

(the “Guarantor”) in favour of the Holders and the Relevant Account Holders.  

Whereas: 

(A) Tele2 AB (publ) (the “Issuer”) proposed to issue euro medium term notes guaranteed by the 

Guarantor (the “Notes”, which expression shall, if the context so admits, include the Global Notes 

(in temporary or permanent form) to be initially delivered in respect of the Notes and any related 

coupons and talons) pursuant to an amended and restated agency agreement, as amended or 

supplemented from time to time dated 29 April 2016 between, among others, the Issuer, the 

Guarantor and BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch as Fiscal Agent (the “Fiscal 

Agent”). 

(B) The Issuer has, in relation to the Notes issued by it, entered into an amended and restated deed of 

covenant (as amended and supplemented from time to time, the “Deed of Covenant”) dated 22 

October 2018. 

(C) The Guarantor has agreed to guarantee the payment of all sums expressed to be payable from time 

to time by the Issuer in respect of the Notes to the holders of any Notes (the “Holders”) issued 

by it and under the Deed of Covenant to the Relevant Account Holders (the “Guarantee”) and 

entered into a deed of guarantee dated 13 April 2012 (the “Original Deed of Guarantee”), as 

amended and supplemented from time to time, most recently amended and restated by an 

Amended and Restated Deed of Guarantee dated 4 October 2017.  

(D) It has been decided to amend and restate the Original Deed of Guarantee. Therefore, with effect 

from the date hereof, the Original Deed of Guarantee shall for all purposes be amended and 

restated as set out in this Amended and Restated Deed of Guarantee (the “Deed”) and, 

accordingly, this Deed will apply to Notes issued under the Programme on or after the date of this 

Deed, except those which are expressed to be consolidated and form a single series with Notes 

issued under the Programme before the date of this Deed. 

This Deed Witnesses as follows: 

1 Interpretation 

1.1 Defined Terms: In this Deed, unless otherwise defined herein, capitalised terms shall have the same 

meaning given to them in the Deed of Covenant and the Conditions (as defined in the Deed of 

Covenant). 

1.2 Headings: Headings shall be ignored in construing this Deed. 

1.3 Contracts: References in this Deed to “this Deed” or any other document are to this Deed or these 

documents as amended, supplemented or replaced from time to time in relation to the Programme and 

includes any document that amends, supplements or replaces them. 

2 Guarantee and Indemnity 

2.1 Guarantee: The Guarantor unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees that if the Issuer does not pay 

any sum payable by it under the Deed of Covenant or the Notes by the time and on the date specified 

for such payment (whether on the normal due date, on acceleration or otherwise), the Guarantor shall 

pay that sum to each Holder and each Relevant Account Holder before close of business on that date 

in the city to which payment is so to be made. All payments under this Guarantee by the Guarantor 

shall be made subject to the Conditions. 
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2.2 Guarantor as Principal Debtor: As between the Guarantor, the Holders and the Relevant Account 

Holders but without affecting the Issuer’s obligations, the Guarantor shall be liable under this 

Guarantee as if it were the sole principal debtor and not merely a surety. Accordingly, its obligations 

shall not be discharged, nor shall its liability be affected, by anything that would not discharge it or 

affect its liability if it were the sole principal debtor, including (1) any time, indulgence, waiver or 

consent at any time given to the Issuer or any other person, (2) any amendment to any other provisions 

of this Guarantee, the Deed of Covenant or the Conditions or to any security or other guarantee or 

indemnity, (3) the making or absence of any demand on the Issuer or any other person for payment, (4) 

the enforcement or absence of enforcement of this Guarantee, the Notes, the Deed of Covenant or of 

any security or other guarantee or indemnity, (5) the taking, existence or release of any security, 

guarantee or indemnity, (6) the dissolution, amalgamation, reconstruction or reorganisation of the 

Issuer or any other person or (7) the illegality, invalidity or unenforceability of or any defect in any 

provision of this Guarantee, the Notes, the Deed of Covenant or any of the Issuer’s obligations under 

any of them. 

2.3 Guarantor’s Obligations Continuing: The Guarantor’s obligations under this Guarantee are and shall 

remain in full force and effect by way of continuing security until no sum remains payable under the 

Notes, the Deed of Covenant or this Guarantee and no further Notes may be issued by the Issuer under 

the Programme. Furthermore, those obligations of the Guarantor are additional to, and not instead of, 

any security or other guarantee or indemnity at any time existing in favour of any person, whether from 

the Guarantor or otherwise and may be enforced without first having recourse to the Issuer, any other 

person, any security or any other guarantee or indemnity. The Guarantor irrevocably waives all notices 

and demands of any kind. 

2.4 Exercise of Guarantor’s Rights: So long as any sum remains payable under the Notes, the Deed of 

Covenant or this Guarantee, the Guarantor shall not exercise or enforce any right, by reason of the 

performance of any of its obligations under this Guarantee, to be indemnified by the Issuer or to take 

the benefit of or enforce any security or other guarantee or indemnity. 

2.5 Avoidance of Payments: The Guarantor shall on demand indemnify the relevant Holder or Relevant 

Account Holder, on an after tax basis, against any cost, loss, expense or liability sustained or incurred 

by it as a result of it being required for any reason (including any bankruptcy, insolvency, winding-up, 

dissolution or similar law of any jurisdiction) to refund all or part of any amount received or recovered 

by it in respect of any sum payable by the Issuer under the Notes or the Deed of Covenant and shall in 

any event pay to it on demand the amount as refunded by it. 

2.6 Debts of Issuer: If any moneys become payable by the Guarantor under this Guarantee, the Issuer 

shall not (except in the event of the liquidation of the Issuer) so long as any such moneys remain unpaid, 

pay any moneys for the time being due from the Issuer to the Guarantor. 

2.7 Indemnity: As separate, independent and alternative stipulations, the Guarantor unconditionally and 

irrevocably agrees: (1) that any sum that, although expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the 

Notes, the Deed of Covenant or this Guarantee, is for any reason (whether or not now existing and 

whether or not now known or becoming known to the Issuer, the Guarantor, a Holder or a Relevant 

Account Holder) not recoverable from the Guarantor on the basis of a guarantee shall nevertheless be 

recoverable from it as if it were the sole principal debtor and shall be paid by it to the Holder or Relevant 

Account Holder (as the case may be) on demand; and (2) as a primary obligation to indemnify each 

Holder and Relevant Account Holder against any loss suffered by it as a result of any sum expressed 

to be payable by the Issuer under the Notes, the Deed of Covenant or this Guarantee not being paid on 

the date and otherwise in the manner specified in this Guarantee or in the Conditions or any payment 

obligation of the Issuer under the Notes, the Deed of Covenant or this Guarantee being or becoming 

void, voidable or unenforceable for any reason (whether or not now existing and whether or not now 
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known or becoming known to a Holder or a Relevant Account Holder), the amount of that loss being 

the amount expressed to be payable by the Issuer in respect of the relevant sum. 

2.8 Incorporation of Terms: The Guarantor agrees that it will comply with and be bound by all such 

provisions contained in the Conditions which relate to it. 

3 Payments 

3.1 Payments Free of Taxes: All payments by the Guarantor under this Guarantee shall be made free and 

clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental 

charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within the Kingdom 

of Sweden or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, unless 

such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the Guarantor shall pay such additional 

amounts as shall result in receipt by the Holders and Relevant Account Holders of such amounts as 

would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required, except that no 

such additional amounts shall be payable: 

3.1.1 to, or to a third party on behalf of, a Holder or Relevant Account Holder who is liable to 

such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of the relevant Note or 

Coupon by reason of his having some connection with the Kingdom of Sweden other than 

the mere holding of the Note or Coupon; or 

3.1.2 in respect of any demand for payment made more than 30 days after the Relevant Date 

except to the extent that the Holder or Relevant Account Holder would have been entitled 

to such additional amounts on making such demand on the thirtieth such day. 

Defined terms used in this Clause 3.1 shall have the meanings given to them in the Conditions. 

3.2 Stamp Duties: The Guarantor covenants to and agrees with the Holders and Relevant Account Holders 

that it shall pay promptly, and in any event before any penalty becomes payable, any stamp, 

documentary, registration or similar duty or tax payable in the United Kingdom, the Kingdom of 

Sweden, Belgium or Luxembourg, as the case may be, or in the country of any currency in which the 

Notes may be denominated or amounts may be payable in respect of the Notes or any political 

subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein in connection with the entry into, performance, 

enforcement or admissibility in evidence of this Deed and/or any amendment of, supplement to or 

waiver in respect of this Deed, and shall indemnify each of the Holders and Relevant Account Holders, 

on an after tax basis, against any liability with respect to or resulting from any delay in paying or 

omission to pay any such tax, unless the documents relating to the Deed are voluntarily registered in 

Luxembourg or appended to a document that requires obligatory registration in Luxembourg. 

4 Limitations 

The obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee shall be limited, if (and only if) required by the 

mandatory provisions of the Swedish Companies Act (Sw. Aktiebolagslagen (2005:551)) (the 

“Swedish Companies Act”) regulating unlawful distribution of assets and transfer of value (Chapter 

17, Sections 1 to 4) (or its equivalent from time to time) and the liability of the Guarantor under this 

Guarantee will exist only to the extent permitted by the above mentioned provisions of the Swedish 

Companies Act. 

5 Amendment and Termination 

The Guarantor may not amend, vary, terminate or suspend this Guarantee or its obligations hereunder 

unless such amendment, variation, termination or suspension shall have been approved by an 

Extraordinary Resolution to which the special quorum provisions specified in the Notes apply to the 

holders of each series of Notes outstanding, save that nothing in this Clause shall prevent the Guarantor 
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from increasing or extending its obligations hereunder by way of supplement to this Guarantee at any 

time. 

6 General 

6.1 Benefit: This Guarantee shall enure for the benefit of the Holders and the Relevant Account Holders. 

6.2 Deposit of Guarantee: The Guarantor shall deposit this Deed with the Fiscal Agent, to be held by the 

Fiscal Agent until all the obligations of the Guarantor have been discharged in full. The Guarantor 

acknowledges the right of each Holder and each Relevant Account Holder to the production of, and to 

obtain a copy of, this Deed. 

7 Governing Law and Jurisdiction 

7.1 Governing Law: This Deed and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with 

it shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law, save that the provisions of Clause 

4 relating to limitation of the obligations of the Guarantor are governed by, and shall be construed in 

accordance with, Swedish law. 

7.2 Jurisdiction: The courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of 

or in connection with this Deed and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in 

connection with this Deed (“Proceedings”) may be brought in such courts. The Guarantor irrevocably 

submits to the jurisdiction of such courts and waives any objection to Proceedings in such courts 

whether on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an 

inconvenient forum. This Clause is for the benefit of each of the Relevant Account Holders and each 

of the Holders and shall not limit the right of any of them to take Proceedings in any other court of 

competent jurisdiction nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the 

taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not). 

7.3 Agent for Service of Process: The Guarantor irrevocably appoints Business Sweden of 5 Upper 

Montagu Street, London, W1H 2AG as its agent in England to receive service of process in any 

Proceedings in England based on this Deed. If for any reason the Guarantor does not have such an 

agent in England, it shall promptly appoint a substitute process agent and notify the Noteholders of 

such appointment in accordance with the Conditions. Nothing herein shall affect the right to serve 

process in any other manner permitted by law. 

In witness whereof the Guarantor has caused this Deed to be duly delivered as a deed on the date stated at the 

beginning. 

TELE2 SVERIGE AB 

By:     
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[MIFID II product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market – Solely for the purposes 

of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes 

has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional 

clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID II”); and (ii) all channels for 

distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person 

subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a “distributor”) should take into consideration the 

manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for 

undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the 

manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.] 

 

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold 

or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail 

investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who 

is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; (ii) a customer within 

the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC (as amended, the "Insurance Mediation Directive"), where that customer 

would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a 

qualified investor as defined in Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended, the "Prospectus Directive"). Consequently, 

no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the "PRIIPs Regulation") for 

offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been 

prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor 

in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPS Regulation.] 

FORM OF FINAL TERMS 

Final Terms dated [●] 

Tele2 AB (publ) 

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] 

under the €5,000,000,000 

Guaranteed Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

guaranteed by Tele2 Sverige AB 

 

PART A – CONTRACTUAL TERMS 

 

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the “Conditions”) set 

forth in the Prospectus dated 22 October 2018 [and the supplement(s) to it dated [●]] which [together] constitute[s] 

a base prospectus (the “Base Prospectus”) for the purposes of Directive 2003/71/EC, and amendments thereto, 

including Directive 2010/73/EU (the “Prospectus Directive”). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the 

Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction 

with the Base Prospectus. Full information on the Issuer, the Guarantor and the offer of the Notes is only available 

on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus. The Base Prospectus has been 

published on www.tele2.com.  

The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued under 

a base prospectus with an earlier date. 

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the “Conditions”) set 

forth in the Prospectus dated [13 April 2012/29 April 2016] which are incorporated by reference in the Prospectus 

dated 22 October 2018. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of 

Article 5.4 of Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended (the “Prospectus Directive”) and must be read in conjunction with 
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the Prospectus dated 22 October 2018 [and the supplement(s) to it dated [●]], which [together] constitute[s] a base 

prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive the (“Base Prospectus”), save in respect of the Conditions 

which are extracted from the Prospectus dated [13 April 2012/29 April 2016] [and the supplement(s) to it dated [●]]. 

Full information on the Issuer, the Guarantor and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the 

combination of these Final Terms, the Base Prospectus [and the supplement(s) dated [●]]. The Base Prospectus has 

been published on www.tele2.com. 

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable” (N/A). Note that the numbering should 

remain as set out below, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual paragraphs in which case the sub-

paragraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted. Italics denote guidance for completing the 

Final Terms.] 

 

The form of Final Terms that will be issued in respect of each Tranche, subject only to the deletion of non-applicable 

provisions, is set out below: 

1  (i) Series Number: [●] 

 (ii) Tranche Number: [●] 

 (iii) Date on which the Notes become fungible: [The Notes shall be consolidated, form a single 

series and be interchangeable for trading 

purposes with the [insert description of the 

Series] on [insert date]/[the Issue 

Date]/[exchange of the Temporary Global Note 

for interests in the Permanent Global Note, as 

referred to in paragraph 21 below which is 

expected to occur on or about [insert 

date]].]/[Not Applicable] 

2  Specified Currency or Currencies: [●] 

3  Aggregate Nominal Amount of Notes: [●] 

 [(i)] Series: [●] 

 [(ii) Tranche: [●]] 

4  Issue Price: [●] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount 

[plus accrued interest from [insert date] (if 

applicable)] 

5  (i) Specified Denominations: [●]/[€100,000 and integral multiples of €1,000 in 

excess thereof up to and including €199,000. No 

notes in definitive form will be issued with a 

denomination above €199,000] 

 (ii) Calculation Amount: [●] 

6  (i) Issue Date: [●] 

 (ii) Interest Commencement Date: [Specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable] 

7  Maturity Date: [Specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes) 

Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to the 

relevant month and year] 

8  Interest Basis: [[●] per cent. Fixed Rate] 

[[LIBOR/EURIBOR/STIBOR/NIBOR] +/– [●] 

per cent. Floating Rate] 
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[Zero Coupon] 

(further particulars specified below) 

(See paragraph [13/14/15] below) 

9  Redemption/Payment Basis: Subject to any purchase and cancellation or 

early redemption, the Notes will be redeemed on 

the Maturity Date at [100] per cent. of the 

nominal amount 

[This figure cannot be below 100 per cent.] 

10  Change of Interest Basis: [Specify the date when any fixed to floating rate 

change occurs or refer to paragraphs 13 and 14 

below and identify there]/[Not Applicable] 

11  Put/Call Options: [Investor Put]  

[Issuer Call] 

[Change of Control Put Option] 

[(further particulars specified below)] 

12  [(i)] [Date [Board] approval for issuance of Notes 

[and Guarantee] obtained: 

[●] [and [●], respectively]] 

(N.B Only relevant where Board (or similar) 

authorisation is required for the particular 

tranche of Notes or related Guarantee)] 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE 

13  Fixed Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-

paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 (i) Rate[(s)] of Interest: [●] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each 

Interest Payment Date 

 (ii) Interest Payment Date(s): [●] in each year  

 (iii) Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]: [●] per Calculation Amount 

 (iv) Broken Amount(s): [●] per Calculation Amount payable on the 

Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [●] 

 (v) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/Actual / Actual/Actual – ISDA] 

[Actual/365 (Fixed)] 

[Actual/365 (Sterling)] 

[Actual/360]  

[30/360 / 360/360 / Bond Basis] 

[30E/360/Eurobond Basis] 

[30E/360 (ISDA)][Actual/Actual-ICMA] 

 (vi) [Determination Dates: [●] in each year (insert regular interest payment 

dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the 

case of a long or short first or last coupon. N.B. 

only relevant where Day Count Fraction is 

Actual/Actual (ICMA))] 

14  Floating Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, 

delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this 

paragraph) 



 

99 

 

 (i) Interest Period(s):  [[●][, subject to adjustment in accordance with 

the Business Day Convention set out in (iv) 

below/, not subject to any adjustment[, as the 

Business Day Convention in (v) below is 

specified to be Not Applicable]]] 

 (ii) Specified Interest Payment Dates: [[●] in each year[, subject to adjustment in 

accordance with the Business Day Convention 

set out in (iv) below/, not subject to any 

adjustment[, as the Business Day Convention in 

(v) below is specified to be Not Applicable]] 

 (iii) First Interest Payment Date: [●] 

 (iv) Interest Period Date: [Not Applicable]/ [[●] in each year[, subject to 

adjustment in accordance with the Business Day 

Convention set out in (v) below/, not subject to 

any adjustment[, as the Business Day Convention 

in (v) below is specified to be Not Applicable]] 

 (v) Business Day Convention: [Floating Rate Business Day 

Convention/Following Business Day 

Convention/ Modified Following Business Day 

Convention/Preceding Business Day 

Convention]/[Not Applicable] 

 (vi) Business Centre(s): [●] 

 (vii) Manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are 

 to be determined: 

[Screen Rate Determination/ ISDA 

Determination] 

 (viii) Party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of 

 Interest and/or Interest Amount(s) (if not the 

 Calculation Agent): 

[●] 

 (ix) Screen Rate Determination:  

  – Reference Rate: [LIBOR/EURIBOR/STIBOR/NIBOR] 

  – Interest Determination Date(s): [●] 

  – Relevant Screen Page: [●] 

 (x) ISDA Determination:  

  – Floating Rate Option: [●] 

  – Designated Maturity: [●] 

  – Reset Date: [●] 

 (xi) [Linear Interpolation: Not Applicable/Applicable – the Rate of Interest 

for the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period 

shall be calculated using Linear Interpolation 

(specify for each short or long interest period)] 

 (xii) Margin(s): [+/-][●] per cent. per annum 

 (xiii) Minimum Rate of Interest: [●] per cent. per annum 

 (xiv) Maximum Rate of Interest: [●] per cent. per annum 

 (xv) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/Actual / Actual/Actual – ISDA] 

[Actual/365 (Fixed)] 
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[Actual/365 (Sterling)] 

[Actual/360]  

[30/360 / 360/360 / Bond Basis] 

[30E/360/Eurobond Basis]  

[30E/360 (ISDA)] 

[Actual/Actual-ICMA] 

   

15  Zero Coupon Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-

paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 (i) Amortisation Yield: [●] per cent. per annum 

 (ii) Day Count Fraction in relation to Early 

Redemption Amounts: 

[Actual/Actual / Actual/Actual – ISDA] 

[Actual/365 (Fixed)] 

[Actual/365 (Sterling)] 

[Actual/360]  

[30/360 / 360/360 / Bond Basis] 

[30E/360/Eurobond Basis]  

[30E/360 (ISDA)] 

[Actual/Actual-ICMA] 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION 

16  Call Option [Applicable/Not Applicable]  

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-

paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 (i) Optional Redemption Date(s): [●] 

 (ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) of each Note: [[●] per Calculation Amount]/[Condition 6(b) 

shall apply] 

 (iii) If redeemable in part:  

  (a) Minimum Redemption Amount: [●] per Calculation Amount 

  (b) Maximum Redemption Amount: [●] per Calculation Amount 

 (iv) Notice period [●] days 

17  Put Option [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, 

delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this 

paragraph) 

 (i) Optional Redemption Date(s): [●] 

 (ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) of each Note: [[●] per Calculation Amount]/[Condition 6(b) 

shall apply] 

 (iii) Notice period [●] days 

18  Change of Control Put Option [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, 

delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this 

paragraph) 

 (i) Redemption Amount(s) of each Note: [●] per Calculation Amount 
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19  Final Redemption Amount of each Note  

 

[●]/[Par] per Calculation Amount 

20  Early Redemption Amount 

Early Redemption Amount(s) per Calculation Amount 

payable on redemption for taxation reasons or on event 

of default or other early redemption: 

 

[●]/[Par] per Calculation Amount 

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES 

21  Form of Notes: Bearer Notes: 

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a 

Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable 

for Definitive Notes in the limited circumstances 

specified in the Permanent Global Note] 

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for 

Definitive Notes on [●] days’ notice]  

 [Permanent Global Note exchangeable for 

Definitive Notes in the limited circumstances 

specified in the Permanent Global Note] 

Registered Notes: 

[Global Certificate registered in the name of a 

nominee for [a common depositary for Euroclear 

and Clearstream, Luxembourg/a common 

safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, 

Luxembourg]] 

22  [New Global Note]/[Note held under the New 

Safekeeping Structure]: 

[Yes] [No] 

23  Financial Centre(s): [Not Applicable/give details. Note that this 

paragraph relates to the date of payment, and not 

the end dates of interest periods for the purposes 

of calculating the amount of interest, to which 

sub-paragraph 14(iv) relates] 

24  Talons for future Coupons to be attached to Definitive 

Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature): 

[No/Yes. As the Notes have more than 27 coupon 

payments, talons may be required if, on exchange 

into definitive form, more than 27 coupon 

payments are still to be made.]  

25  Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors:  [Applicable/Not Applicable]3 

                                                           
3 A KID may be produced for a particular issue under the programme and the issuer may want to restrict its obligation to update 

the KID to a certain period of time, consider also including the following option: “Not Applicable [from [specify date] until 

[specify date or a formula such as “the Issue Date” or “the date which falls [ ] Business Days thereafter]”, in which case the 

selling restriction and legend wording will also need to be amended to reflect the fact that they will apply outside of the time 

period specified as “Not Applicable” in the final terms.  
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THIRD PARTY INFORMATION 

[(Relevant third party information) has been extracted from (specify source). [Each of the] [The] Issuer [and the 

Guarantor] confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, and is able 

to ascertain from information published by (specify source), no facts have been omitted which would render the 

reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.] / [Not Applicable.] 

 

Signed on behalf of Tele2 AB (publ): 

By:  ...........................................................  

Duly authorised 

Signed on behalf of Tele2 Sverige AB: 

By:  ...........................................................  

Duly authorised 
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PART B – OTHER INFORMATION 

 

1  LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING  

 (i) Listing and admission to trading: [Application has been made by the Issuer (or on 

its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to the 

official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange 

and to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg 

Stock Exchange’s regulated market with effect 

from [●].] [Application is expected to be made by 

the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be 

admitted to [specify listing venue] and to be 

admitted to trading on [specify relevant regulated 

market] with effect from [●].] [Not Applicable.] 

(Where documenting a fungible issue need to 

indicate that original Notes are already admitted 

to trading.) 

 (ii) Estimate of total expenses related to 

 admission to trading: 

[●] 

2  RATINGS  

 Ratings: [[The Notes to be issued [have been/are expected 

to be] rated]/[The Notes are not expected to be 

rated]/[The following ratings reflect ratings 

assigned to Notes of this type issued under the 

Programme generally]]:  

[S & P: [●]] 

[Moody’s: [●]]      

[[Fitch: [●]] 

[[Other]: [●]] 

(The above disclosure should reflect the rating 

allocated to Notes of the type being issued under 

the Programme generally or, where the issue has 

been specifically rated, that rating.)  

[Need to include a brief explanation of the 

meaning of the ratings if this has previously been 

published by the rating provider.] 

Insert one (or more) of the following options, as 

applicable: 

Option 1: CRA is (i) established in the EU and 

(ii) registered under the CRA Regulation: 

[Insert legal name of particular credit rating 

agency entity providing rating] is established in 

the EU and registered under Regulation (EC) No 

1060/2009 (the “CRA Regulation”). 

Option 2: CRA is (i) established in the EU, (ii) 

not registered under the CRA Regulation; but 

(iii) has applied for registration: 
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[Insert legal name of particular credit rating 

agency entity providing rating] is established in 

the EU and has applied for registration under 

Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 (the “CRA 

Regulation”), although notification of the 

registration decision has not yet been provided. 

Option 3: CRA is (i) established in the EU; and 

(ii) has not applied for registration is not 

registered under the CRA Regulation: 

[Insert legal name of particular credit rating 

agency entity providing rating] is established in 

the EU and is neither registered nor has it applied 

for registration under Regulation (EC) No 1060/ 

2009 (the “CRA Regulation”). 

Option 4: CRA is not established in the EU but 

the relevant rating is endorsed by a CRA 

which is established and registered under the 

CRA Regulation: 

[Insert legal name of particular credit rating 

agency entity providing rating] is not established 

in the EU but the rating it has given to the Notes 

is endorsed by [insert legal name of credit rating 

agency], which is established in the EU and 

registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 

(the “CRA Regulation”). 

Option 5: CRA is not established in the EU 

and the relevant rating is not endorsed under 

the CRA Regulation, but the CRA is certified 

under the CRA Regulation: 

[Insert legal name of particular credit rating 

agency entity providing rating] is not established 

in the EU but is certified under Regulation (EC) 

No 1060/2009 (the “CRA Regulation”). 

Option 6: CRA is neither established in the EU 

nor certified under the CRA Regulation and 

the relevant rating is not endorsed under the 

CRA Regulation: 

[Insert legal name of particular credit rating 

agency entity providing rating] is not established 

in the EU and is not certified under Regulation 

(EC) No 1060/2009 (the “CRA Regulation”) 

and the rating it has given to the Notes is not 

endorsed by a credit rating agency established in 

the EU and registered under the CRA Regulation. 

3  [INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE/OFFER] 

 (Need to include a description of any interest, including conflicting ones, that is material to the issue/offer, 

detailing the persons involved and the nature of the interest. May be satisfied by the inclusion of the 

following statement:) 
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 [Save for any fees payable to the [Managers/Dealers], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in 

the offer of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. The [Managers/Dealers] and their affiliates have 

engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions 

with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer and the Guarantor and their affiliates in the ordinary 

course of business. (Amend as appropriate if there are other interests)]/[Not Applicable] 

 [(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters described 

constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Prospectus 

under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)] 

4  Fixed Rate Notes only – YIELD  

 Indication of yield: [●]/[Not Applicable] 

5  OPERATIONAL INFORMATION  

 ISIN: [●] 

 Common Code: 

FISN: 

CFI Code: 

[●] 

[[●]/Not Applicable] 

[[●]/Not Applicable] 

(If the CFI and/or FISN is not required, requested 

or available, it/they should be specified to be 

“Not Applicable”) 

 Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear Bank 

SA/NV and Clearstream Banking, S.A. and the 

relevant identification number(s): 

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)] 

 

 Delivery: Delivery [against/free of] payment 

 Names and addresses of additional Paying Agent(s) (if 

any):  

[●]/[Not Applicable] 

 Intended to be held in a manner which would allow 

Eurosystem eligibility: 

[Yes. Note that the designation “yes” simply 

means that the Notes are intended upon issue to 

be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common 

safekeeper [(and registered in the name of a 

nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as common 

safekeeper)] [include this text for registered 

notes] and does not necessarily mean that the 

Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for 

Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day credit 

operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue 

or at any or all times during their life. Such 

recognition will depend upon the ECB being 

satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have 

been met.]/ [No. Whilst the designation is 

specified as “no” at the date of these Final Terms, 

should the Eurosystem eligibility criteria be 

amended in the future such that the Notes are 

capable of meeting them the Notes may then be 

deposited with one of the ICSDs as common 

safekeeper [(and registered in the name of a 
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nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as common 

safekeeper) [include this text for registered 

notes]. Note that this does not necessarily mean 

that the Notes will then be recognised as eligible 

collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and 

intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem at 

any time during their life. Such recognition will 

depend upon the ECB being satisfied that 

Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.]] 

6  DISTRIBUTION  

 (i) Method of distribution: [Syndicated/Non-syndicated] 

 (ii) If syndicated:  

        (A) Names of Managers: [Not Applicable/give names] 

        (B) Stabilising Manager(s) (if any): [Not Applicable/give names] 

 (iii) If non-syndicated, name of Dealer: [Not Applicable/give names] 

 (iv) US Selling Restrictions: [Reg. S Compliance Category 2; TEFRA 

C/TEFRA D/TEFRA not applicable] 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

(1) Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme 

to be admitted to the Official List and to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s 

regulated market. 

(2) Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has obtained all necessary external consents, approvals and 

authorisations in the Kingdom of Sweden (if any) in connection with the issue and performance of the 

Notes and (in the case of the Guarantor) the giving of the Guarantee. The establishment of the 

Programme was authorised by the Board of Directors of the Issuer and passed on 6 February 2012 and 

the giving of the Guarantee by the Guarantor was authorised by the Board of Directors of the Guarantor 

and passed on 10 April 2012. The update of the Programme was authorised by a resolution of the Board 

of Directors of the Issuer passed on 10 October 2018 and by a resolution of the Board of Directors of 

the Guarantor passed on 10 October 2018.  

(3) There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer, the Guarantor or of the Group 

since 31 December 2017. 

(4) There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer since 30 September 

2018, or of the Guarantor or the Group since 31 December 2017.  

(5) Save as disclosed in the section entitled “The Group is involved in legal proceedings that may disrupt 

its operations and its reporting of financial results” on page 12 of this Base Prospectus and the section 

entitled “Legal Proceedings” on page 73 of this Base Prospectus, none of the Issuer, the Guarantor or 

any other member of the Group is nor has it been involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration 

proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer or 

Guarantor is aware) during the 12 months preceding the date of this Prospectus which may have or has 

had in the recent past significant effects on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer, the 

Guarantor or the Group. 

(6) Each Bearer Note having a maturity of more than one year and any Coupon and Talon with respect to 

such a Bearer Note will bear the following legend: “Any United States person who holds this obligation 

will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided 

in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code”. 

(7) Notes have been accepted for clearance through the Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg systems 

(which are the entities in charge of keeping the records for Notes). The Common Code, the International 

Securities Identification Number (ISIN) and (where applicable) the identification number for any other 

relevant clearing system for each Series of such Notes will be set out in the relevant Final Terms. 

The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of 

Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg. The address of any 

alternative clearing system will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

(8) The issue price and the amount of the relevant Notes will be determined, before filing of the relevant 

Final Terms of each Tranche, based on the prevailing market conditions. 

(9) For so long as Notes may be issued pursuant to this Prospectus, the following documents will be 

available, during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted), for 

inspection at the registered office of the Issuer and the specified offices of each of the relevant Agents: 

(i) the Agency Agreement (which includes the form of the Global Notes, the definitive Bearer Notes, 

the Certificates, the Coupons and the Talons); 

(ii) the Deed of Covenant; 
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(iii) the Deed of Guarantee; 

(iv) the constitutional documents of the Issuer and the Guarantor; 

(v) the published annual report and audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the 

financial years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017, respectively; 

(vi) the published annual report and audited non-consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor 

for the financial years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017, respectively; 

(vii) the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the nine months ended 

30 September 2018; 

(viii) each Final Terms (save that Final Terms relating to a Note which is neither admitted to trading 

on a regulated market within the European Economic Area nor offered in the European Economic 

Area in circumstances where a prospectus is required to be published under the Prospectus 

Directive will only be available for inspection by a holder of such Note and such holder must 

produce evidence satisfactory to the Issuer and the Agent as to its holding of Notes and identity); 

(ix) a copy of this Prospectus together with any Supplement to this Prospectus or further Prospectus; 

and 

(x) all reports, letters and other documents, balance sheets, valuations and statements by any expert 

any part of which is extracted or referred to in this Prospectus. 

This Prospectus, the Final Terms for Notes that are listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on 

the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market will be published on the website of the 

Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). 

(10) There are no material contracts entered into other than in the ordinary course of the Issuer’s or 

Guarantor’s business, which could result in any member of the Group being under an obligation or 

entitlement that is material to the Issuer’s or Guarantor’s ability to meet its obligations to Noteholders 

in respect of the Notes being issued. 

(11) Copies of the latest annual consolidated financial statements and the latest interim consolidated accounts 

of the Issuer and the latest annual non-consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor may be 

obtained, and copies of the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and the Deed of Guarantee will 

be available for inspection, at the specified offices of each of the Paying Agents during normal business 

hours, so long as any of the Notes is outstanding.  

(12) Deloitte AB of Rehnsgatan 11, SE-113-79 Stockholm have audited, and rendered unqualified audit 

reports on, the (restated) consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the financial years ended 31 

December 2016 and 31 December 2017, respectively, as set out in the Issuer’s Merger Document, the 

Pro Forma Financial Information of the Issuer as set out in the Issuer’s Merger Document  and the non-

consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor for the financial years ended 31 December 2016 and 

31 December 2017, respectively. Deloitte AB is regulated by the Swedish Inspectorate of Auditors 

(Revisorsinspektionen). 

(13) The yield for any particular Series of Fixed Rate Notes will be specified in the relevant Final Terms and 

will be calculated on the basis of the compound annual rate of return if the relevant Notes were to be 

purchased at the Issue Price on the Issue Date and held to maturity. The yield specified in the relevant 

Final Terms in respect of a Series of Fixed Rate Notes will not be indication of future yield. 

(14) Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment 

and/or commercial banking transactions with, and perform services for, or provided financing to, the 

Issuer, the Guarantor and/or their respective affiliates in the ordinary course of business. Certain of the 

Dealers and their affiliates may have positions, deal or make markets in the Notes issued under the 
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Programme, related derivatives and reference obligations, including (but not limited to) entering into 

hedging strategies on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or their respective affiliates, investor clients, 

or as principal in order to manage their exposure, their general market risk, or other trading activities. In 

addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Dealers and their affiliates may make or 

hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative 

securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and/or for the accounts 

of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments 

of each of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or their respective affiliates. Certain of the Dealers or 

their affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer or the Guarantor routinely hedge their 

credit exposure to the Issuer or the Guarantor consistent with their customary risk management policies. 

Typically, such Dealers and their affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions 

which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in securities, 

including potentially the Notes issued under the Programme. Any such positions could adversely affect 

future trading prices of Notes issued under the Programme. The Dealers and their affiliates may also 

make investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of 

such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long 

and/or short positions in such securities and instruments. For the purpose of this paragraph, the term 

‘affiliates’ includes parent companies. 
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Registered Office of the Issuer Registered Office of the Guarantor  

Tele2 AB (publ)  

P.O. Box 2094 

SE-10313 Stockholm  

Tele2 Sverige AB 

P.O. Box 62 

 SE-164 94 Kista  

 

 

Dealers  

 

 

Banca IMI S.p.A. 

Largo Mattioli, 3  

20121 Milan  

Italy 

Citigroup Global Markets Limited  

Canada Square  

Canary Wharf 

London E14 5LB 

 

Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft 

Kaiserstraße 16 (Kaiserplatz)  

60311 Frankfurt am Main 

Federal Republic of Germany 

Crédit Agricole Corporate and 

Investment Bank  

12, Place des Etats-Unis 

CS 70052 

92547 Montrouge Cedex  

France 

 

Danske Bank A/S 

Holmens Kanal 2-12 

DK-1092 Copenhagen K  

Denmark  

DNB Bank ASA  

Dronning Eufemias gt 30 

N-0021 Oslo 

Kingdom of Norway  

 

ING Bank N.V. 

Foppingadreef 7 

1102 BD Amsterdam 

The Netherlands 

Nordea Bank Abp 

Strandgade 3 

DK-1401 Copenhagen K 

Denmark  

 

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) 

Kungsträdgårdsgatan 8 

SE-106 40 Stockholm 

Sweden  

 

Svenska Handelsbanken AB (publ) 

Blasieholmstorg 11 

SE-106 70 Stockholm 

Sweden  

 

Swedbank AB (publ) 

SE-105 34  

Stockholm  

Sweden 

 

  

Fiscal Agent, Paying Agent, Registrar, Transfer Agent and Calculation Agent  

BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch 

60 avenue J.F. Kennedy 

L-1855 Luxembourg 
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Luxembourg Listing Agent  

BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch 

60 avenue J.F. Kennedy 

L-1855 Luxembourg  

 

 

Auditors of the Issuer and the Guarantor  

Deloitte AB 

Rehnsgatan 11 

SE-113-79 Stockholm 

 Sweden 

 

 

Legal Advisers 

to the Issuer and the Guarantor 

 

Advokatfirman Vinge KB 

Smålandsgatan 20 

SE-111 87 Stockholm 

 

Legal Advisers to the Dealers 

as to English law as to Swedish law  

Linklaters LLP 

One Silk Street 

London EC2Y 8HQ 

England 

Linklaters LLP 

 Regeringsgatan 67 

P.O Box 7833 

SE-103 98 Stockholm 

 

 


